
Health and Wellbeing Board 
Dear Member,

You are invited to attend the meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board to be held as 
follows for the transaction of the business indicated.
Miranda Carruthers-Watt 
Proper Officer

DATE: Tuesday, 12 February 2019

TIME: 2.00 pm

VENUE: Salford Suite, Salford Civic Centre, Chorley Road, Swinton

In accordance with ‘The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 
2014,’ the press and public have the right to film, video, photograph or record 
this meeting. 

AGENDA

2.00 PM 

1  People's Story (Chair) 

A perspective on an aspect of health and wellbeing linked to agenda 
item 8

Salford Wetland - A Film by Luke Blazejewski

2.10 PM 

2  Questions from Members of the Public (Chair) 

3  Introductions and Apologies (Chair) 

4  Declarations of Interest (Chair) 

5  Minutes of meeting held on 13 November 2018 (Chair) (Pages 1 - 10)

6  Action Log and Matters Arising (Chair) (Pages 11 - 12)

2.20 PM 

7  Locality Plan Q3 2018/19 - Progress Update (Anthony Hassall) (Pages 13 - 54)

2.40 PM 

8  December 2018 Healthy City Development Session - Summary 
and Next Steps (Gunjit Bandesha) 

(Pages 55 - 60)

Public Document Pack

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=wC-yjQemBmU


3.10 PM 

9  Salford Tobacco Update - Beyond Smoking Cessation (Gunjit 
Bandesha/Robert Greene/Rebecca Fletcher) 

(Pages 61 - 64)

3.40 PM 

10  Salford Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Review 2017/18 
(Chair) 

(Pages 65 - 90)

3.45 PM 

11  Carers Charter/Model Salford (Lynne Stafford) (verbal) 

3.55 PM 

12  Any other business (Chair) 

13  Update Papers (Provided for Information and Assurance 
Purposes Only) (Chair) 

13a Salford Health and Wellbeing Board Forward Plan 2018/19 and 
2019/20 

(Pages 91 - 94)

13b Salford's Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2018/19 Update (Pages 95 - 96)

13c Salford Children's Safeguarding Boards Annual Report 2017/18 (Pages 97 - 138)

14  Date of Time of Next Meeting - Tuesday, 14 May 2019, 2.00 pm to 
4.00 pm, Salford Suite, Salford Civic Centre, Swinton, Salford 

Also note:

 Green Assets, Physical Activity and Wellbeing 
Development Session 
Tuesday 12 March 2019, 2.00 to 4.00 pm, Salford Suite, 
Salford Civic Centre, Swinton, Salford.

The next meetings of the Board have been scheduled as follows:

 Tuesday 10 September 2019, 2.00 pm - 4.00 pm.
 Tuesday 12 November 2019, 2.00 pm - 4.00 pm.
 Tuesday 11 February 2020, 2.00 pm - 4.00 pm.

All meetings are held in the Salford Suite at Salford City Council, 
Salford Civic Centre, Chorley Road, Swinton, M27 5AW 
(unless otherwise stated).



Contact Officer: Tel No: 0161 793 3011
Mike McHugh, Senior Democratic Services 
Advisior

E-Mail: mike.mchugh@salford.gov.uk



This page is intentionally left blank



1 | P a g e

SALFORD HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

13 November 2018

Meeting commenced: 2.00 p.m.
“                 ended: 4.06 p.m.

PRESENT: Councillor Tom Tasker – in the Chair

Members:

Anthony Hassall Salford CCG
Alison Page Salford CVS
Councillor Gina Reynolds LA Representative
Gunjit Bandesha Joint Interim Director of Public Health
Gillian Mclauchlan Joint Interim Director of Public Health
Delana Lawson Healthwatch Salford
Chris Dabbs Manchester Chamber of Commerce
Councillor Rob Sharpe LA Representative
Lee Sugden Salford Strategic Housing Partnership
Margaret Rowe University of Salford

Invitees:

Clare Mayo Salford CCG
Debbie Blackburn Assistant Director Public Health Nursing and Wellbeing
Janice Lowndes Assistant Director People & Communities
Dr Stephen Pugh Salford Adult Safeguarding Board

Officers:

Chris Howl Policy and Equality Officer
Mike McHugh Senior Democratic Services Advisor

ITEM ACTION BY
1. INTRODUCTION AND APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Tom Tasker welcomed those present to the meeting of the Salford 
Health and Wellbeing Board.

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors Paula 
Boshell, John Merry, CBE, and Chris Dabbs, James Sumner, Charlotte 
Ramsden and Gill Green.

-

Page 1

Agenda Item 5



Salford Health and Wellbeing Board

13 November 2018

2 | P a g e

ITEM ACTION BY
2. QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 

Sean Dempsey presented a question seeking assurance relating to the 
provision of mental health service support to those in the community with 
Learning Disabilities.

Tom Tasker provided a brief response and indicated that a full response 
to the question would be formally provided in writing.

-

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were no declarations of interest. -

4. MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

The minutes of the meeting held on 26 June 2018 were approved as a 
correct record.

-

5. MATTERS ARISING - REVIEW OF ACTION LOG

An update was provided in respect of issues contained within the Action 
Log.

-

6. LOCALITY PLAN - PROGRESS UPDATE

Anthony Hassall gave a presentation providing an update in respect of 
this item which was based upon information regarding performance 
across the programme, ensuring alignment and challenge across the
system. He provided key highlights for the period: Quarter 2 2018 /19, 
as follows -

(a) PREVENTION

Population Health: Population Health priorities and city wide 
development sessions planned for December and March to deliver a 
whole systems approach to tackling obesity. Smoking quit rates are 
increasing following the e-cigarette pilot programme, ongoing 
communications campaign. A Lung health check business case has 
been approved to identify lung health issues earlier. Reception and year 
6 child weight management programme ahead of target > 95% (National 
target 85%).

Review of sexual health services completed. Proposals being developed 
to redesign the sexual health system - using neighbourhood model.

Through the population health transformation funding, a neighbourhood 
approach to social prescribing is being developed led by CVS through 

Page 2



Salford Health and Wellbeing Board

13 November 2018

3 | P a g e

ITEM ACTION BY
the wellbeing being matters programmes. Recruitment taken place for 5 
community anchor organisations and community connectors. Currently 
aligning existing community services.

GM Drug and Alcohol strategy and implementation has not been 
finalised. Salford baseline review completed on the 6 priority areas in 
the draft strategy, highlighting recommendations and areas to join up. 
Next steps is prioritisation from long list of recommendations.

Best Start in Life: Children’s community nursing specification reviewed 
and implemented. Evaluation of special educational needs and 
disabilities pathfinder complete and informing commissioning. 0-25 
Advisory board delivery and performance framework for all 0-25 
programmes to be in place in December.

Wider determinants of health and wellbeing: Poverty: Seventh food 
bank opened in Swinton further 2 sites planned (Winton and 
Langworthy). ‘Better Off’ coffee and chat sessions held in Gateway 
centres and Broughton Hub providing face to face support to residents 
in financial difficulty. Universal credit training delivered for over 160 front 
line staff and partners to increase awareness of the impact of benefit 
changes.

(b) BETTER CARE

Quality: Care homes excellence workshops have had good levels of 
engagement and CQC ratings have improved; Salford also retains some 
of the lowest delays to hospital discharge for adult social care. Further 
proactive and integrated quality assurance to pick up on early warnings 
continues with developments in primary care, Salford ICO, children’s 
and public health services.

Integrated Care System: Enhanced Care Teams (working with patients 
with long term conditions to keep them well) have mobilised in Swinton, 
Eccles, Irlam and Cadishead. Planning progressing for a new 
Intermediate Care nursing bedded unit. A review of the impact of the 
Adult Services and Financial Plan has been completed for consideration 
through integrated governance groups as part of future planning.

Major Trauma and Healthier Together: Salford Major Trauma site 
business case and build costs revised and moving to expressions of 
interest for build contract with the aim of the contract award in Q4. A 
standard operating procedure for Surgical Ambulatory Care (same day 
urgent care without hospital admission) has been developed by a clinical 
working group – assessments of readiness for sector wide 
standardisation of surgical ambulatory care are in preparation. 
Development of operational arrangements for sector multi-disciplinary 

Page 3



Salford Health and Wellbeing Board

13 November 2018

4 | P a g e

ITEM ACTION BY
team (MDT) for complex colorectal cancers underway and scheduled to 
commence January 2019. Oesophago-gastric (OG) cancer and complex 
benign surgical procedures successfully transferred to Salford Royal on 
1st September along with the new Emergency OG on-call service for 
Greater Manchester and Eastern Cheshire.

Hospital Group – Northern Care Alliance: The Salford Royal / 
Northern Care Alliance strategic case for transacting the acquisition of 
Oldham, Rochdale and Bury sites is in progress and on track for Q1
(2019/20).

Mental Health and Learning Disabilities: A review of the role and 
function of adult mental health residential care is underway including 
engagement with staff and service users. A business case is in 
development to ensure Salford can meet the high demand for early 
intervention in psychosis services. VCSE mental health employment 
service ‘Start in Salford’ has been commissioned and is setting up 
employment pathways with GMMH. Incredible reach obtained from 
Salford's Suicide Prevention campaign which ran from 10.9.18-
10.10.18. Last year's social media campaign reached 57,000 people. 
This year's reached 1.2m people. A suicide prevention video featuring 
someone bereaved from suicide became Salford CCG's most viewed 
social media item ever reaching 50,000 people. Additional male acute 
inpatient capacity commissioned to prevent out of area placements 
(OAPs) outside of GM. This saw September being the first month in over 
two years where there were no male acute OAPs.

(c) ENABLING TRANSFORMATION

Integrated commissioning and enhanced support services: Finance 
and preferred risk share arrangement agreed by political and clinical 
reference group. Further due diligence and legal arrangements are 
being drafted fro final Council and CCG agreement in Q4. Financial and 
legal due diligence now underway. Formal legal instruments being 
drafted.

Information management and technology: Chief digital officer in 
place. Digital NHS and city digital strategy will be introduced at the 
November citizen panel. All partners are now live with GovRoam 
(enabling professionals to access networks on any site). Salford 
Integrated Record – 3 practices are viewing secondary care (hospital) 
data further trialing with 15 practices planned. Mental Health data feed 
will be trialed with Bolton CCG first.

Estates: A utilisation review of the Gateways has completed and will be 
reported to the Strategic estates group in November. Engagement on a 

Page 4



Salford Health and Wellbeing Board

13 November 2018

5 | P a g e

ITEM ACTION BY
new health centre in Lower Broughton has started with all practices. 
Strategic outline case on lrlam and Cadishead is nearing completion. In 
Q3/4 the estates strategy 2018-23 will be refreshed including Ordsall / 
media city expansion and antenatal services will relocate to the Lance 
Burn health centre.

Research and innovation: 2 Academic General Practitioner posts 
appointed and 2 Quality Improvement fellows appointed working with 
AQuA.

Public Engagement: ‘THINK! Why A & E’ student booklet distributed in 
fresher’s week. Tooth decay GM campaign being supported locally with 
parent engagement. Age well Stay Well this winter campaign in delivery 
and the falls campaign is being evaluated.

RESOLVED: THAT the presentation be noted.

7. SALFORD ALL AGE MENTAL HEALTH STRATEGY

Clare Mayo and Debbie Blackburn gave a presentation on the 
development of the Salford All Age Mental Health Strategy.

They provided details in respect of a number of issues, including -

- Health and Wellbeing Board: Mental Health Deep Dive

- Provide a comprehensive picture of all age mental health needs 
/ provision

- Provide an overview of particular pressures in Salford 
and future plans

- Provide an opportunity for the Health and Wellbeing 
Board to comment on the above.

- How Greater Manchester will Deliver Our Share of the National 
Five Year Forward View Ambition by 2020/21

- CYP MENTAL HEALTH

- Targets, Drivers & Aspirations
- Future in Mind (2015)
- Transforming Children and Young People’s Mental 

Health Provision: a Green Paper

- GM Mental Health Strategy
- CVS Research
- GM Timely Access CYP MH Plan

Page 5



Salford Health and Wellbeing Board

13 November 2018

6 | P a g e

ITEM ACTION BY
- CAMHS Waiting Times
- Future Work

- ADULT MENTAL HEALTH

- Service User Case Example
- Targets, Drivers & Aspirations
- Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT)
- Perinatal Mental Health
- Early Intervention in Psychosis
- Adult Mental Health Crisis Services
- Out of Area Placements (OAPs)
- Suicide Prevention
- Employment Support

- ALL AGE MENTAL HEALTH INTEGRATED COMMISSIONING
STRATEGY

- Mental Health Needs Assessment
- Engagement Approaches
- Wider Intentions Under the Strategy
- Transformation

- QUESTIONS FOR THE BOARD

- How can we raise the profile of all of the work underway 
more effectively?

- How can partners contribute to identifying emerging 
needs in communities?

- How can we continue to ensure that the service user 
voice is heard in this work?

Discussion took place in respect of the development of the strategy and 
how each partner organisation would be able to contribute to its success.

RESOLVED: THAT the presentation be noted; and that update reports 
on the strategy be presented at future meetings of this Board.

8. HOUSING, HEALTH AND HOMELESSNESS

Janice Lowndes gave a presentation entitled, 'Health and Home 
Changes Over Time'. She provided details in respect of a number of 
issues, including the following -

- Impact of homes on health and wellbeing

- Homelessness Health and Wellbeing Outcomes

Page 6



Salford Health and Wellbeing Board

13 November 2018

7 | P a g e

ITEM ACTION BY

- Reasons for Homelessness

- Salford Projected Population Growth

- Significant increase in homelessness presentations

- Housing Need and Demand

- Wider Challenges Facing Housing

- Use of Discretionary Funds

- Housing Strategy

RESOLVED: THAT the presentation be noted; and that update reports 
on the strategy be presented at future meetings of this Board.

9. SALFORD SAFEGUARDING ADULT BOARD ANNUAL REPORT

Dr Stephen Pugh presented the Salford Safeguarding Adult Board 
Annual Report.

RESOLVED: THAT the presentation be noted; and that update reports 
on the strategy be presented at future meetings of this Board.

Page 7



Salford Health and Wellbeing Board

13 November 2018

8 | P a g e

ITEM ACTION BY
10. VCSE STRATEGIES AND AGREEMENTS – AN UPDATE

Alison Page gave a presentation on 'VCSE Strategies and Agreements 
– an update' which included details, as follows -

- At the heart of creating a better and fairer Salford - A strategy 
for the voluntary, community and social enterprise (VCSE) 
sector in Salford 2018 - 2023

- Why have a strategy?
- Vision
- Aims
- What’s in the strategy - commitments
- What’s in the strategy – key actions
- Outcomes, If we get this right
- Progression plans
- Health and Social Care Memorandum of Understanding

- What is the MoU?
- What does it include?
- Aims
- Principles
- A key strategic partnership for the VCSE sector
- If we get this right
- Current status
- Next Steps

RESOLVED: THAT the presentation be noted; and that update reports 
on the strategy be presented at future meetings of this Board.

11. CARER'S CHARTER/ MODEL - GM AND SALFORD UPDATE

Alison Page submitted a report relating to the Carer's Charter.

She confirmed that the Greater Manchester Combined Authority & Greater 
Manchester Health & Social Care Partnership Strategic Partnership Board 
signed and adopted the Greater Manchester Commitment to Carers and 
Carers Charter on 19 January 2018.

She noted that each Greater Manchester Locality was required to ratify 
adoption of the Commitment to Carers and Carers Charter. Salford Health and 
Wellbeing Board was being asked to ratify adoption for Salford.

RESOLVED: (1) THAT the commitment of this Board to Carers and the 
Carers Charter be approved.

(2) THAT the commitment of this Board to ensure reflection of 
Greater Manchester Exemplar model in developing the Salford Carers Strategy 
be approved.

Page 8



Salford Health and Wellbeing Board

13 November 2018

9 | P a g e

ITEM ACTION BY
12. ANY OTHER BUSINESS

There were no items of any other business.

13. UPDATE PAPERS

The following papers were submitted for the information of the Board –

- 2018/19 and 2019/20 Salford Health and Well-being Board
Forward Plan

14. DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING

RESOLVED: THAT the next meeting of the Board be held on Tuesday 
12 February 2019 (2.00pm to 4.00pm).

-

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



1

ITEM x
Salford Health and Wellbeing Board

Action Log
Date of meeting 12th February 2019 (Prepared BEFORE meeting)
Contact Officer Gunjit Bandesha, (Joint Interim Director of Public Health) 

gunjit.bandesha@salford.gov.uk

Action Person taking 
lead 
responsibility

Progress update Due date

Pending items (from 13th November 2018 meeting):
A written copy of response to 
Sean Dempsey’s (one of our 
local citizens) question: “What 
support is there for people with 
learning disabilities if they 
experience mental health 
problems?” – outlining support, 
services and referral pathways 
available to those in the 
community with learning 
disabilities be posted out to him.

Dr Tom 
Tasker/ Kerry 
Thornley – 
Linzi Brook

Sean met with Kerry Thornley – 
Linzi Brook (S CCG) and was 
happy with verbal update – no 
written copy required.

December 
2018

Following Board members re-
iterating their commitment and 
support of the real Living Wage 
campaign at the 11th September 
2018 meeting, they 
endeavoured to identify at least 
one Salford-based provider 
within their supply chain that 
would be open and likely to 
become an accredited real 
Living Wage employer.

All members Board members to verbally 
update at 12th February 2019.

February 
2019

Prepare future board 
development session on healthy 
city priorities: Tackling inequality 
including obesity and smoking.

Gunjit 
Bandesha

Board development session on 
healthy city priorities took place 
11th December 2018 2-4pm 
(Salford Suite at Salford City 
Council), focusing upon past 
successes and what was 
required for the Board to remain 
fit for purpose, in the changing 
local and GM landscape.

December 
2018

Page 11

Agenda Item 6

mailto:gunjit.bandesha@salford.gov.uk


2

Action Person taking 
lead 
responsibility

Progress update Due date

Provide more information for 
Board members on the 
opportunity presented by MyCity 
Salford.

Debbie Brown To be incorporated within the 
Board Green Assets, Physical 
Activity and Well-being 
Development Session 
scheduled for: Tuesday 12th 
March 2019 2-4pm (Salford 
Suite at Salford City Council).

March 2019

An implementation plan has 
been developed with a working 
group of partners across Salford 
aligned to the GM strategies.

To be incorporated within the 
Board Green Assets, Physical 
Activity and Well-being 
Development Session 
scheduled for Tuesday 12th 
March 2019, 2-4pm (Salford 
Suite at Salford City Council).

Board members are asked to 
consider if they would prefer an 
alternative venue for the March 
2019 development session?

Gillian 
Mclauchlan/ 
James 
Mcinerney

Board development session on 
Green Assets, Physical Activity 
and Well-being Development is 
scheduled for: Tuesday 12th 
March 2019, 2-4pm (Salford 
Suite at Salford City Council).

March 2019

That update reports on the 
progression of the Salford All 
Age Mental Health Strategy be 
presented at future meetings of 
this Board.

Claire Mayo Update report to be presented to 
board meeting: Tuesday 11th 
February 2010, 2pm – 4pm.

February 
2020

That update reports on Housing, 
Health and Homelessness 
issues be presented at future 
meetings of this Board.

Janice 
Lowndes

Update report to be presented to 
board meeting on: Tuesday 10th 
September 2019, 2pm – 4pm.

September 
2019

That update reports on Salford’s 
Safeguarding Adult Board issues 
be presented at future meetings 
of this Board.

Dr Stephen 
Pugh

Update report to be presented to 
board meeting on: Tuesday 11th 
February 2010, 2pm – 4pm.

May 2019

That update reports on Salford’s 
VCSE Strategies and 
Agreements be presented at 
future meetings of this Board.

Alison Page Update report to be presented to 
board meeting on: Tuesday 11th 
February 2010, 2pm – 4pm.

May 2019

Page 12



Salford Locality Plan 

Highlight Report

Salford Health and Wellbeing Board: 12th February 2019

Progress for the period: Quarter 3 2018 /19

Anthony Hassall

P
age 13

A
genda Item

 7



1. PREVENTION: 
Upgrading population health, 

prevention and self-care

2. BETTER CARE: 
Transforming community based care 

and support and standardising acute 

and specialist care

3. ENABLING TRANSFORMATION: 
Standardising clinical support and back office services 

and enabling better public services

Locality plan governance and delivery programmes:

1.1) Population Health

1.2) Best start in life

1.3) Wider determinants of health and 

wellbeing

2.1) Quality of care

2.2) Integrated Care system

2.3) Transforming and standardising 

acute and specialist hospital care

2.4) Hospital Group – Acute care 

collaboration

2.5) Mental health and  learning 

disabilities

3.1) Integrated place

3.2) Integrated commissioning & streamlining support

3.3) Information management and technology

3.4) Estates

3.5) Workforce

3.6) Co-production and VCSE delivery

3.7)Research and innovation

3.8) Public engagement

Salford Locality Plan Programmes

P
age 14



PREVENTION:  Upgrading population health, prevention and self-care

Key Highlights

Population Health: 

• National pioneer for smoking cessation ‘Swap to Stop’ - intervention targeted smokers from areas of 

high health inequality in the City, with a focus on social housing tenants who are known to be twice 

as likely to smoke as the general population. 1022 smokers accessed the intervention over 10 weeks 

between January and March 2018, and the team were able to follow up 600 of these for a 4 week 

follow up. 57% of these smokers were ‘heavy smokers’, smoking 20 plus cigarettes per day. A four 

week quit is the standard measure for monitoring stop smoking services and this was applied to this 

intervention. Of those who were followed up at 4 weeks:

• 62% had quit smoking. This compares with a rate of anything from 10% to 35% for traditional 

stop smoking support.

• 37% of participants had maintained use of their e cig.

• 20% were using both an e cig and smoking.

• The joint communications plan between Salford Clinical commissioning Group (CCG) and Public 

Health includes a major campaign to improve prevention of cancer for people on a low income  -

STOPTOBER.  Outcomes from the campaign include; 155 social media posts with 981,000 views on 

social media – 857 diverted to Stop Smoking site. A local case study showed that 1 person quit 

smoking after 33 years; the story was shared on Facebook and gained 531 likes. 

P
age 15



Best Start in Life: 

• Maternity pioneer programme - achieving full roll out of Personal maternity Care Budgets (PMCBs) across 

the Pioneer and exceeding the national trajectory at Quarter 3.

• Children’s services equipment review complete, paper progressing through governance to confirm 

recommendations.

• First iteration of 0-25 performance framework now agreed and being reported to 0-25 advisory board 

from Feb 2019.

Wider determinants of health and wellbeing:  

• Maximus HealthWorks have been commissioned to deliver the GM Working Well (Early Help) 

programme. The service will support in the region of 1,260 residents in Salford, who are at risk of falling 

out of the labour market because of ill health or are newly unemployed because of a health issue, over a 

three year period. 

• Tackling Poverty action plan continues to be delivered via the Anti-Poverty Operational Group and key 

partners. Key highlights in quarter 3 include: 

• ongoing support for people negatively affected by transferring onto Universal Credit

• work to tackle holiday hunger with the voluntary sector, and ;

• supporting the development of a second Poverty Truth Commission. 

Key risks / issues

• Risk: Not all maternity providers will engage with the In-reach model. Mitigation: strengthen

Commissioning/contractual processes.

• Risk: Children’s Services equipment investment needs do not accurately reflect need due to incomplete

baseline data; service development is not integrated with planned system wide equipment review.

Mitigation: 12 month pilot is proposed to take both risks into account

PREVENTION:  Upgrading population health, prevention and self-care

Key Highlights

P
age 16



Quality:

• Integrated Care Organisation - mapping of information and quality assurance visits underway.

• General practice – Quality Assurance dashboard in place and informing visits. Public version

created. Focus on coordinating all CCG visits and prediction of Care Quality Commission (CQC)

inspection / issues.

• Integrated quality assurance for Children’s and public health - First workshop held in July with

quick wins agreed. Follow up workshop held in September, integrated quality dashboard in

development.

• Two system-wide safety leadership sessions have been held to date. Focus has been on

mortality reviews and sepsis. Small tests of change agreed.

Integrated Care System:

• Initial city wide Neighbourhood leadership forum took place in Quarter 3.

• Schedule and process under development for Integrated commissioning Advisory Board (ICAB)

to receive evaluations from transformation projects testing new models of care in 2019

alongside related commissioned services.

• Care navigation project initiated by Salford Primary Care Together.

• Salford Wide Extended Access Pilot (SWEAP) interim evaluation report received.

• Business case for revised Salford Standard for 2019/20 progressing through CCG's Governance.

• Scoping of options for expansion of Personal Health Budgets in progress, to complete in Quarter

4.

Key Highlights

BETTER CARE: Transforming community based care and support and standardising 

acute and specialist care

P
age 17



Key Highlights

BETTER CARE: Transforming community based care and support and standardising 

acute and specialist care

Major Trauma and Healthier Together (HT):

• HT- Workforce – Draft consultant rota options presented to North West Sector (NWS) Clinical and 

Operational Leads meeting on 7th December.  Agreed the principles that will underpin rota 

development for the single sector General Surgery service. 

• Engagement – There has been some face to face engagement with GPs which highlighted the 

need for further engagement and communication of plans within the acute sector. 

• Information Management & Technology (IM&T) – Proof of concept for the sharing of electronic 

data across 3 acute sites is under development with an implementation schedule planned for 

June 2019.

• Development of a general surgery clinical dashboard is underway.

• Clinical Pathways  -The focus of the clinicians in the Surgical Ambulatory Care Unit project group 

has now turned towards planning standardised clinical pathways with each of the acute trusts 

taking one of the 4 key pathways identified by Greater Manchester (GM). This will leave non-

specific abdominal pain for group discussion.

• Phase 1 of the Sector Multi-Disciplinary Team live from 9th January.

• Standardised model of surgical ambulatory care  - Standard Operating Procedure (SOP) has been 

agreed and ratified. 

• Oesophageal and gastric (OG) - Endotherapy transfer is expected to be Quarter 4.    An up-dated 

timeline for the transfer is currently being compiled.

P
age 18



Key Highlights

BETTER CARE: Transforming community based care and support and standardising 

acute and specialist care

Hospital Group – Northern Care Alliance:

• The Salford Royal / Northern Care Alliance strategic case for transacting the acquisition of

Oldham, Rochdale and Bury sites is in progress and on track for Quarter 1 (2019/20). The

Strategic Case is due to be submitted to NHSI in Feb 2019. Development of the Business Case

will begin following strategic case submission.

Mental Health and Learning Disabilities:

• Mental health commissioning strategy is now approved by Cabinet and is scheduled to seek 

approval from CCG Governing body on the 30/01/19. 

• Living Well Salford (learning from the Lambeth model) progressing well with monthly established 

Collaboratives and Design Group. Planning sessions have informed the approach and the vision is 

aligned with the vision held within the Mental Health Commissioning Strategy. 

• ADHD business case developed and to be presented to SFG early Feb.  ASC business case still to 

be progressed. 

• Maryfield Court (located in Manchester) commissioned to provide additional  male acute 

inpateint capacity and prevent out of area placements (OAPs) outside of GM. September was the 

first month in over two years where there were no male acute OAPs.

P
age 19



Key Highlights

BETTER CARE: Transforming community based care and support and standardising 

acute and specialist care

Key Risks

• Significant challenges re Increased Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT)  waiting 

times.  Greater Manchester Mental Health (GMMH) have identified £600k  they will 

allocate ( in addition to CCG business case investment) and have agreed a  trajectory 

with commissioners to reduce the waiting list. 

• Opportunity for better engagement with Mental Health partners on quality 

assurance. Mitigation:  Information shared and senior leaders encouraged to attend.

P
age 20



ENABLING TRANSFORMATION: Standardising clinical support and back office services 

and enabling better public services

Key Highlights 

Integrated commissioning and enhanced support services:

• Review of collocation options is underway, and additional capacity secured.  Shadow 

arrangements commenced in Jan 2019.

• Functional workshops underway to explore joint ways of working.  Joint plans being developed 

for critical investment areas.  Organisational Development planned for elected members and 

clinical leads. 

Information management and technology: 

• GMMH engaged with information governance work and data sharing agreements include GMMH. 

Note that this project needs to have an adults and children's dimension. 

• Sharing events - Salford Royal hosted a demonstration day for colleagues as part of the GM 

Informatics Engagement event in August. Further events held in December regarding risk 

stratification. 

Estates:

• Ordsall/MediaCity business case will be informed by the completion of the Locality Asset Review 

as to available sites in the neighbourhood, and outcome of the evaluation of the Quays pilot.  

Refurbishment of Lance Burn underway and due for completion April 2019.

Public Engagement: 

• ‘THINK! Why A & E’ student booklet distributed in fresher’s week.  Age well – vascular dementia 

prevention ccampaign is being planned for delivery in spring.

P
age 21



ENABLING TRANSFORMATION: Standardising clinical support and back office services 

and enabling better public services

Key Highlights

Workforce:

• Primary Care Workforce Strategy and action plan reviewed. Taken to Governing Body and 

recommendation to refresh the strategy and programme plan approved. Ongoing priorities for year 2 of 

current strategy to be reflected in new programme plan for 2019/20 onwards. 

Enabling Voluntary Community Social Enterprise (VCSE) delivery:

• Further work undertaken to develop a VCSE Investment Strategy for Salford, with the draft and its key 

commitments currently under discussion with key partners . The aim is to have this agreed and in place 

for April 2019. 

• Memorandum of Understanding (2 page summary) between the VCSE sector and the partners of 

Salford Together has now been signed by all partners.

Risks / issues and mitigation (where provided)

• Integrated Commissioning risk areas include, finance, statutory requirements, governance, capacity and 

others. Mitigation is via the reference group.

• Estates Issue: Very little public sector land ownership in Salford Quays identified in the Locality Asset 

Review, with the exception of Fit City premises.

• Risk – VCSE Collaboration Task Force work is dependent both on the nature and scope of the ongoing 

review of Salford City  Council and CCG commissioning arrangements and early strategic engagement 

and involvement of Salford Community Voluntary Sector (CVS) and VOCAL VCSE reps.

P
age 22



Appendix A: Detailed Highlight 

Reports by Programme
(as at Quarter 3 For queries contact: Emma Reid e.reid1@nhs.net ) 

P
age 23



Appendix A: Quarter 3 Locality Milestone Plan 

Report:

Microsoft Excel 

Worksheet

P
age 24



Prevention: 2018-19 Milestones
1.1  Population Health SRO: Gunjit Bandesha, Gillian Mclauchlan

Governance: Integrated Care Advisory Board (ICAB)
PM: Rob Green, Ian Pattison

Milestones RAG Highlights and progress Risk / Issues and mitigation
Q1-4 Review and redesign approach to health checks

Finalise healthy city priorities - smoking cessation and
obesity and city wide delivery plans with partners 

Ongoing on
track

The CCG and Public Health have developed a joint communications plan focused on cancer
prevention. A working group has been established to work on projects to improve early diagnosis
and prevention of cancer. 

The working group is led by IP. A review of Ca
screening uptake has been completed by Public
Health lead. This document is due to be shared over
Jan to March and will lead to recommendations for
increasing cancer screening uptake.

Q1-4 Develop cancer early detection and prevention
programme and implement
Review and redesign neighbourhood health improvement
offer
Review and redesign sexual health services
Develop and deliver neighbourhood approach to social
prescribing
Implement GM Alcohol and Drug Strategy requirements

Ongoing on
track

Lung Health Check – the CCG has approved the business case for a Lung Health check to be
delivered for Salford patients. Screening Volunteers – The CCG has produced options within a
business case to roll out screening volunteers within GP practices. This was approved by ICBC and
taken to Service and Finance Committee at the CCG. Currently considering the possibility of some
elements of the business case being picked up by existing health improvement provision. This may
include a volunteer element. Project leads are visiting Liverpool Public Health which uses a
volunteer led model, to assess if similar could be applied to Salford. The business case will be
brought back to Service and Finance once a new model has been developed.
Review of sexual health services completed. Proposals being developed to redesign the sexual
health system - using neighbourhood model.
Through the population health transformation funding, a neighbourhood approach to social
prescribing is being developed. Led by CVS through the wellbeing being matters programmes.
Recruitment taken place for 5 community anchor organisations and community connectors.
Currently aligning existing community services.
GM Drug and Alcohol strategy and implementation has not been finalised. Salford baseline review
completed on the 6 priority areas in the draft strategy, highlighting recommendations and areas to
join up. Next steps is prioritisation from long list of recommendations.

Salford Royal have confirmed they intend to provide
the Lung Health Check service. A model of delivery
is in the process of being agreed between the CCG
and the Trust. Screening Volunteers Business Case
on hold. The CCG and Public Health are working
together to develop a new model to deliver phone
calls to patients who have not taken up their
screening. The business case will be updated when
this work is complete and taken back to the Service
and Finance Committee at the CCG. 

1.2 Best Start in Life SRO: Charlotte Ramsden, Anthony Hassall
Governance: 0-25 Advisory Board 

PM: Debbie Blackburn, Harry Golby, Jane Case, Satty
Boyes, Lynette Harwood

Milestones RAG Highlights and progress Risk / Issues and mitigation
Q1 Implement new Children’s Community Nursing Team

specification and confirm proposal for re-design of
children’s continuing healthcare

Completed Spec reviewed and implemented

Q2 Deliver SEND Agenda (pathfinders to scaled up roll out) Ongoing on
track

• Evaluation of the SEND pathfinder to determine roll out
• Integrated health and education offer at Special schools and settings – visioning workshop to be
held
• Person and Community Centred Approaches ( PCCA)  pilot work in support of this wider agenda
• Ealing Intensive Therapeutic and Short Break Care Service model – project manager currently
being recruited to develop business case and take forward
• Outcome of DMO/DCO spec at CYPCG & Children & Families Board

 Essential that agreed pathway is workable in terms
of scheduling and resourcing paediatrician and
other key health professionals’ participation in Multi-
Agency Meetings; this is being considered through
pathfinder evaluation, and commissioning.

Q3 Start well: Develop and implement 0-25 advisory board
performance framework for start well programmes
(delivery, performance and risks)

Completed First iteration of performance framework now agreed and being reported to 0-25 advisory board
from Feb 2019.

Q3 Resolve equipment issues within children's services Ongoing on
track

Equipment review complete, paper to go to Service and Finance March 19. Risk: Investment needs do not accurately reflect
need due to incomplete baseline data; service
development is not integrated with planned system
wide equipment review. Mitigation: 12 month pilot
is proposed to take both risks into account

Q4 Implementation of  the Maternity Pioneer Programme –
Widening Choice and Personalisation (PMCBs and FMU)

Ongoing on
track

Achieving full roll out of PMCBs across the Pioneer. Scale and spread plans in place to support the
GMEC LMS in widening the Choice offer. Action plan in place to increase activity at Ingleside that
include locating sonography services and ante natal services to Inglesdie. In-reach model is being
piloted by NCA. Plans are in place to scope a SPA for the Pioneer conurbation supported by NHSE
resources.

Risk: Not all maternity providers will engage with
the In-reach model. Mitigation: strengthen
Commissioning/contractual processes.

1.3 Wider determinants of health and wellbeing SRO: Charlotte Ramsden, Debbie Brown
Governance: Anti- Poverty Operational Group, Skills and Work Board,

PM: Jacquie Russell, Jonathon Stancombe, Alison
Burnett

Milestones RAG Highlights and progress Risk / Issues and mitigation
Q1 Support the development, delivery and integration of the

GM Working Well programme.  
Ongoing on
track

The GM Work and Health Programme has supported 252 Salford residents, of which 56 have
moved into employment (as at October 2018).

Maximus HealthWorks have just been commissioned to deliver the GM Working Well (Early Help)
programme. The service will support in the region of 1,260 residents in Salford, who are at risk of
falling out of the labour market because of ill health or are newly unemployed because of a health
issue, over a three year period.  

Q1-4 Development and delivery of the Year 2 Tackling Poverty
Action Plan

Ongoing on
track

The action plan continues to be delivered via the Anti-Poverty Operational Group and key
partners. Key highlights of the work taking place in quarter 3 include: ongoing support for people
negatively affected by transferring onto Universal Credit, work to tackle holiday hunger with the
voluntary sector, and  supporting the development of a second Poverty Truth Commission. A Year
2 progress report will also be produced in quarter 4. 

Q1-4 Undertake review of the Salford Employment and Skills
Strategy outcomes, develop Year 2 Action Plan and
implement.   

Ongoing on
track

The full review will now take place in Feb/ March 2019 and will be used  to inform the Action Plan
for 2019/20.  

P
age 25



Better Care: 2018-19 Milestones

2.1  Quality of Care SRO: Francine Thorpe
Governance: Safer Salford? Quality Commissioning Committee

PM: Satty Boyes, Sue Harris, Rachel Farn

Milestones RAG Highlights and progress Risk / Issues and mitigation

Q1/2

Establish and begin to evolve the quality assurance arrangements and
improvement cycle for care homes.  

Ongoing on
track

4 care homes Excellence workshops held to date good levels of engagement from some care homes.  Improvement in CQC
ratings with fewer homes rated as Inadequate and RI and more homes rated as good

Engagement of some care homes.  This is
being addressed through contract meetings

Q3

Implement integrated quality assurance process for Salford ICO and
General Practice

Ongoing on
track

ICO - mapping of information and quality assurance visits underway.  Integrated quality and safety strategy approved in May
2018 and being implmented
General practice - QA dashboard in place and informing visits. Public version created to be published publicly. Focus on
coordinating all CCG visits and prediction of CQC inspectino / issues.

Q3/4

Develop integrated approach to quality assurance for children's and
public health services

Ongoing on
track

First workshop held in July with quick wins agreed.   Follow up workshop held in September, integrated quality dashboard in
development

Q3

Develop system wide approach to shared learning around safety and
develop QA process to identify quality and safety implications of any
new pathways / pathway re-design.

Ongoing on
track

Two system-wide safety leadership sessions have been held to date.  Focus has been on mortlaity reviews and sepsis.  Small
tests of change agreed 

Need to better engage with MH partners.
Information shared and senior leaders
encouraged to attend

Q4

Implement quality improvement project to address handover
between hospital and care homes

Ongoing on
track

Progressing through Care Homes Excellence forum.  Data collection prcess established and small tests of change being
developed

2.2 Integrated Care System SRO: James Sumner, Karen Proctor, Judd Skelton
Governance: Integrated Care Advisory Board

PM: June Roberts, Sarah Cannon

Milestones RAG Highlights and progress Risk / Issues and mitigation

P
age 26



Q1

Commence phase two of neighbourhood model, establishing the
infrastructure for neighbourhood Together Health and Care Forums.
Agree proposals for Centre of Contact improvements.
Develop mental health in care homes project.
Transformation evaluation feedback programme to start.
Commence work with SRFT to develop and implement outcomes
based contracting model for community service bundles.

Launch Care Homes Excellence programme.
Commence development of the new Salford Carers Strategy.
Complete position statement outlining Salford's strategic approach in
establishing new models of Extra Care.
Define scope for needs assessment to support development and
publication of a new Market Position Statement for Salford.
Set out Salford’s strategic approach in establishing new models of
Extra Care.
Present business case for neuro and stroke rehab services in line with
GM specifications.

Ongoing on
track

Phase two of the neighbourhood model commenced.
Centre of Contact PID approved in Q2.
Transformation evaluations received in Q2 relating to Back Pain, Carers and Falls projects.
Work commenced on development of outcomes based contracting model for community service bundles.
Care Homes Excellence Programme launched.
Development of new Salford Carers Strategy commenced. - this work is planned to roll into 2019/20 - additional resource
has been assigned to this action to respond to a period of sickness absence. A revised delivery plan has been agreed
Extra Care position statement has been completed and been through governance - this action is completed
Market Position statement - Project team established, scope and approach agreed - finance secured for consultant support
and brief for this drafted - project plan agreed - this work is planned to roll into 19/20
Extra Care strategic approach - Paper tabled at ASC Commissioning Group that outlines next steps for development
including a risk assessment. - futher development has taken place and updates will be taken through integarted governance
in Q4
Business case approved for integrated community neuro and stroke rehab services. - this action is completed

Q2

Launch of Eccles and Iram Enhanced Care Team.
Launch of VCSE MoU.
Launch new Home Care model and begin performance monitoring.
Mobilisation of Centre of Contact improvements.
Implement MDG improvement programme.
Develop/agree intermediate care redesign proposal.
Complete a review of delivery of the Adult Service and Financial Plan
17/18 -20/21.

Ongoing on
track

Eccles & Irlam Enhanced Care Team mobilised in August.
VCSE MoU agreed at ICAB.
Successful transfer to new Home Care model in July.
Centre of Contact improvement project commenced.
MDG improvement programme implemented.
Progressing the planning regarding a new Intermediate Care Nursing bedded unit following approval of the model, location
and political engagement
Review of delivery of the Adult Service & Financial Plan completed and going through system governance in Q3.

Q3

Neighbourhood Together forums and City Wide Board to launch.
Evaluaton feedback programme - review findings from new models of
care with consideration of future models.
Care navigation pathways implementation to commence.
Receive the interim evaluation report of the Salford Wide Extended
Access Pilot (SWEAP).
Approve business case for revised Salford Standard 2019/20 and
beyond.
Complete the scoping of options for  the expansion of Personal health
Budgets and make recommendations on the model to broaden the
offer.
Establish the scope and approach to identifying and measuring the
impact of technology enabled care.

Ongoing on
track

Initial city wide Neighbourhood leadership forum took place in Q3.
Schedule and process under development for ICAB to receive evaluations from transformation projects testing new models
of care in 2019 alongside related commissioned services.
Care navigation project initiated by Salford Primary Care Together.
SWEAP interim evaluation report received.
Business case for revised Salford Standard for 2019/20 progressing through CCG's Governance.
Scoping of options for expansion of Personal Health Budgets still in progress, to complete in Q4

P
age 27



Q4

Widen referral routes for Urgent Care Team.
Agree plan for neighbourhood together forums for 2019/20.
Workforce planning and organisation development to align with
neighbourhood planning.
Agree plan to take forward intermediate care redesign.
Complete development of a new Salford Carers Strategy.
Develop a Supported Housing position statement to inform the
development of  a Supported Housing Strategy.

Ongoing on
track

2.3 Transforming and standardising acute and specialist hospital care SRO: Chris Brookes, Jack Sharp, Karen Proctor
Governance: 

PM: Mel Walters, Jo Purcell, Harry Golby, Jo
Goodfellow

Milestones RAG Highlights and progress Risk / Issues and mitigation

Q1

Major Trauma: Completed  design to ‘best guess costs’ and reduce
risk prior to P22 tender process
Refresh business case in preparation for submission to NHSI, DHSC
and HM Treasury for approval to release funding.

Ongoing on
track

Design plans progressed to 1:50. Plans costed for 'Best guess costs' - total build costs have increased from initial cost plans
submitted in May 2017 due to impact of inflation and technical aspects of the build. 

Increase in build costs to be met by
SCO.Progress to design Stage 3,at risk, to
minimise impact of inflation further on costs
and delays till buid completed. 

Q2

Major Trauma: Submit business case to secure final approval for
funding.
Initiate tendering process and engage expression of interest from
Principal Supply Chain Partners (PSCPs)

Ongoing on
track

Business case refreshed with revised build costs, and submitted to NHSI. Now moved into Design Stage 3 - which will include
registering with P22 framework and asking for expressions of interest from  Principal Supply Chain Partners with award of
contract Q4 2018/19.Informal expressions of interest have been received from PSCPs regarding the build.

Risk that BC will not be approved by Q4
2018/19s to delay in approval P

age 28



Q2

HT – Continue to develop detailed plans for workforce, engagement,
IM&T, clinical pathways and ambulatory care to support
implementation.

HT Capital – Submit capital business case to secure final approval for
funding from HM Treasury.

GM Uro-oncology – Continue to work as part of the GM Uro-oncology
programme to agree and then deliver implementation plan, aligned
with the development of the GM Theme 3 Benign Urology plan.

GM OG – By end Q2 all elective surgical procedures for cancer and
complex benign to transfer to Salford Royal.   Emergency on-call
service covering the whole of GM and Eastern Cheshire to
commence.  Appropriate staff to TUPE across to Salford Royal.

Theme 3 and wider transformation across the NWS - Continue to
participate in GM Theme 3 and North West Sector Priority Services
workstreams to agree Models of Care and business case proposals for
each service.
Identify preferred options and hold consultation exercise for the
transformation of Dermatology services across the NWS.

Ongoing on
track

HT - Specialist project managers for IM&T and workforce recruited.                                                          Standard operating
proceedure for Surgical Ambulatory Care developed by clinical working group. Readiness assessments for implementation of
sector wide standardisation of Surgical ambulatory care in preparation.              Development of operational arrangements
for sector multi-disciplinary team (MDT) for complex colorectal cancers underway. Sector MDT scheduled to commence
January 2019.            Business case for Capital to enable HT submitted October 2019 (joint with business case for MT).
Wider transformation across NWS - Sector wide preconsultation on long list of options completed September 2018. Options
appraisal exercise conducted 16th Octover 2018. Recommendation to sector Partnership Board due December 2018.

Urology - Engagment continues with the GM urology cancer and benign urology programmes.    OG - formal staff
consultation completed.
OG - Four members of staff transferred under TUPE regulations to Salford Royal on the 1st September 2018.   OG surgical
procedures for cancer and complex benign sucessfully  transferred to Salford Royal on 1st September.    The new Emergency
OG on-call service for GM and Eastern Cheshire  became operational on 1st September.

Q3

Major Trauma: Approval of final business case by HM Treasury and
funding released.

Ongoing not on
track

BC submitted to NHSI. Presently reviewing the BC with NHSI to align with emerging national financial guidance from NHSI for
2019/20. Onward approval process process delayed until this has been completed.

Risk that BC will not be approved by Q4
2018/19s due to delay in approval, which
could lead to further inflationary pressures
on build costs.

P
age 29



Q3

HT – Continue to develop detailed plans for workforce, engagement,
IM&T, clinical pathways to support implementation. Introduce new
model of surgical ambulatory care across the NWS.

HT Capital - Secure approval from HM Treasury to release funding.

GM Uro-oncology – Continue to work as part of the GM Uro-oncology
programme to agree and then deliver implementation plan, aligned
with the development of the GM Theme 3 Benign Urology plan.

GM OG – Endotherapy to transfer to Salford.
Theme 3 and wider transformation across the NWS - Continue to
participate in GM Theme 3 and North West Sector Priority Services
workstreams to agree Models of Care and business case proposals for
each service.
Development of Business case to support the transformation of
Dermatology services across NWS.

HT- Workforce – Draft consultant rota options presented to NWS Clinical and Operational Leads meeting on 7th December.
Agreed the principles that will underpin rota development for the single sector General Surgery service.  Honorary contract
finalised and Clinical and Operational Leads are due to hold One to One aspirational meetings with consultant surgeons in
Jan.
Engagement – There has been some face to face engagement with GPs which highlighted the need for further engagement
and communication of plans within the acute sector.  Communication & engagement plans will focus on the role of Partner
Comms team and the development of social media.
IM & T – Proof of concept for the sharing of electronic data across 3 acute sites is under development with an
implementation schedule planned for June 2019.
Development of a general surgery clinical dashboard is underway.
Clinical Pathways  -The focus of the clinicians in the Surgical Ambulatory Care Unit project group has now turned towards
planning standardised clinical pathways with each of the acute trusts taking one of the 4 key pathways identified by GM.
This will leave non-specific abdo pain for group discussion.
Phase 1 of the Sector MDT will go live on 9th January; this stage allows for joint discussion of patients with either early rectal
cancer or advanced local rectal cancers post medium/long course chemo-radiotherapy.  Processes have been agreed for
referrals and case listing and an SOP, ToR and roles and responsibilities document developed.  Radiology preparation and
input to the meeting will be on a sector basis, with one Radiologist presenting scans for all partner trusts.
Standardised model of surgical ambulatory care  - The SOP for standardised surgical ambulatory care has been agreed and
ratified. Operational managers in each provider trust have identified where they currently fall short of providing the
standard model and are now planning how and when they will address these short falls (or alternatively detail and carry the
risk until 2020).

OG - As per September Theme 3 up-date Endotherapy transfer is expected to be Q4.    An up-dated timeline for the transfer
is currently being compiled.

Q4

Major Trauma: Contract with selected PSCP and commence build
programme.

Ongoing on
track

Now moved into Design Stage 3 - which will include registering with P22 framework and asking for expressions of interest
from  Principal Supply Chain Partners with award of contract Q4 2018/19.

P
age 30



Q4

HT – Continue to develop detailed plans for workforce, engagement,
IM&T, clinical pathways and ambulatory care to support
implementation.
Monitor impact of new model of surgical ambulatory care across the
NWS.

HT Capital – Contract with Principal Supply Chain Partner for the build
and commence build programme at Salford.  Develop detailed plans
for ambulatory care capital schemes at Wigan and Bolton.

GM Uro-oncology – Continue to work as part of the GM Uro-oncology
programme to agree and then deliver implementation plan, aligned
with the development of the GM Theme 3 Benign Urology plan.

GM OG – Continue to implement new pathways and monitor impact.

Theme 3 and NWS – Continue to participate in GM Theme 3 and
North West Sector Priority Services workstreams to agree Models of
Care and business case proposals for each service.
Seek approval for Dermatology Business case.2.4 Hospital Group - Acute Care Collaboration SRO: Raj Jain

Governance:
PM: Oz Khan

Milestones RAG Highlights and progress Risk / Issues and mitigation

Q1

Transaction PMO Setup - for strategic case and business case
development for transaction. The PMO will be responsible for
running and managing the devlopment of the strategic case, plans
and business case for the acquisition of Pennine Acute Hospitals
Trust. 

Completed Has been setup 

Q2

Strategic Case submission - for Group development. SRFT are
currently undertaking a project to create a wider Group driven by
New Models of Care and Hospital Transformation, initially developing
a strategic case for the acquisition of Oldham, Rochdale and Bury
sites of Pennine Acute Hospitals Trust. 

Ongoing on
track

Transaction strategic case development in progress

Submission of the Strategic Case was
delayed in line with GM timings, due to a
lack of availability of information and
system alignment.  

Q3

Q4

Development of business case for Q1 2019 setup and development of
post transaction integration plan for integration of Oldham, Rochdale
and Bury sites to SRFT - allowing for patient benefits including digital,
workforce and standardisation leading to trasformed acutre care
across a wider footprint. 

Ongoing on
track

The Strategic Case is due to be submitted to NHSI in Feb 2019.
Development of the Business Case will begin  following strategic case submission.

2.5 Mental Health and learning disabilities SRO: Charlotte Ramsden, Judd Skelton
Governance: Integrated Care Advisory Baord (ICAB), Adults MH strategy group, LD strategy Group (in development)

PM: Paul Walsh, Tony Marlowe, Claire
Mayo, Kerry Thornley

Milestones RAG Highlights and progress Risk / Issues and mitigation

P
age 31



Q1

Establishing objectives for community based dementia support
services and approve action plans in line with Dementia United
priorities.
Develop business case for Step 3 IAPT provision to meet increased
access targets and ensure compliance with 5YFV obligation regarding
perinatal mental health
Launch a grants programme for the VCSE sector to enable a broader
response in meeting mental health need and supporting improved
mental wellbeing
STOMP Action Plan developed
Begin review of Learning Disability supported employment pathways
and support services.  

Completed

The partnership reponse to the community aspects of DU have been shaped in the SCO dementia operational strategy. This
startegy is at final draft stage and is going through SCO approval through Q3.
Business case for Step 3 IAPT provision approved to address waiting times and access challenges and incorporating perinatal
IAPT capacity
VCSE Grants programme launched.  Significant  response and grants awarded for several innovative projects
Re STOMP : Initial data collection exercise has been completed.  This was to identify how many LD/Autism patients are
prescribed psychotropic medication.  Work will now be carried out to ensure individuals are reviewed.
STOMP information was provided to people with LD and staff at the Big Health Day in September.
The working group continues to meet to ensure that all required areas are covered .
Work underway to review existing LD supported employment pathways,  identifying current capacity and provision.  Also ,
engagement with GM regarding GM-wide supported employment investment around LD, MH and autism.  Agreement to
invest additional into the GM supported employment; specifically for additional capacity in LD.

Significant challenges re IAPT waiting times.
GMMH have identifed £600k  they will
allocate ( in addition to CCG business case
investment) and have agreed a  trajectory
with commissioners to reduce the waiting
list. 

P
age 32



Q2

Review the role and function of adult mental health residential care.
Develop business case to address high demand in the Early
Intervention in Psychosis service ensure that the service is meeting
the RTT, providing NICE compliant care and meeting agreed improved
outcomes for service users set against an outcomes based
commissioning framework.
Launch new VCSE mental health employment service and ensure this
is part of a coherent pathway in supporting people with mental
problems into work.
Begin review of Shared Lives provision.
Suicide Prevention Strategy awareness raising  campaign for World
Suicide Prevention Day.
Review and identify options to address acute inpatient capacity and
subsequent out of area acute placements.

The review is underway for adult mental health residential care. Engagement with staff and service users has been
completed and existing service users have undergone review. Report being developed.  Business case for EIP has been
approved.
Start in Salford commissioned to provide new Start Work service and setting up clear employment pathways with GMMH.
Joint discussions with CERT underway to ensure a smooth pathway. Engagement embedded in development of GM
employment workstream.
Shared Lives review started and being informed by  and linked into GM work re Shared Lives.
Incredible reach obtained from Salford's Suicide Prevention campaign which ran from 10.9.18-10.10.18.  Last year's social
media campaign reachad 57,000 people.  This year's  reached 1.2m people.  A Suicide prevention video featuring someone
bereaved from suicide became Salford CCG's most viewed social media item ever reaching 50,000 people. Suicide
prevention communications plan now being updated in line with GM plans, areas of focus include children and young
people, men and those people working in the construction workforce.
Maryfield Court (located in Manchester) commissioned to provide additional  male acute inpateint capacity and prevent out
of area placements (OAPs) outside of GM.  Reportable OAPs remain low and ongoing discussions are taking place between
commissioners re: future plans for Maryfield Court after April.  

Q3

Develop and launch new all age Mental Health Commissioning
Strategy built on the mental health needs assessment.
6 month review of the GMMH Criminal Justice Liaison and Diversion
services.
Business case developed regarding diagnostic provision for ADHD and
ASC.
Explore new models of mental health care, learning from exemplar
models of good practice (e.g. Lambeth Model) . Identify opportunities
for development and transformation in Salford.
Secure additional IAPT capacity in place to meet 5YFV targets.
Explore and progress opportunities  regarding addressing challenges
surrounding high cost long stay/rehab  out of area placements.

Mental health commissioning strategy is now approved by Cabinet and is scheduled to seek approval from CCG Governing
body on the 30.01.19. Work is underway to revise the Mental Health Commissioning Strategy group to oversee the action
plans. Bolton Commissioners have agreed to lead the work around the GMMH Criminal Justice Liaison and Diversion service.
Living Well Salford (learning from the Lambeth model) is progressing well with monthly established Collaboratives and
Design Group. Planning sessions have informed the approach and the vision is aligned with the vision held within the Mental
Health Commissioning Strategy. Additional capacity in the step 3 IAPT service has been agreed via the business case and is
now being implemented. Initial focus will be on reduction of the waiting list. Following a focus on acute OAPs at GM, the
focus will widen in due course to include rehab.
ADHD business case developed and to be presented to SFG early Feb.  ASC business case still to be progressed.

P
age 33



Q4

Further develop wider support for perinatal mental health to provide
early intervention to improve attachment and bonding.
Develop a self-advocacy offer for people with learning disabilities and
within the Advocacy Hub contract held by Mind in Salford.
Review of VCSE mental health grants programme.
Implement new LD supported employment pathway.

Workshop undertaken in November 2018 with the Tameside and Glossop leads for perinatal. This suggested that a focus on
clinical leadership was required locally to support the implementation of the PIMH approach. Additional work is being
undertaken at GM to develop a draft specification for a PIMH service. IAPT perinatal standards are in draft form and will be
used to self assess local services. Self advocacy for LD is being explored via Salford CVS and a specification is currently being
drafted. The mental health grants programme is being linked into the Living Well collaborative work. Focus on one priority
area will be agreed going forward to maximise the impact of the programme.
Self-Advocacy offer/specification drafted.  MIND unable to deliver this.  CVS to assist in approaching VCSE sector. 

P
age 34



Better Care: 2018-19 Milestones

PM: Satty Boyes, Sue Harris, Rachel Farn

Risk / Issues and mitigation

Engagement of some care homes.  This is
being addressed through contract meetings

Need to better engage with MH partners.
Information shared and senior leaders
encouraged to attend

PM: June Roberts, Sarah Cannon

Risk / Issues and mitigation

P
age 35



P
age 36



PM: Mel Walters, Jo Purcell, Harry Golby, Jo
Goodfellow

Risk / Issues and mitigation

Increase in build costs to be met by
SCO.Progress to design Stage 3,at risk, to
minimise impact of inflation further on costs
and delays till buid completed. 

Risk that BC will not be approved by Q4
2018/19s to delay in approval P

age 37



Risk that BC will not be approved by Q4
2018/19s due to delay in approval, which
could lead to further inflationary pressures
on build costs.

P
age 38



P
age 39



PM: Oz Khan

Risk / Issues and mitigation

Submission of the Strategic Case was
delayed in line with GM timings, due to a
lack of availability of information and
system alignment.  

PM: Paul Walsh, Tony Marlowe, Claire
Mayo, Kerry Thornley

Risk / Issues and mitigation

P
age 40



Significant challenges re IAPT waiting times.
GMMH have identifed £600k  they will
allocate ( in addition to CCG business case
investment) and have agreed a  trajectory
with commissioners to reduce the waiting
list. 

P
age 41



P
age 42



P
age 43



Enabling Transformation: 2018-19 Milestones

3.1 Integrated Place SRO: Debbie Brown, Charlotte Ramsden
Governance: HWBB (Reform board arrangements to be developed)

PM: Jacquie Russell, June Roberts

Milestones RAG Highlights and progress Risk / Issues and mitigation

Q3

Map and review  Neighbourhood models of delivery, make
recommendations to align, improve integration, outcomes
and efficiency. 

 Work has been completed to understand the existing (or proposed) neighbourhood models for
Early Help, primary care and community services, and council universal contact functions.   These
also sit alongside neighbourhood structures in a range of partner organisations.  Work is underway
to discuss how these models could best work together to deliver better outcomes for residents,
system reform and efficiency.

A proposed GM White Paper on Public Service Delivery suggests a framework in each locality,
including the connection between city wide and neighbourhood based models for delivery.
Discussions are underway to review how this model is delivered in Salford.    Governance is in place
for each element of neighbourhood working in Salford.  Regular discussions are in place between
SCC and H&SC partners to ensure effective joint working.   How these models (and the elements of
the framework suggested in the GM White Paper) come together will be key.

Governance is in place for each element of neighbourhood working in Salford.  Regular
discussions are in place between SCC and H&SC partners to ensure effective joint working.   How
these models (and the elements of the framework suggested in the GM White Paper) come
together will be key.

Q4

Finalise city wide  'reform' board arrangements for Salford
to oversee integrated place plans to include health,
wellbeing and wider determinants

3.2 Integrated Commissioning and Enhanced Support Services SRO: Charlotte Ramsden, Anthony Hassall
Governance: Integrated commissioning reference group

PM: Jacquie Russell, Hannah Dobrowolska

Milestones RAG Highlights and progress Risk / Issues and mitigation

Q1
Agree programme arrangements, project plan and
OD/comms plan.  

Ongoing not on
track

Programme arrangements and relevant plans agreed and in place (26 June 2018).  First joint away
day to be held 9 July.

Clarity on leadership arrangements.
Importance of single messages to staff.

Q2

Agree leadership approach.  Agree scope, risk share and
associated governance arrangements.  Agree approach to
closer working for phase 1 enabling functions (BI, equality,
OD).  Operational group established.

Ongoing on
track

Finance and preferred risk share arrangement agreed by political and clinical Reference Group.
Financial and legal due diligence now underway.  Formal legal instruments being drafted.  Final
agreement by SCC full Council in Feb 2019 and CCG Governing Body and SCC Cabinet in March
2019. Operational group established.  Workshops with phase 1 enabling functions ongoing.
Leadership OD commenced.  Full SCF staff event held. Functional workshops underway to explore
joint ways of working. 

Risk share agreements, budget deficit positions.
Ability to agree integrated governance. 

Q3

Commence shadow governance arrangements.  Agree
accommodation co location.  Make necessary adjustments
to CCG and SCC constitutions.

Ongoing on
track

Identification of colocation solution ongoing. Shadow arrangements agreed and soft
implementation from Jan 2019.  CCG Constitution reviewed and amendments to be approved by
GB in Jan 2019. OD plan for elected members and clinical leads agreed.  Continued with leadership
OD.

P
age 44



Q4

Finalise joint ways of working and shared plans for the
integrated fund from April 2019.  Complete preparations for
co location.  Complete OD/comms activities.  

Ongoing on
track

Finalise and approve detail of integrated commissioning arrangements (governance and legal).
Approve CCG and SCC constitution changes.  Explore corporate support service joint working
opportunities. Joint plans being developed for routine, best value and transformation objectives
in 2019/20.  Continue to identify colocation solution.  Undertake OD with elected members and
clinical leads.  Hold second full SCF staff event.  Continue leadership OD.  Finalise working
description of what a Salford SCF will mean for staff.

3.3 Information Management and Technology SRO: Steve Dixon, Raj Jain
Governance: Salford IM&T group

PM: Caroline Rand, Rachel Dunscombe

Milestones RAG Highlights and progress Risk / Issues and mitigation

Q1

Connectivity audit  with network plan in development Completed
High level summary created and shared with estates team. Site interdependencies logged. Local
network team meetings now tackle place and discussions ongoing to create a single Salford
network for all partners .

Data is quick to go out of date. GM wide project also. Local project seeks to create a non
technical description. Will require updates twice  a year.

Q1
Public Wi-Fi communications in public sector complete and
agreed with CVS.   

Completed Site specific  posters plans in place, integrated publicity being developed.

Q2

 Locality digital citizen communication plan agreed Completed

New Chief Digital Officer in place for locality. Within the NHS CCG have held an initial  meeting with
SCCG communications and engagement team .  The CCG and Trust IM&T attended the Salford
Citizens Panel  to introduce digital NHS initiatives City digital strategy in preparation 4 pillars tech
partners and 5G media city. Plan in place 

 Communications plan will cover calendar year 2019.

GovRoam available for all professionals with marketing
campaign

Completed All partners are now live. Next stage is user experience survey 
Some Gaps cannot access, discussing with GMSS the dependencies and how quickly these can be
overcome.

Salford Integrated Record (SIR)  live in SRFT and ICO.
End of life sharing using the MIG live with GPOOH.

Ongoing not on
track

dbMotion trial as full pilot with 15 practices now due to start in Q4. SIR CareCentric Upgrade not
yet live but progressing . MIG now in use for GP Out of Hours. End of Life care Coordination
Services (EPACCS)  project is progressing other partners access.

Some governance dependencies which are being tackled at GM level via Local Health Care
Record Exemplar (LHCRE). Local SIR upgrade is delayed until end of Q3.

Q3
SIR to include mental health data feed.

Ongoing not on
track

GMMH engaged with information governance work and data sharing agreements include GMMH.
Note that this project needs to have an adults and children's dimension. 

Engage third sector into local NHS digital work Completed Plans in place to work with Oaklands in 18/19 and care homes in 19/20

Q4

SIR to include a social care   data feed Ongoing on
track

 Social care have the format for consideration. SCC planning to move systems.  Risk is this may be delayed if resources are stretched. 

P
age 45



Sharing project evaluations to support ongoing strategy in
line with GM LHCRE project

Ongoing on
track

GM H&SCP have initiated a review and plan to have a set of shared and signed off documents by
Q2 with subsequent roll out and sign up by all parties. 

Network plans agreed with Salford and GM regarding HSCN
and the Full Fibre Challenge Fund 

Ongoing on
track

Salford CCG and GMSS (on behalf of SCCG) fully engaged. Project lead by GM CA .

Communication  plan delivered with an assessment of
digital engagement in Salford . 

Ongoing on
track

Next citizen event planned for November 2019. meeting with Salford Chief Digital Officer in
February to plane further city wide digital engagements  

18/19
 One or two Sharing events to promote GDE and locality
work 

Completed
Salford Royal hosted a demonstration day for colleagues as part of the GM Informatics
Engagement event in August. Further events held in December regarding risk stratification 

3.4 Estates SRO: Charlotte Ramsden
Governance: Salford Strategic Estates Group

PM: Elaine Vermeulen, Peter Openshaw, Lindsay Mcluskie

Milestones RAG Highlights and progress Risk / Issues and mitigation
Q1 Appoint CCG estates project manager Completed

Q2

Review utilisation of Gateways and develop plan to
improve, Completion of Locality Asset Review, Secure
funding for Blackfriars GP expansion, Little Hulton
development financial close, Complete Strategic Outline
Case for Irlam hub, Develop business case for new Lower
Broughton HC

Ongoing on
track

Utilisation review of Gateways completed and to be reported to SEG in November.  Locality Asset
Review report now in draft and taking comments from steering group prior to finalisation of the
report.  Little Hulton scheme scheduled to close in November 18, no major issues anticipated in
achieving this.  Strategic Outline case for Irlam and Cadishead nearing completion.  Project
manager appointed to develop business case for Lower Broughton and all practices engaged with
process.  Funds available for Blackfriars expansion but awaiting PID from practice to progress with
GMHSCP.

Issue is that under-utilisation of space in Gateways is largely within tenants' demised areas and
not the bookable space.  It will take time to discuss with providers and develop another approach
to funding and occupation of space in the Gateways that improves utilisation and services for
patients.  Although Lower Broughton practices engaging with the design and development of the
new scheme, they are as yet not fully committed to it.

Q3

Refresh Estate Strategy for 2018-2023, Hospital
Masterplanning, relocate ICO team from Lance Burn HC to
St James, progress on Intermediate Care project 

Ongoing on
track

Estate strategy will be refreshed once the outcome of the Locality Asset Review is known.  St James
5th floor currently being refurbished to allow relocation of ICO team from Lance Burn.
Intermediate Care business case awaiting funding decision from Salford City Council.

Risk that Salford City Council will not provide the capital finance for the intermediate care project
and there are no alternative sources of finance. 

Q4

Develop business case for Ordsall/MediaCity expansion,
Antenatal relocation to Lance Burn HC completed

Ongoing on
track

Ordsall/MediaCity business case will be informed by the completion of the Locality Asset Review as
to available sites in the neighbourhood, and outcome of the evaluation of the Quays pilot.
Refurbishment of Lance Burn underway and due for completion April 2019.

3.5 Workforce SRO: Francine Thorpe
Governance: Salford Workforce group

PM: Sam Betts, Catherine Sharples

Milestones RAG Highlights and progress Risk / Issues and mitigation

Q1 -
Q4

Implement year 2 priorities of primary care workforce
strategy

Ongoing on
track

Primary Care Workforce Strategy and action plan reviewed. Taken to Governing body and
recommendation to refresh the strategy and programme plan approved. Ongoing priorities for
year 2 of current strategy to be reflected in new programme plan for 2019/20 onwards.   

None

3.6 Co-production and enabling VCSE Delivery SRO: Alison Page
Governance: Salford Social Value Alliance

PM: Anne Lythgoe, Wendy

Milestones RAG Highlights and progress Risk / Issues and mitigation

Q4

P
age 46



Q1-2

Launch of VCSE Strategy Completed

The VCSE Strategy (full version and 4 page summary) was signed off by Salford City Council, NHS
Salford CCG, Salford CVS and VOCAL VCSE Leaders in Q1 and launched at Salford CVS' annual VCSE
Conference in Q2 on 5th July, with Anthony Hassall and David Seager speaking on behalf of the
CCG and council respectively. The Strategy writing group has subsequently continued to meet in
Q3 to further develop the SMART action plan and evaluation framework. 

Low risk - the strategy and associated SMART action plan have been co-designed and adopted by
all partners.

Q1-2

Agreement of VCSE Investment Plan
Ongoing on

track

Further work has been undertaken to develop a VCSE Investment Strategy for Salford, with the
draft and its key commitments currently under discussion with key partners - Salford Council, NHS
Salford CCG and VOCAL VCSE Leaders. The aim is to have this agreed and in place for April 2019. 

Medium risk - agreement needs to be reached across Salford's public sector about resourcing
VCSE activity.

Q1-2

Completion of actions agreed to enable the MoU between
the VCSE sector and Salford Together

Ongoing on
track

The Memorandum of Understanding (2 page summary) between the VCSE sector and the partners
of Salford Together has now been signed by all partners, including CCG, SCC, GMMH, SRFT, SPCT,
Salford CVS, Vocal Leaders.  The action plan to support its implementation is an ongoing piece of
work, with the financial investment required currently under negotiation with Salford Together
partners. A meeting to progress this is taking place between CVS and ST on 31/1. 

Medium risk - partner commitment is required to ensure the MoU is implemented in practice.
Some financial investment is also required in order to deliver the commitments.

Q3-4

Report following the work of a proposed Collaboration Task
Force, set up to facilitate collaborative working across the
public and VCSE sectors in Salford

Ongoing not on
track

This work is a key element of the Action Plan from the VCSE Strategy, specifically the Investment
Strategy pillar, and will focus on current commissioning, procurement, social value and contract
monitoring arrangements and arrangements from April 2019. At the time of writing Salford CVS
are still waiting for a date for the promised meeting with SCC and CCG (which SCC agreed to
organise for early in Q4).

High Risk - this work is dependent both on the nature and scope of the ongoing review of SCC
and CCG commissioning arrangements and early strategic engagement and involvement of
Salford CVS and VOCAL VCSE reps.

3.7 Research and Innovation SRO: Francine Thorpe, Debbie Brown, Kirstine Farrer
Governance: 

PM: Nadine Payne, Stephen Fry

Milestones RAG Highlights and progress Risk / Issues and mitigation

Q1-4
Deliver year 3 priorities of Research and Innovation strategy

Ongoing on
track

2 Academic GP posts appointed and 2 QI fellows appointed.  Medium risk Haelo TUPE to AQuA

Q2
Ongoing on

track
Supportive of GM CLAHRC bid to become a ARC Low risk - bespoke evaluation ongoing and near completion

Q3
Ongoing on

track
Transfer of Excess Treatment costs to GM CRN to process as per NHSE consultation and guidance Low risk - partners have been involved in transfer

Q4
Ongoing on

track

3.8 Public Engagement SRO: Hannah Dobrowolska
Governance: Start, Live and Age Well communication and engagement groups

PM: Claire Connor

Milestones RAG Highlights and progress Risk / Issues and mitigation
Q1-
Q4

Deliver system and citizen pledges comms plan Ongoing on
track

Ongoing promotion on social media. N/A

Q1 -
Q4

Deliver appropriate use campaign using 'THINK! Why A&E'
branding

Ongoing on
track

Publicity campaign currently being delivered (inch outdoor billboards, bus advertising, pharmacy
bags, social media and programmatic)

N/A

P
age 47



Q2-
Q4

Live Well - work with partners to deliver a plan to
communicate and engage with stakeholders around One

You - assisting with the delivery of the Salford Physical
Activity Framework.

Ongoing on
track

Social marketing manager now in post and is looking at developing a toolkit for employers in
Salford.

N/A

Q2 -
Q4

Start Well - deliver tooth decay engagement, encouraging
parents to increase dental care with children

Ongoing on
track

GM campaign ongoing. Development of a child friendly dentist scheme in Salford to encourage
more people attending.

N/A

P
age 48



Enabling Transformation: 2018-19 Milestones

PM: Jacquie Russell, June Roberts

Risk / Issues and mitigation

Governance is in place for each element of neighbourhood working in Salford.  Regular
discussions are in place between SCC and H&SC partners to ensure effective joint working.   How
these models (and the elements of the framework suggested in the GM White Paper) come
together will be key.

PM: Jacquie Russell, Hannah Dobrowolska

Risk / Issues and mitigation
Clarity on leadership arrangements.
Importance of single messages to staff.

Risk share agreements, budget deficit positions.
Ability to agree integrated governance. 

P
age 49



Finalise and approve detail of integrated commissioning arrangements (governance and legal).
Approve CCG and SCC constitution changes.  Explore corporate support service joint working
opportunities. Joint plans being developed for routine, best value and transformation objectives
in 2019/20.  Continue to identify colocation solution.  Undertake OD with elected members and
clinical leads.  Hold second full SCF staff event.  Continue leadership OD.  Finalise working
description of what a Salford SCF will mean for staff.

PM: Caroline Rand, Rachel Dunscombe

Risk / Issues and mitigation

Data is quick to go out of date. GM wide project also. Local project seeks to create a non
technical description. Will require updates twice  a year.

 Communications plan will cover calendar year 2019.

Some Gaps cannot access, discussing with GMSS the dependencies and how quickly these can be
overcome.

Some governance dependencies which are being tackled at GM level via Local Health Care
Record Exemplar (LHCRE). Local SIR upgrade is delayed until end of Q3.

SCC planning to move systems.  Risk is this may be delayed if resources are stretched. 

P
age 50



PM: Elaine Vermeulen, Peter Openshaw, Lindsay Mcluskie

Risk / Issues and mitigation

Issue is that under-utilisation of space in Gateways is largely within tenants' demised areas and
not the bookable space.  It will take time to discuss with providers and develop another approach
to funding and occupation of space in the Gateways that improves utilisation and services for
patients.  Although Lower Broughton practices engaging with the design and development of the
new scheme, they are as yet not fully committed to it.

Risk that Salford City Council will not provide the capital finance for the intermediate care project
and there are no alternative sources of finance. 

PM: Sam Betts, Catherine Sharples

Risk / Issues and mitigation

None

PM: Anne Lythgoe, Wendy

Risk / Issues and mitigation

P
age 51



Low risk - the strategy and associated SMART action plan have been co-designed and adopted by
all partners.

Medium risk - agreement needs to be reached across Salford's public sector about resourcing
VCSE activity.

Medium risk - partner commitment is required to ensure the MoU is implemented in practice.
Some financial investment is also required in order to deliver the commitments.

High Risk - this work is dependent both on the nature and scope of the ongoing review of SCC
and CCG commissioning arrangements and early strategic engagement and involvement of
Salford CVS and VOCAL VCSE reps.

PM: Nadine Payne, Stephen Fry

Risk / Issues and mitigation

Medium risk Haelo TUPE to AQuA

Low risk - bespoke evaluation ongoing and near completion

Low risk - partners have been involved in transfer

PM: Claire Connor

Risk / Issues and mitigation

N/A

N/A

P
age 52



N/A

N/A

P
age 53



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Item No

Salford Health and Wellbeing Board

Title of report Salford Health and Wellbeing Board Development Session 
Tuesday 11th December 2018

Date 12th February 2019
Contact Officer Dr Gunjit Bandesha

1. Executive Summary

Why is this report being brought 
to the Board? – Relevance of 
this report to the priorities of the 
Joint Health and Wellbeing
Strategy, the Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessment or integrated 
working

This briefing is a summary document of the 
discussions and issues raised at the 
development session of the Health and Well 
Being Board in December 2018.

The development session focused on past 
successes and what was required for the Board 
to remain fit for purpose, in the changing local 
and GM landscape.

Health and Wellbeing Board’s 
duties or responsibilities in this 
area

The Board will have an opportunity to review its 
remit and consider how it continues to add 
value to the Health and Wellbeing agenda for 
local residents.

Key questions for the Health and 
Wellbeing Board to address – 
what action is needed from the 
Board and its members?

To note feedback from development session 
and ongoing work which is required for 2019/20 
work programme.

What requirement is there for 
internal or external 
communication around this 
issue?

None at this stage.

1. Introduction

The objectives of the development session were:

1. To review journey of Board to date since inception, including the achievements 
and challenges

2. To discuss/ understand current Salford/ GM landscape particularly in relation to 
Public sector reform.

Page 55

Agenda Item 8



3. Consider next steps to improve system leadership and ensure that Board 
remains fit for purpose.

Twenty people attended the Board session including Board members and other 
stakeholders. Board members had an opportunity to reflect on achievements of the 
Board to date and the factors which led to that success. 

2. Capacity and success of the Board- summary of comments

Achievements and successes

 Board had helped build trust between members and organisations- improving  
communication and relationships 

 Board members had gained a deeper understanding of the influences on 
Health and Wellbeing 

 Financial resource as for the locality plan had been very effective in improving 
joint working and the plan was a good marker of success for the Board

 The work around the living wage was also noted as successful and a new way 
of challenging the Board

 The shift in focus from health alone to Wellbeing was occurring but needed to 
be stronger 

 Greater emphasis on listening to the voices of local people.

There were fewer markers of success around the outside influence of the Board and 
this was borne out by some of the comments:

 There was uncertainty as to how connected the Board members were to other 
Boards and how visible their role was outside of the Board

 The link to wider determinants of health and wellbeing needed to be 
strengthened - develop links to Inclusive economy, the Economic strategy

 The Board members needed to be more challenging of each other and the 
wider system- link with works and skills, housing strategy, social value, 
transparency of organisational spend

There was a good distribution of work and successes against each of the 4 aspects 
of “system delivery” from table discussions, although a greater emphasis on ‘Inside’ 
rather than outside capacity.

Page 56



3. Public Sector Reform 

Public Sector Reform
A brief outline of GM Public sector reform plans was presented with an update on 
Salford’s position against these areas.

Page 57



Principles of Public Sector reform in GM:
 One Public Service Leadership Team.
 Integrated/ targeted support functions.
 Integrated neighbourhoods.
 One Public Service Workforce.
 Information sharing protocols.
 A single commissioning function.

Benefits from a PSR model
 Single workforce which is connected and responsive
 Puts wellbeing of residents at forefront
 Avoids duplication and promotes better use of scarce resources
 Public friendly- one front door approach
 Neighbourhood level approach which is intelligence led
 Greater potential for early intervention and prevention to enhance health and 

wellbeing

Challenges of PSR model
Board members recognised the link between Health and Wellbeing and PSR work 
but PSR was not considered a complete solution. In the PSR model, there was 
insufficient emphasis on the VSCE sector, the community voice and community 
assets. There also needed to be greater recognition of the importance of the Place 
agenda to Health and Wellbeing.

There was some acceptance that the Board could contribute to the PSR agenda but 
that the PSR agenda alone could not address the health and Wellbeing of Salford 
residents.

There was acknowledgement that the HWB should focus on people and 
communities and not on systems and processes. The GM PSR model was 
considered by some members as being too prescriptive and process focused.

4. Further work

There was some discussion on next steps and how the HWB should move forward 
and align its work with the PSR agenda. This has to be considered in the context of 
GM PSR work and other locality work, particularly around Integration of health and 
social care. Some practical ideas were put forward to have two part meetings of the 
HWB Board. The first part of the HWB Board could cover the core business of the 
locality plan and the second part to include PSR agenda and wider determinants. 
There were also suggestions that a wider membership should be considered for part 
II of the meeting – including business partners. The membership could be flexed 
according to remit or agenda.

An action was agreed to Salfordise the GM PSR principles and make it work locally- 
encompassing the importance of Integrated Place agenda and community voice (co-
production). This is an important piece of work for 2019/20 and requires input from 
stakeholders and wider leadership to progress. The policy team in the council will 

Page 58



work with partners to develop a Salford model of the PSR work, taking into account 
roles and functions of other partnership Boards. An update on this work will be 
provided at the next Board meeting.

Recommendation: The Board is asked to note the summary of the feedback from the 
development session and support the wider work which is required to Salfordise to 
prove the PSR model locally and align with the remit of the Health and Wellbeing 
Board.

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS:

STRATEGIC DRIVERS AND EVIDENCE OF NEED:

THIS REPORT CONTENT HAS ALSO BEEN CONSIDERED BY:

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS:

ASSESSMENT OF RISK:  

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS:

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS:

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS:

HR IMPLICATIONS:

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



Item No

Salford Health and Wellbeing Board

Title of report Smoking in Salford 
Date 12th February 2019
Contact Officer Robert Green / Rebecca Fletcher

1. Executive Summary

Why is this report being brought 
to the Board? - Relevance of 
this report to the priorities of the 
Joint Health and Wellbeing
Strategy, the Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessment or integrated 
working

To inform the board of the redesign of the 
smoking cessation services in Salford.

To highlight to the board the impact of smoking 
on the Salford population and to suggest options 
for working together as a borough to tackle 
smoking tobacco.

Health and Wellbeing Board’s 
duties or responsibilities in this 
area

Board Terms of Reference 
 Improve health and well-being across the 

city and remove health inequalities. 

 Prevention and early intervention 
throughout life - we will stop problems 
occurring in the first place wherever we 
can. 

Board Priorities: 
 Living Well: I am able to take care of my 

own health, wellbeing and am able to 
manages the challenges that life gives 
me.

Key questions for the Health and 
Wellbeing Board to address – 
what action is needed from the 
Board and its members?

To note progress made.

To consider how the Board, and the constituent 
organisations can contribute to reducing 
smoking in Salford.

What requirement is there for 
internal or external 
communication around this 
issue?

None externally but further discussions will be 
required within organisations.

Page 61

Agenda Item 9



2. Introduction 

One of the most significant influences on this low healthy life expectancy for the 
people of Salford is smoking tobacco. We know that half of all smokers will die from 
a smoking related disease, and many of these deaths will be too early. In addition, 
many smokers will suffer from chronic and acute illnesses as a result of their 
addiction. These include respiratory illnesses, such as COPD, and heart disease, as 
well as cancers.

Salford has higher smoking rates than England, or Greater Manchester as a whole. 
Less than 15% of the adult population in England are smokers, but 21% of the 
population of Salford (slightly more than 1 in 5) are. The smoking rates in Salford are 
reducing. The current figure is a reduction from 27% in 2011. But still, there are more 
than 40,000 smokers in Salford. This is the second highest smoking rate in GM 
(second only to Manchester).

Importantly smoking disproportionately impacts on some groups in our communities, 
and is a key driver of inequalities in health. 30% of those in routine and manual 
professions smoke, compared to 11% in professional and managerial. More men 
than women smoke. Also, 40% of those with a long term mental health illness smoke 
in Salford.
 
Supporting individual smokers to give up smoking is a key way to reduce smoking 
rates, and to improve the population health. As well as individual support, wider 
legislation, and policies have the potential to have dramatic influences. Smoke-free 
legislation is an example of this type of intervention. As a locality, Salford has the 
potential to develop a borough-wide approach to smoking that supports an 
environment where smoking is not the norm, and where residents who currently 
smoke are supported to quit smoking.

Now is the right time to make smoking a focus for Salford. It fits with a number of other 
work streams, including the redesigned smoking cessation service offer, the proposed 
Lung Health Check Programme, and the Greater Manchester Make Smoking History 
campaign.

3. Key issues for the Board to consider

To comment on the redesigned stop smoking provision in Salford which will be 
outlined in the presentation.

The Board to consider the key role of all employers, health and care services and 
educational establishments in ensuring that smoking becomes a less visible, and 
less attractive practice.

4. Recommendations for action

 Commit to working together to create an environment where not smoking is the 
norm and where we support our residents that currently smoke to quit.

Page 62



 Set up a locality group to develop a Salford approach to smoking including e-
cigarettes, smoke free grounds and other policies that would support Salford to 
move towards a smoke free legislation.

5. Contextual Information

A presentation will be provided, featuring the following elements:

Part A – an outline Salford’s stop smoking services for 2019 onwards, focusing the 
main areas that have been reviewed and the basis for the changes. The Services 
outlined include:

 The Specialist Community Stop Smoking service that is aligned to the proposed 
Lung Health Check initiative.

 Salford Royal Stop Smoking Service.

 Stop smoking support in Primary Care.

 Stop smoking support for pregnant women who smoke.

Part B – smoke free environments; revisiting what smoke free environments mean 
and their role in influencing smoking choices.

Part C – electronic cigarettes. Working towards an agreed position on electronic 
cigarettes including their role in support tobacco smokers to stop smoking.

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank



SALFORD’S HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD – ANNUAL REVIEW OF 2017/18

V10 21/1/19 am 1

Salford’s 
Health and Wellbeing 
Board 
Annual Review 2017/18

December 2018

Page 65

Agenda Item 10



2

Contents:

1. Forward ............................................................................................................................3
2. Executive Summary ......................................................................................................4-8
3. Background ......................................................................................................................9
4. What has the Health and Wellbeing Board done in 2017/18?...................................10-21
5. Delivering the Locality Plan ............................................................................................22
6. So What? – achievements of Salford’s Health and Wellbeing Board ………………...…23
7. Next Steps …………………............................................................................................24

Page 66



3

FOREWORD

 Paul Dennett, City Mayor

It was a privilege in my first year as City Mayor of Salford City Council to be Chair of 
Salford’s Health and Wellbeing Board. Over the last two years I have observed continued 
co-operation and collaboration by colleagues and partners, maintaining user-led reform 
and delivery of health and social care services in our city.

In 2017/18, Board members have continued with their commitment to joined-up responsive 
health and social care services, facilitating Salford as one of the standard bearers of 
innovative practice, not only in Greater Manchester (GM) and the North West, but also 
nationally. This has been through focusing upon reducing health inequalities and an 
emphasis on prevention, early intervention and the wider determinants of health.

Our ambitions for health and social care in Salford is outlined in the Salford Locality Plan , 
there have been a number of significant and exciting milestones during 2017/18 to turn this 
vision into a reality for the people of Salford, including being able to demonstrate through 
our annual review that Salford’s Locality Plan (2016/17) is starting to make a difference, in 
terms of health outcomes, financial savings and continuing our supportive intervention 
approach, i.e. through the launch and delivery of Salford’s Suicide Prevention Strategy.

Cllr Gina Reynolds 
(Lead Member for 
Adult Services, 
Health and 
Wellbeing) – Co-
Chair,

Dr Tom Tasker 
(Chair of Salford’s 
Clinical 
Commissioning 
Group) – Co-Chair.

We are both honoured to report the Board’s successes in 2017/18, which demonstrate the 
strength and depth of partnership co-operation and integration in tackling some of the most 
serious and enduring health inequalities in the country. This has instinctively consisted of 
working with other partners, such as: the voluntary, community and social enterprise 
(VCSE) sector, blue light services and as ever … service users/ patients.

We are also proud to report partnership progress within the Board, and national 
recognition thereof, in respect of its work during 2017/18 towards Salford becoming a real 
Living Wage health and well-being system by 2021.

Page 67

http://www.salfordccg.nhs.uk/download.cfm?doc=docm93jijm4n6855.pdf&ver=7581


4

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Salford’s Health and Wellbeing Board’s Annual Review of 2017/18 contains a summary of 
the business, achievements and progress made towards the Board’s three main 
responsibilities in its fifth year of statutory operation. The report is intended for Board 
members and stakeholder organisations for assurance purposes, and contains evidence to 
demonstrate that the Board is achieving what it set out to do and is meeting its statutory 
responsibilities.

Key responsibilities of the Salford Health and Wellbeing Board are:
 Assurance,
 Strategy, and
 Informing and Influencing.

The Board’s ambition is – 
 to improve life expectancy in Salford so that the gap between Salford and the UK 

average is reduced, and
 to improve health and wellbeing at every stage of life – starting, living and aging.

Board highlights during 2017/18 have included: 
 being able to demonstrate through our annual review that Salford’s Locality Plan 

(2016/17) is starting to make a difference, in terms of health outcomes and financial 
savings,

 recognising that Salford’s Population Health Plan proposition, should continue to 
have a positive impact in the city,

 receiving confirmation of the launch of Salford’s Suicide Prevention Strategy and the 
continuation of supportive intervention services,

 presentations and feedback of/ from on-going public health communications and 
engagement (using a wide range of techniques and methods) with Salford citizens, of 
our Locality Plan’s three themes:
o START WELL – specifically further development of the Early Years Delivery 

Model, focus on Oral Health, Transition to Adulthood and Emotional Health and 
Well-being work (building resilience),

o LIVE WELL – specifically mental health, physical activity and work and skills 
strategies, delivery and partnership impact,

o AGE WELL – specifically falls in over 65’s, flu vaccination uptake and Excess 
Winter Deaths Index.

 celebrating the Boards real Living Wage work for 2017/18, whereby at the national 
Living Wage Champion Awards 2018, it was presented with an Industry Leadership 
Award for its collective efforts on spreading the real Living Wage across the health, 
care and well-being system in Salford (10 (76.9%) of its 13 member organisations 
are accredited Living Wage Employers – compared to 6 (44.4%) in 2016).

Holding four business meetings:
 Tuesday 20th June 2017, 9-11am (re-arranged from 9/5/17),
 Tuesday 10th October 2017, 2.30-4.30pm (re-arranged from 12/9/17),
 Tuesday 14th November 2017, 2-4pm, and
 Tuesday 13th February 2018, 2-4pm,

that:

Page 68



5

 approved a number of reports, protocols and guidance, i.e. GM-Salford(?) Population 
Health Plan proposition update, GM Public Sector Reform Strategic Self-Assessment 
and GM Primary Care Reform Investment Agreement,

 discussed a number of reports, protocols and guidance, i.e. Better Care Fund update 
and Health Watch Salford – Priorities for 2017/18 and Annual Report,

 assured a number of reports, protocols and guidance, i.e. the quarterly in-year 
implementation plan highlight report and risk register,

 received a range of reports, protocols and guidance for information, i.e. Salford Flu 
Vaccination Report, Memorandum of understanding between the Health and Social 
Care Partnership and the GM VCSE sector and Salford Clinical Commissioning Group 
(SCCG) Annual Report 2016/17.

Held one strategy-development meeting on:
 Wednesday 26th April 2017, 9.30-11.30am, which focused upon the role and purpose 

of the Board (an induction for new Board members), providing an opportunity for peer 
learning and discussion focussing on the role of the partners around the table in the 
Board meetings and how representative members can take direct action, influence 
others, campaign, or communicate Board priorities – the output being that all Board 
members are clear of the role that they play in the business of the Health and Wellbeing 
Board, and how they can take an active part in the delivery of the Locality Plan 
outcomes.

Page 69



6

Nationally, the annual Health Profiles published by Public Health England show how 
Salford compares with the rest of the country. Our baseline taken from our first year of 
statutory operation in 2012 is: 

Salford Health Profile 2012:

Page 70



7

Salford Health Profile 2018:
Salford is one of the 20% most deprived metropolitan authorities in England, about 22% 
(10,800) of children live in low income families. Whilst life expectancy in Salford is 
increasing year on year, it is still lower that the England average and the health of people 
in Salford is generally worse than the England average against a basket of indicators. 
However, the general trend even against ‘red’ indicators is improvement, although 
progress is still required:

Conclusion
This wide range of activity and achievements demonstrate how the Board and its partners 
are making a positive difference for the people of Salford, by maintaining and evolving:
 our understanding of the varied characteristics of need and assets across many 

sectors of the local community,
 a practical and relevant approach to future health and wellbeing in Salford, and
 making in-year improvements, even against ‘red’ indicators, of a basket of health 

indicators.

Page 71



8

The new quarterly themed Board meetings became operational from the 1st April 2017 – 
these are contributing towards a more community-based integrated health and social care 
system in and for Salford.

Page 72



9

BACKGROUND
This report contains a review of the fifth year of operation of Salford’s statutory Health and 
Wellbeing Board. It is intended for assurance – used by the Board and its partner 
organisations to understand whether it is achieving its purpose … making sure that 
Locality Plan outcomes and transformation objectives are being delivered for the people of 
Salford … and to inform the planning of the Board’s business and work plan for 2018/19.

The scope of this report includes the activities and discussions of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board and its sub-groups when carrying out Board business. Findings included 
can be directly attributable to the actions of the Board and its members.

Board meetings are jointly led and chaired by the Local Authority Elected representative 
(Lead Member for Adult Services, Health and Well-being, Cllr Gina Reynolds) and the 
representative of SCCG (Chair of the SCCG Governing Body, Dr Tom Tasker). The Board 
brings together a wide range of partners from the City Council, Clinical Commissioning 
Group (CCG), Health Watch, community, voluntary and social enterprise sector, local 
providers and employers, as well as Greater Manchester Police, and Fire and Rescue 
Services. The following sections will explain the purpose and responsibilities of the Health 
and Wellbeing Board, who is involved, how it is organised, what it has done during 
2017/18 and how it has started to have an impact on the wellbeing and health of the 
citizens of Salford. Links are provided to more information about the Board and its work.

Details on the remit of Salford’s Health and Wellbeing Board (including: key 
responsibilities, ambition, vision, etc.), who is involved and governance can be viewed 
here on the Salford Health and Wellbeing Board (specifically its Terms of Reference and 
Membership in the downloadable documents section on the page).

On 24th January 2017, the Board agreed a revised terms of reference (including a new 
arrangement of sub-groups, with specific responsibilities assigned to reflect delivery of our 
Locality Plan), covering its statutory responsibilities, role/ purpose and values/ principles, 
specifically altering its meetings (from 1st April 2017 onwards) from every 6-8 weeks to 
quarterly with a themed focus at each. This approach has been implemented during 
2017/18, including the Locality Plan Programme Management Group becoming a sub-
group of the Board, having oversight of delivery of the many work streams in the Locality 
Plan and reporting back to the Board on progress and performance.

Figure 1

Page 73

https://www.partnersinsalford.org/salford-health-and-wellbeing-board/


10

Delivering the Locality Plan – Start Well Case Study: WellComm Screening in Early 
Years

What was proposed?
For the past three years, Communication, Language and Literacy has been an area of Early 
Years learning that children in Salford most need to improve. Reading and writing depend 
on good speech, language and communication skills. To address this need, all settings with 
children attending who access three year old funding were entitled to a WellComm toolkit 
and training. This means timely identification of Speech, Language and Communication 
needs (SLCN) so that early interventions can be put in place.

What has been delivered?
 Toolkit + online report wizard: for PVIs and school nurseries.
 Professional support: training on SLCN skills as well as the toolkit.
 Individual support: for practitioners to identify and intervene early, and create a 

communication friendly setting.

WHAT HAS THE SALFORD HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD DONE IN 
2017/18?
 
The following section provides examples of the work of the Salford Health and Wellbeing 
Board and its sub-groups which have taken place between April 2017 and March 2018.

These listed activities are further illustrated by a series of case studies (tbc – what can we 
use?). The activities are listed under the three Salford Locality Plan themes, these being:
 Start Well,
 Live Well, and
 Age Well.

Start Well – the Health and Wellbeing Board has assured a number of reports, protocols 
and guidance, including:
 received and discussed START WELL based ‘deep dive’ discussion on: further 

development of the Early Years Delivery Model, focus on Oral Health, Education 
Strategy progress/ headlines, Work and Skills Update, Transition to Adulthood, and 
Emotional Health and Well-being work (building resilience) (10th October 2017),

 specifically further development of the Early Years Delivery Model, focus on Oral 
Health, Transition to Adulthood and Emotional Health and Well-being work (building 
resilience),

 Safeguarding Children Annual Report: 
http://www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb/annualreport.htm (10th October 2017),

 Safeguarding Adults Annual Report (to be circulated separately) (10th October 2017),
 Salford CAMHS Transformation Plan: refresh (13th February 2018),
 Salford Children and Young People’s Trust Annual Report 2017 (13th February 2018),
 Salford Safeguarding Children’s Board Annual Report 2016-2017 (13th February 2018),

Page 74

http://www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb/annualreport.htm


11

What are the successes?
Our achievements to date include:
 161 Early Years settings have a WellComm toolkit.
 219 practitioners trained.
 2,302 children screened (September to December 2018

What impact are we seeing?
 1,165 children identified as needing support with SLCN therefore accessing targeted 

support.
 Increased practitioner awareness of the expected levels of SLCN development in early 

years and how to support children.
 Increased level of practitioner confidence when discussing a child’s SLCN with 

parents.

This Start Well Project, coupled with the Early Years Delivery Model, is supporting a 
systematic approach to early identification and prevention of SLCN to improve school 
readiness. In providing an evidence-based resource this facilitates longer term self-
sufficiency within settings.

Delivering the Locality Plan – Start Well Case Study: Emotional Health and Wellbeing 
Training

We audited frontline staff skills in supporting Emotional Health and Wellbeing (EHWB). We 
engaged children and young people to better understand their experiences, views and 
expectations of EHWB services. From this we developed our EHWB Training Programme for 
anyone working or volunteering with Salford children and young people.

Since October 2017 this included:
 Papyrus Suicide awareness training: 90 minute briefing sessions, 3 hour accredited 

training and a 2 day Applied Suicide Intervention Skills training. Two of the briefing 
sessions were also open to any Salford resident. Participants said: “Only 2 weeks after 
attending the training I had a phone call from a mum threatening to end her life. The 
training was invaluable in giving me the confidence to support this mum and say the right 
thing.”

 Mental Health First Aid (MHFA): Participants said: “School refusers have come back 
into school. Better and more productive conversations have happened with CAMHS 
which has helped referrals to be accepted. Signs of issues have been picked up faster 
which has enabled us to act rather than react.” To ensure sustainability, 4 members of 
staff were funded to undertake the facilitator training to deliver the 1 day Youth MHFA 
Champion and 2 day Mental Health First Aider training.

AND/ OR

Page 75



12

 LGBTQ awareness (briefing sessions and training courses including Trans Inclusion in 
Education, Promoting Diversity, Challenging HBT Bullying) and LGBTQ resources 
pack and training session (co-designed and delivered by 42nd Street and the City 
Council’s Youth Service): Participants said: “Really enjoyed this session and have learnt 
a lot around identity and how it affects young people / society”

− Total 1,124 training places over 43 sessions.
− 84% attendance rate (948 people).
− Average cost per place £53.72p.
− Significant improvement in both confidence and knowledge/ understanding reported 

three months after MHFA training.

Adults Services
 4%

Children's 
Services

 32%

Education
 21%

Health
 14%

Housing
 9%

Resident
 1%

VCSE
 14%

Other
 5%

Chart showing which organisations our trainees worked for.  
(VCSE = Voluntary, Community & Social Enterprise)

Live Well – the Health and Wellbeing Board has assured a number of reports, protocols 
and guidance, including:
 received and discussed LIVE WELL based ‘deep dive’ discussion aligned to Salford 

Locality Plan Outcomes, specifically: mental health, physical activity and work and skills 
strategies, delivery and partnership impact (14th November 2017),

 specifically mental health, physical activity and work and skills strategies, delivery and 
partnership impact,

 Population Health Plan proposition – update (20th June 2018),
 SCCG Operational Plan 2017/18 (20th June 2017),
 Salford H&WB role of the Board/ members to be statutory consultees in decisions 

relating to pharmacies in Salford and bordering areas proposition discussion (20th June 
2017),

 Population Health Plan proposition – including update on how GM Population Health 
Plan will impact in Salford (for approval) (10th October 2017),

 Salford Suicide Prevention Strategy, including 2017/18 Implementation Plan (10th 
October 2017),

 GM Primary Care Reform Investment Agreement (for approval) (10th October 2017),

Page 76



13

 Health Protection Annual Report (10th October 2017),
 Update on Living Wage Task group work (10th October 2017),
 SCCG Annual Report 2016/17 (10th October 2017),
 HWB Annual Review 2016/17 (10th October 2017),
 Health Watch Salford – Priorities for 2017/18 and Annual Report (10th October 2017),
 Better Care Fund update (10th October 2017),
 Locality Plan – Workforce Strategy update (10th October 2017),
 Population Health Plan/ GM Transformation Fund bid – outline presentation and 

progress update (14th November 2017),
 GM Public Service Reform Strategic Self-Assessment update paper (14th November 

2017),
 Health Protection Forum Update (14th November 2017),
 Salford’s Health and Social Care ‘BIG Conversation’ draft report and pledges (13th 

February 2018),
 GM Public Service Reform Strategic Self-Assessment Update – Salford Locality Interim 

Findings/ Critical Issues and Investment Plan (13th February 2018),

Page 77



15

Delivering the Locality Plan – Live Well Case Study: ‘Swap to Stop’

World leading smoking cessation e-cig pilot.
Salford piloted an electronic cigarette ‘Swap to Stop’ intervention on behalf of Greater 
Manchester Health and Social Care Partnership at the start of 2018, with the aim of testing 
out the effectiveness of electronic cigarettes (e-cigs) in helping motivated smokers to quit 
and to help build the evidence base for further work.

Despite the fact that e-cigs are in wide use and there is broad agreement they provide a 
safer alternative to smoking cigarettes, there is little in the way of structured evidence to help 
stop smoking services tailor support to include e-cigs, for example guidance on dual use of 
e-cig and nicotine replacement therapy and longer term sustainability of a quit.

The Swap to Stop intervention was designed to provide smokers who wanted to quit with a 
free e-cig device along with nicotine liquid and high quality stop smoking advice throughout 
their attempt to quit tobacco smoking.

The intervention targeted smokers from areas of high health inequality in the city, with a 
focus on social housing tenants who are known to be twice as likely to smoke as the general 
population.

The e-cig offer was promoted widely through the Council’s Health Improvement Service, My 
City Health website, Healthy Living Centres, Community Pharmacy, General Practice and 
through Social Housing Landlords. For 3 months, smokers interested in taking up the free e-
cig offer were provided with an e-cig pack. The deal included setting a quit date, agreeing to 
access support and providing information on progress, from quitting smoking and nicotine 
products completely, to long term use of e-cigs.

The e-cigs were purchased from an independent supplier ‘Totally Wicked’ who are 
registered with the British Vape Trading Association – an important consideration as it 
ensured that there was no connection to the tobacco industry as well as adopting a code of 
conduct.

Page 78



16

1,022 smokers accessed the intervention over 10 weeks between January and March 2018, 
and the team were able to follow up 600 of these for a 4 week follow up.
57% of these smokers were ‘heavy smokers’, smoking 20 plus cigarettes per day.

As with standard stop smoking provision, there was a significant level of drop out in the first 
few weeks – approximately 35% dropped out within the first 2 weeks of their programme.

A four week quit is the standard measure for monitoring stop smoking services and this was 
applied to this intervention.

Of those who were followed up at 4 weeks:
 62% had quit smoking – this compares with a rate of anything from 10% to 35% for 

traditional stop smoking support.
 37% of participants had maintained use of their e-cig.
 20% were using both an e-cig and smoking.

Carbon monoxide (CO) levels were measured – in a heavy smoker a CO level can be over 
60 parts per million, compared with a non-smokers level of 0. For those heavy smokers who 
switched successfully to an e-cig, or who quit, CO readings dropped from an average of 
16ppm to 5ppm. This is significant as it is an immediate benefit for the ex-smoker – it means 
their blood can carry significantly more oxygen resulting is less stress on the cardiovascular 
system.

A longer term follow up is being carried out which will assess if those smokers who quit 
tobacco smoking have maintained their non-smoking and/ or use an e-cig in preference.

The effort required to design and deliver this pilot on behalf of GM was considerable, the 
commitments and efforts of everyone involved were very much appreciated.

Delivering the Locality Plan – Age Well Case Study: Salford Age Friendly City – falls 
programme

The Age Friendly Cities Baseline Plan was agreed by the Salford Health and Wellbeing 
Board in early 2018 and soon after the plan was agreed by the World Health Organisation, 
maintaining Salford’s Age Friendly City Status for another 3 years.

Age Well – the Health and Wellbeing Board has assured a number of reports, protocols 
and guidance, including:
 received a copy of email response from the Mental Health Commissioning Manager and 

the Salford Safeguarding Adults Board directly to a question from the Mental Health 
Forum about hoarding in Salford (10th October 2017),

 received and discussed AGE WELL based ‘deep dive’ discussion on a selection of the 
outcome priorities, specifically: falls in over 65’s, flu vaccination uptake and Excess 
Winter Deaths Index (13th February 2018),

 Salford Flu Vaccination Report (20th June 2017),
 Winter Resilience – urgent and Emergency Care Update (13th February 2018),

Page 79



17

There are many elements to the Age Friendly Cities work a couple of examples with case 
studies are outlined below.

Volunteer wellbeing champions:
Volunteer wellbeing champions are recruited to support wellbeing conversations across a 
programme of community and person centred approaches which is project managed by 
Inspiring Communities Together. The projects include Tech and Tea – low level digital skills 
programme, care homes, scams, falls prevention and community settings including GP’s. 
The volunteer wellbeing champions are supported by volunteer development workers 
managed by Salford CVS.

“When I first started volunteering, I wasn’t sure if I could do it regularly and efficiently due to 
my language and knowledge barriers. I couldn’t understand some of the dialects and was
struggling to have an effective conversation. I had the enthusiasm and encouragement to 
learn and improve so I participated in training courses to grasp the techniques and 
knowledge needed to perform my role. I worked with the Volunteer Development Workers 
and learnt a lot from them. Now I feel more confident and have more experience by 
continually carrying out my volunteer role. I have even encouraged my friend to join as a 
Volunteer Wellbeing champion. Compared to last year I am more active, healthier, happier 
and optimistic about the future. I was suffering from depression, anxiety and ADD for which I 
am on medication. Fortunately I feel much better now and feel peace and happiness. By 
helping others I feel I am useful and a productive member of society having a positive effect 
on the wellbeing of the neighbourhood. I have also benefitted from the training and have 
recently started the accredited Adult Level 3 Education course offered through tech and tea.”

Tech and Tea:
Tech and tea is a five week low level digital skills programme delivered across Salford in 
community venues. Participants report that “by being in contact with others – especially if 
they were unwell and could not get out – using social media could allow them to have a 
laugh and a joke to raise their mood and improve their wellbeing”.

Alex is 73 and lives in East Salford. He attended the tech and tea course at Salford Sports 
Village. Alex is surrounded by people who know how to use technology:

“My wife is a whizz on her tablet. I’ll ask her a question and she will get the answer straight 
away. My kids and my grandkids are just the same”.

He decided to attend the course; “because I was getting tired of my family joking that I was a 
fossil”.

He joined a Tech and Tea course and very quickly developed his skills on the tablet. He was 
able to learn how to Google and use the iPlayer and listen to the radio.

At the end of the course he decided to purchase a tablet. He also decided to become an ICT 
environmental volunteer, helping with community litter picks and clean up.

Page 80



18

Six steps to preventing falls community learning:
The six steps to preventing falls is the community element of the falls prevention programme 
delivered across Salford. The six steps training is delivered by Inspiring Communities 
Together a local Salford Charity. The half-day session brings together frontline workers, 
organisations, volunteers and individuals to learn about the six steps to reducing falls and 
make a pledge to promote the falls prevention message alongside making a small change of 
their own.

Feed-back from the sessions includes: “I didn’t know about the step up classes. How do l 
get signposted? I would never have thought how keeping hydrated would have an impact on 
my health. Going to change my footwear, talk to my wife and family about the 6 steps 
prevent falls booklet”.

(B) is a 78 year old male from Langworthy who walks with a walking stick that he said the 
hospital gave him, he is also the main carer for his wife who is also 78. He found out about 
the falls prevention training from a flyer in the Langworthy Cornerstone window.

When l first met B he was stacking chairs on top of each other l asked him why he was 
doing this, he answered so l can sit down the chairs were to low and he said that he wouldn’t 
be able to get up l explained that it wouldn’t be safe for him to sit on stacked chairs we made 
him more comfortable/ safe. When talking to B in more depth he said that he had had a few 
falls recently and wanted to find out more information/ help on how to prevent himself from 
having more falls, B sat through the training and was very involved and asked lots of 
questions but it became apparent that B was very unstable on his legs when it came to 
doing the simple exercises.

On the day of training we had a member of the NHS falls team present she had a 
conversation with him and he was advised of services that would benefit him, Mr B was very 
interested in attending the Step Up classes.

B has since been referred to Step up classes.

Governance and partnership working – the Health and Wellbeing Board has:
 arranged and held ‘an induction for new Board members’, providing an opportunity for 

peer learning and discussion focussing on the role of the partners around the table in 
the Board meetings and how representative members can take direct action, influence 
others, campaign, or communicate Board priorities – the output being that all Board 
members are clear of the role that they play in the business of the Health and Wellbeing 
Board, and how they can take an active part in the delivery of the Locality Plan 
outcomes (26th April 2017),

 received, discussed and approved quarterly Salford Locality Plan highlight update 
reports and risk register, incorporating Implementation Plan, Finance and Outcomes 
progress (20th June 2017, 10th October 2017, 14th November 2017 and 13th February 
2018),

 issued the STARTING POINT DATA and INTELLIGENCE – Issue Six: November 2017 
– covering tooth decay and hospital admissions for tooth extraction, research into 
avoidable mortality (highlighting the differences in the most and least deprived areas 
within Salford), the importance of completing Equality Impact Assessments, the updated 

Page 81



19

Pharmacy Needs Assessment (ensuring that the pharmacies across the city are 
providing the right services in the right locations for the residents of Salford) and finally 
a look into the Salford Standard (which describes the level of care you should expect 
when you go to a GP practice in Salford) (13th February 2018),

 received and accepted a memorandum of understanding between the Health and Social 
Care Partnership and the GM VCSE sector (20th June 2017),

 undertook and responded to GM PSR Strategic Self-Assessment (3rd October 2017),
 met on five occasions during the year, this included:
o 1 strategy-development session on Wednesday 26th April 2017, 9.30-11.30am, which 

focused upon the role and purpose of the Board (an induction for new Board 
members), providing an opportunity for peer learning and discussion focussing on the 
role of the partners around the table in the Board meetings and how representative 
members can take direct action, influence others, campaign, or communicate Board 
priorities – the output being that all Board members are clear of the role that they 
play in the business of the Health and Wellbeing Board, and how they can take an 
active part in the delivery of the Locality Plan outcomes,

o 4 business meetings on:
 Tuesday 20th June 2017, 9-11am (re-arranged from 9/5/17),
 Tuesday 10th October 2017, 2.30-4.30pm (re-arranged from 12/9/17),
 Tuesday 14th November 2017, 2-4pm,
 Tuesday 13th February 2018, 2-4pm,
which are held in public and were attended by local community and voluntary groups 
and providers and sometimes members of the public, including:

o approving a number of reports, protocols and guidance, i.e. GM-Salford(?) 
Population Health Plan proposition update, GM PSR Strategic Self-Assessment and 
GM Primary Care Reform Investment Agreement,
 discussing a number of reports, protocols and guidance, i.e. Better Care Fund 

update and Health Watch Salford – Priorities for 2017/18 and Annual Report,
 assuring a number of reports, protocols and guidance, i.e. the quarterly in-year 

implementation plan highlight report and risk register,
 receiving a range of reports, protocols and guidance for information, i.e. Salford 

Flu Vaccination Report, Memorandum of understanding between the Health and 
Social Care Partnership and the GM VCSE sector and Salford CCG Annual 
Report 2016/17.

 received, discussed and approved the ANNUAL REVIEW of Locality Plan progress 
against outcomes (2016-17), including finance update, link to outcomes and the 
implementation plan highlight report … demonstrating that we are starting to make a 
difference in terms of health outcomes and financial savings (20th June 2017),

 reviewed and agreed quarterly the Salford Health and Wellbeing Board’s Forward Plan 
(20th June 2017, 10th October 2017, 14th November 2017 and 13th February 2018 – also 
including proposed 2018/19 Forward Plan),

 undertaken focused on-going public health communications and engagement (using a 
wide range of techniques and methods) with Salford citizens, against the Locality Plan’s 
three themes: Start Well, Live Well and Age Well.

Page 82



20

Integrated and Partnership Working Case Study: Real Living Wage System

Background
The UK real Living Wage is set annually by the Living Wage Foundation and is currently 
£8.75 per hour. Salford’s Health and Wellbeing Board has found strong evidence that 
adopting the real Living Wage reduces inequalities and improves health and wellbeing at all 
stages of the life course. For employers, the real Living Wage has a significant beneficial 
impact on productivity, ease of recruitment and staff reduction. Salford is working towards 
becoming the country’s first fully Real Living Wage health and wellbeing system by 2021.

A New Approach
Over several years, Salford’s Health and Wellbeing Board has promoted the real Living 
Wage, with each member committing in mid-2015 to consider working towards: introducing 
the real Living Wage; becoming an accredited Living Wage Employer; and incorporating the 
real Living Wage within its procurement. A multi-sector Living Wage task group has taken 
the work forward, chaired by Unlimited Potential, a local social enterprise. This includes 
colleagues from the Chamber of Commerce, CCG, CVS, local authority and mental health 
trust, plus liaison with the Living Wage Foundation.

Adoption of the real Living Wage
Due to this work, 10 of the 13 members of Salford’s Health and Wellbeing Board are 
accredited Living Wage Employers and a further two members pay all staff the real Living 
Wage (though they do not currently hold accreditation). Beyond the Health and Wellbeing 
Board, at least 11 other health and social care providers from all sections operating in 
Salford are now accredited Living Wage Employers.

This work has been recognised nationally, winning the national 2018 Living Wage Champion 
Award for Industry Leadership.

OR

Real Living Wage system
The UK Living Wage is set annually by the Living Wage Foundation and is currently £8.75 
per hour. Salford’s Health and Wellbeing Board has found strong evidence that adopting the 
real Living Wage reduces inequalities and improves health and well-being at all stages of 
the life course. For employers, the real Living Wage has a significant beneficial impact on 
productivity, ease of recruitment and staff retention. Salford is working towards becoming a 
real Living Wage health and well-being system by 2021.

Over several years, Salford’s Health and Wellbeing Board has promoted the real Living 
Wage, with each member committing in mid-2015 to consider working towards: introducing 
the real Living Wage; becoming an accredited Living Wage Employer; and incorporating the 
real Living Wage within its procurement. This is reflected in Salford’s Locality Plan. A multi-
sectoral Living Wage task group has taken the work forward, chaired by Unlimited Potential, 
a local social enterprise. This includes colleagues from the Chamber of Commerce, CCG, 
CVS, local authority and mental health trust, plus liaison with the Living Wage Foundation.

Page 83



21

Due to this work, of the 13 member organisations on Salford Health and Wellbeing Board, 
by April 2018: 10 (76.9%) were accredited Living Wage Employers [44.4% in 2016]; 2 
(15.4%) paid all staff the real Living Wage, but are not accredited [33.3% in 2016]; and only 
1 (7.7%) did not pay all staff the real Living Wage [18.2% in 2016]. Beyond the Health and 
Wellbeing Board, at least 11 other health and social care providers from all sectors 
operating in Salford are now accredited Living Wage Employers.

This work has been recognised nationally, winning the national 2018 Living Wage Champion 
Award for Industry Leadership from the Living Wage Foundation.

Laurence Patrick, Finance Support Officer at NHS Salford Clinical Commissioning Group 
said “I’m doing a placement within the finance team at Salford Clinical Commissioning 
Group for a year as part of my accounting degree at Manchester Metropolitan University. 
Being paid the real Living Wage not only makes me feel like a valued member of my team 
but my dedication and hard work is paying off. Having the capacity to be able to save money 
now for when I return to my final year will really take off some financial pressure without 
having a part-time job and allow me to concentrate on my studies fully.”

Page 84



22

Integrated and Partnership Working Case Study: Big Health and Social Care Conversation

Over the summer Salford Together held a comprehensive engagement exercise with the people 
of Salford. Salford Together is the name we use to describe health and care partners coming 
together to plan and deliver integrated health and care services for adults in Salford. This 
includes Salford City Council, Salford Clinical Commissioning Group, Salford Royal NHS 
Foundation Trust, Salford Primary Care Together, Greater Manchester Mental Health and the 
Voluntary Community and Social Enterprise Sector.

The aim of the Big Health and Care Conversation was to provide early opportunities for active, 
open, dialogue on developing health and social care plans in Salford and to allow service users, 
carers and other stakeholders to input to and be involved in the transformation process.

In total 4,200 people were directly engaged with face-to-face and this was backed up by more 
than 19,000 interactions online (website and social media). From this some 1,671 Salford people 
filled in a written questionnaire providing some valuable data, which has been analysed and 
which Salford Together partners have considered as part of developing transformation plans.

Some of the key findings:
 The vast majority of people (more than 90%) were receptive to the idea of change around 

more community/ home based services
 They understand the strain on current services – something needs to change
 People resonate with the idea of maximising their own or their dependents’ independence 

by taking more self-care responsibility
 Salford Together partners need to build and maintain trust with Salford people as 

transformation plans develop in the future
 Consistency of future care for service uses/ patients is key

In addition Salford Together developed a citizen pledge concept where people were encouraged 
to consider one step they could take to make a big difference to their own/their dependents 
health and social care outcomes. A total of 1,050 formal pledges were made. This has now been 
built upon and a year-long citizen pledge campaign, promoted primarily on social media, has 
begun.

To show the Salford health and care system is also taking its responsibility to change, partners 
have also made six system pledges which have been promoted and will be constantly checked.

Quote – Keith Darragh Director of Adult Social Care (Resources) Salford Care Organisation:
“Our engagement with the Salford public as part of the Big Health and Social Care Conversation 
has shown us we are on the right path with our plans to provide more services in the community 
and wherever possible in people’s homes.”

Page 85



23

All Health and Wellbeing Board papers are available at: 
https://sccdemocracy.salford.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=164&Year=0

Page 86

https://sccdemocracy.salford.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=164&Year=0


24

DELIVERING SALFORD’S LOCALITY PLAN
The key role of the Health and Wellbeing Board in 2017/18 was to lead delivery on and of 
the Salford Locality Plan. The Board ensured that all partners had oversight of decisions 
whilst holding to account those partners and agencies with responsibility for service 
delivery and progressing transformation thereby embedding what would be required for 
on-going and future change.

What worked?
This was achieved through partnership and co-operation, consisting of:
 leadership – the Board led the process, the success of which relied upon strong 

leaders across all sectors and organisations to make it happen,
 a strengths based approach was used, ensuring that the delivery of the plan made 

use of existing community and local assets – it promoted good practice so that we 
make use of what works,

 partnership in delivery – the Board looked to build upon existing programmes, 
services, relationships and joint working through the plan,

 strong enablers have supported the plan, such as the focus on IT and voluntary, 
community and social enterprise sector leadership. Other key enablers include: 
social value (building Health and Wellbeing outcomes into wider activity), financial 
planning and workforce development,

 the plan being grounded in intelligence about Salford – making use of the latest 
data, projections and intelligence from engagement so that we value the opinions of 
patients and public alongside the data. An on-going part of the Locality Plan has 
been engagement of stakeholders – partners, service users, patients and wider 
citizens, and

 a focus on reform – the plan encourages really innovative approaches to doing 
things differently.

What could be improved?
 Our focus on risk and its management,
 Ensuring that financial performance is understood in the light of health and 

wellbeing outcomes, and
 Ensuring that resources are distributed in the most effective way across the Board’s 

partnership to maximise results.

Page 87



25

SO WHAT? – Conclusions on how the work of the Health and Wellbeing 
Board and its members is starting to make a difference for the people of 
Salford. 
The activities and case studies described in this report show the coverage of the work of 
the Board in 2017/18, of which the following demonstrate how it and its members are 
starting to make a difference:
 the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and theme updates, continue to help all 

partners to have an improved understanding of the characteristics of needs and 
assets across many sectors of the local community, thereby assisting with the 
planning of future services, resource allocation and programming across the 
partnership,

 the Locality Plan, based upon solid foundations of intelligence about the city and 
neighbourhoods, maintains a practical and relevant approach to future health and 
wellbeing in Salford, and

 whilst the health of people in Salford is generally worse than the England average 
against a basket of indicators, the general trend even against ‘red’ indicators is 
improvement.

Page 88



21

NEXT STEPS … for Salford’s Health and Wellbeing Board
Over the next year – 2018/19 – the Board needs to continue to oversee and deliver an 
integrated health and social care system in and for Salford that:
 has more community/ neighbourhood-based health services that are nearer to users 

homes (whether as a patient or carer),
 has more people accessing and using primary care facilities/ services,
 has a wider range of test and health checks available for citizens,
 contributes towards and supports better quality housing and good job opportunities, 

and
 encourages a wide-spread of care and support providers, including voluntary and 

community sector and social enterprise organisations, in addition to – or sometimes 
instead of – NHS services.

The Health and Wellbeing Board’s role in this will be:
 quarterly ‘deep dives’ around specific cross-cutting strands of our Locality Plan, 

specifically:
o Population Health Plan and Physical Activity Interventions and Salford VCSE 

Strategy,
o Mental Health Strategy – all ages,
o Neighbourhoods and their model for health and wellbeing,

 approving key system leadership pieces of work which transform the arrangements 
for health and social care in Salford, ensuring integration,

 ensuring strong partner engagement across the major transformational pieces of 
work,

 remaining focussed on people’s health and wellbeing in Salford,
 maintaining a leading role in the GM Health and Social Care ‘Taking Charge’ and 

working with other partners from across GM to deliver this.

Figure 1

Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank



SALFORD’S HEALTH AND WELL-BEING BOARD

05/02/2019         1

FORWARD PLAN 2018/19

Date and time of meeting For assurance (regular reporting) For discussion / decision For information

Tuesday 8 May, 2018

(Cancelled/ re-scheduled 26 
April 2018 for 26 June 2018) 

All items rescheduled to 26th June. 

Tuesday 26 June, 2018

2:00 4:00pm
Salford Suite, SCC

Business Meeting

 Q4/ Year End 2017/18 implementation 
plan highlight report and risk register

 Fluoridation – dental population health … the 
most appropriate actions for Salford to take in 
light of the current debate about fluoridation 
evidence

 Salford Health and Well-being Board 
governance review: review of delivery 
arrangements for the Salford locality plan

 Health Outcomes – revised targets/ measures

 Approach for 2018/19 quarterly Board meetings 
– discussion of themes

 Greater Manchester Population Health 
Outcomes Framework and Dashboard

 Healthwatch Salford – update Salford Health 
and Well-being Board on the work to make 
Healthwatch Salford ‘fit for purpose’ and to 
explore opportunities for linking it in more 
widely, i.e. how they could add value to the 
JSNA work programme by developing patient 
insight to wrap round our numbers

 2018/19 Salford Health and Well-
being Board Forward Plan

 Better Care Fund Quarter 4 2017/18 / 
Year End Performance Report

 Greater Manchester Combined 
Authority Population Health 
Programme Board – 2017/18 
Progress Review and Forward Look

 Salford Clinical Commissioning Group 
Business Plan 2018/19

 Outbreak Plan for Salford
 CQC Local Systems Review – update 

on interim findings

P
age 91

A
genda Item

 13a



SALFORD’S HEALTH AND WELL-BEING BOARD

05/02/2019         2

Date and time of meeting For assurance (regular reporting) For discussion / decision For information

Tuesday 11 September, 
2018

2:00-4:00pm
Salford Suite, SCC

Business Meeting

 Q1 2018/19 Locality plan highlight report 
and risk register.

 2018/19 Year end (Year 2) Locality Plan 
Finance update.

 Salford Population Health Priorities

 Living Wage Salford Health and Social Care 
Update

 Salford Health and Well-being Board: 2018/19 
Development Sessions and 2018/19 and 
2019/20 Forward Plan

Tuesday 13 November, 2018

2.00-4.00pm
The Lighthouse Venue, 12 
Centenary Park, Coronet 
Way, Eccles Salford, 
Manchester, M50 1RE.

Business Meeting

 Q2 2018/19 Locality plan highlight report 
and risk register and updated locality 
plan governance.

 Salford All Age Mental Health Strategy

 Housing, Health and Homelessness

 Adult Safeguarding Boards Annual Report 
VCSE Strategy and Implementation Plan, Well-
being Matters, the grants programme and wider 
work

 Carer’s charter/ model – GM and Salford 
update

 2018/19 Salford Health and Well-
being Board Forward Plan

Tuesday 12 February, 2019

2:00 – 4:00pm
Salford Suite, SCC

Business Meeting

 Q3 2018/19 Locality plan highlight report 
and risk register.

 Neighbourhoods review – person and 
community centred health, care and wider 
services 

 Carer’s charter/ model – Salford update (tbc)

 Smoking – Tobacco update (tbc)

 Salford Health and Well-being Board Annual 
Review 2017/18

 2018/19 and 2019/20 Salford Health 
and Well-being Board Forward Plan

 Salford’s Pharmaceutical Needs 
Assessment – 2018/19 Update

 Children’s Safeguarding Boards 
2017/18 Annual Report

P
age 92



SALFORD’S HEALTH AND WELL-BEING BOARD

05/02/2019         3

FORWARD PLAN 2019-20

Date and time of meeting For assurance (regular reporting) For discussion / decision For information

Tuesday 14 May, 2019

2:00 – 4:00pm
Salford Suite, SCC

Business Meeting

 Q4 2018/19 Locality plan highlight report 
and risk register.

 Commissioning for Outcomes (tbc) – future 
integrated commissioning

 HWB role review and leadership of wider 
system reform 

 HWBB priorities and meeting arrangements for 
2019-20

 North West Alzheimer’s Society (tbc)

 2019/20 Salford Health and Well-
being Board Forward Plan

 Salford Special Education Need 
Annual Report 2017/18

Tuesday 10 September, 
2019

2:00 – 4:00pm
Salford Suite, SCC

Business Meeting

 Q1 2019/20 Locality plan highlight report 
and risk register.

 2019/20 Year end (Year 3) Locality Plan 
Finance update and forward look

 North West Alzheimer’s Society (tbc)

 Housing, Health and Homelessness update 
report (tbc)

 2019/20 Salford Health and Well-
being Board Forward Plan

Tuesday 12 November, 2019

2:00 – 4:00pm
Salford Suite, SCC

Business Meeting

 Q2 2019/20 Locality plan highlight report 
and risk register.

 tbc  2019/20 Salford Health and Well-
being Board Forward Plan

Tuesday 11 February, 2020

2:00 – 4:00pm
Salford Suite, SCC

Business Meeting

 Q3 2019/20 Locality plan highlight report 
and risk register.

 tbc

 Salford All Age Mental Health Strategy update 
report

 Salford’s Safeguarding Adult Board update 
report

 2019/20 and 2020/21 Salford Health 
and Well-being Board Forward Plan

P
age 93



SALFORD’S HEALTH AND WELL-BEING BOARD

05/02/2019         4

 Salford’s VCSE Strategies and Agreements 
update report

PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT SESSIONS 2018/19

Date and time of 
meeting

Purpose, Content and Output of sessions

Autumn 2018: 11th 
December 2018 2-4pm 
(Salford Suite at Salford 
City Council)

Focus: Health City

Lead contact(s): Gunjit Bandesha

Purpose: Explore the national and international best practice to build healthy cities and Salford’s response to address health inequality.

Spring 2019: 12th March 
2019 2-4pm (Salford 
Suite at Salford City 
Council)

Focus: Green assets, physical activity and wellbeing

Lead contact(s): Gillian Mclauchlan

Purpose: tbc

PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT SESSIONS 2019/20

Date and time of 
meeting

Purpose, Content and Output of sessions

Focus: 

Lead contact(s): 

Purpose: 

Focus: 

Lead contact(s): 

Purpose: 

P
age 94



Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (PNA) – Supplementary Statement

In line with the statutory duty of the Health and Wellbeing Board to publish changes such as 
a new pharmacy or a change in provision or closure in their PNA below is a copy of changes 
since the last statement was published.

A number of personnel changes have taken place since the last statement was published. 
This has resulted in a delay in publication of the agreed six-monthly statement. This latest 
statement is scheduled to be published on the day of the Health and Wellbeing Board   
meeting, 12 February 2019.
 ____________________________________________________________________

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (PNA) – Supplementary Statement

12th February 2019

Salford City Council
Salford Civic Centre, 
Chorley Road, 
Swinton, 
Salford, 
M27 5AW

Date Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment published – 1st  April 2017

Date this Supplementary Statement issued – 12th February 2019
Dates of previous supplementary statements published – 6th March 2018

The following items have been identified (in bold) as need corrections, clarification, service 
provision or premise details update.  This updated information supersedes some of the original 
documentation within the PNA (published 1st April 2017) as indicated, and should be read in 
conjunction with that document and with previous update statements.  The changes detailed 
here do not affect the conclusions of the PNA.

ADDITIONAL PHARMACIES
None

ADDITIONAL DISTANCE SELLING PHARMACIES
1) Active Pharmacare Limited

Address of premises: Victoria House, 122 Great Clowes Street, Salford, M7 1RN
Trading hours: 09:00 to 17:00 Monday to Friday
Ward: Broughton

Page 95

Agenda Item 13b



Date of change:  23rd July 2018

PHARMACIES WHICH HAVE CLOSED
None

CHANGES TO PHARMACY OWNERSHIP AND TRADING NAME
Current Name: Queen Street Pharmacy Limited (Trading as Spring Field 
Pharmacy)
Previous Name: Varun Jairath (Trading as Springfield Pharmacy)
Address: 384 Liverpool Road, Eccles, M30 8QD
Ward: Winton
Date of change: 30th November 2018

 
CHANGES TO PHARMACY LOCATIONS
None

CHANGES TO PHARMACY OPENING HOURS
None

CHANGES TO LOCALLY COMMISSIONED SERVICES
None

UPDATED MAP OF PHARMACY LOCATIONS
Not required – the changes are not significant.

Page 96



Page 1 of 2 

 
 
Councillor Gina Reynolds and Dr Tom Tasker  
Salford Health & Well-Being Board, 
Unity House,  
Salford Civic Centre,  
Chorley Road 
Swinton, 
M27 5AW 
 
8th January 2019 
 
Dear Councillor Reynolds and Dr Tasker, 
 
The SSCB Annual Report 2017-2018 was published Monday 7th January 2019 and is available to 
download from www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb/annualreport.htm.  
 
The Independent Chair must ‘publish an annual report on the effectiveness of child safeguarding and 
promoting the welfare of children in the local area. The report must be submitted to the City Director, 
The elected Mayor, the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chair of the Health and Wellbeing 
Board.’1   
 
The annual report provides a rigorous and transparent assessment of the impact and effectiveness of 
local services to safeguard children in Salford. It identifies key achievements, challenges and proposals 
for action. The report sets out key areas we will seek assurance on from other strategic partnerships and 
partners and themed priorities for 2018-19 to enhance multi-agency safeguarding practice in Salford: 
 

Themed Priority Areas 2018-19 
 

1. Neglect 
2. Sexual Abuse and Exploitation  
3. Missing from Home, Care and Education  
4. Complex Safeguarding  
 
Key Assurance Areas 2018-19 
 
1. Early Help 
2. Children Affected by Domestic Abuse 
3. Emotional Health and Wellbeing 
 
It is of key importance that you, as a key leader for the city endorse the vision, consider the report and 
provide your support for the assurance areas and themed priorities.  

                                            

1 This is a statutory requirement under section 14A of the Children Act 2004. 

 Salford Safeguarding Children Board 
 Sutherland House  
 303 Chorley Road, Swinton  
 Salford, M27 6AY 

 Phone 0161 603 4322 

 Fax 0161 603 4343 

 email  sscb@salford.gov.uk 

 Web  www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb 

 My Ref   
 Your Ref  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 97

Agenda Item 13c

http://www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb/annualreport.htm
mailto:???@salford.gov.uk
http://www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb


 
I would welcome any suggestions you have on how the Board can work more effectively with other 
strategic bodies. Please contact me if you require any further information or have any comments to 
make for the Board to consider.  
 
Finally, I would like to thank all the frontline staff and managers across all agencies in Salford for their 
work in safeguarding children. The Board recognises that the effectiveness of safeguarding is dependent 
on the quality and co-ordination of the work of those people in direct contact with children, young 
people and families.  
 
Yours sincerely 
 

 
 
Simon Westwood 
Independent Chair 
Salford Safeguarding Children Board 
 
CC Chris Howl, Policy and Equality Officer, Policy Research and Partnerships Team  
 
 
 

Page 98



1 | P a g e  
 

 
  

 SSCB 
Annual Report  
2017-2018 
  
 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Address: Salford Safeguarding Children Board, Sutherland House, 303 Chorley Road, Swinton, M27 6AY 
Tel: 0161 603 4322 Email: SSCB@salford.gov.uk Web: www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb Page 99

mailto:SSCB@salford.gov.uk
http://www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb


           SSCB Annual Report 2017-18 

 

2 | P a g e  
 

Contents 
 

Foreword  
 
Section 1: Progress on Business Plan Priority and Key Assurance Areas 2017-2018  
 
Priority Area 1: Neglect 
Priority Area 2: Sexual Abuse and Exploitation  
Priority Area 3: Missing from Home, Care and Education  
Priority Area 4: Complex Safeguarding 
 
Assurance Area 1: Early Help  
Assurance Area 2: Children Affected by Domestic Abuse  
Assurance Area 3: Emotional Health and Wellbeing   
 
Other Sub-group Activity: 

 Case Review and Audit Sub-group 

 Performance and Quality Assurance Sub-group 

 Child Death Overview Panel  

 Strategic Training Sub-group 
 

Section 2: Planning for the Future   

 Key Assurance Areas and Themed Priorities 2018-2019 
 

Section 3: Glossary and Appendices  

 Glossary  

 Appendix 1: Membership  

 Appendix 2: Statutory Board Members Attendance 2017-18 

 Appendix 3: Board Structure 2016-2018  

 Appendix 4: Budget 2017-2018  

 Appendix 5: Organisational Structure - Governance and Accountability Arrangements  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 100



           SSCB Annual Report 2017-18 

 

3 | P a g e  
 

Foreword  
 

 This is the final year that we will publish an Annual Report as Salford Safeguarding Children Board 
(SSCB).  The report for 18-19 will be published by the new partnership in accordance with the new 
Working Together to Safeguard Children 2018.  
 
I am proud to have been the Independent Chair since 2014 and that the SSCB was judged good by 
Ofsted in 2015. We have continued to sustain improvements in safeguarding children through 
effective partnership working and I want to commend all members of the Board for their continued 
support in prioritising safeguarding children in the work of their agencies. 

 
A key purpose of this report is to assess the impact of the work undertaken in 2017-18 on safeguarding outcomes for 
children and young people in Salford.  Some positive highlights are:  

 We have refreshed our Thresholds of Need and Response 2018. This now includes a Lead Professional 
Handbook. 

 Our understanding of the impact of early help services is improving across the city.  642 families have been 
supported through Salford’s multi-agency early help offer to sustain improved outcomes 

 We have developed a 7 Minute Briefing to help practitioners recognise and respond to child neglect.  

 The CAMHS single point of contact pilot is supporting professionals to make appropriate referrals and this has 
increased the proportion of acceptances into CAMHS 

 We have hosted a complex safeguarding conference ‘Exploitation in Salford’ for practitioners. This enabled us 
to increase the understanding of a range of complex safeguarding issues 

 Over 1800 delegates accessed an SSCB course, seminar or learning event.  
 

We can never eliminate risk entirely. We need to be as confident as we can be that every child is supported to live in 
safety, free from abuse and neglect. Some key challenges facing us for the future are: 
 

 An increasing number of complex referrals and the impact on caseloads and waiting lists for early help services. 

 Significant demand on children’s mental health services and waiting times pressures  

 In relation to complex safeguarding, contributing to and integrating regional developments whilst driving local 
activity 

 Ensuring a smooth transition to the new Multi-Agency Safeguarding Partnership in 2018-19 
 

Despite these challenges the Board is assured that, whilst there are areas for improvement, agencies are working well 
together to safeguard children in Salford. 
 
Simon Westwood,  
Independent Chair, SSCB 
 
 

 

Page 101

https://www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb/7minutebriefings.htm


           SSCB Annual Report 2017-18 

 

4 | P a g e  
 

 

 

Section 2:  

Progress on Business Plan  

Priority and Assurance Areas 2017-2018 
 

 

Page 102



           SSCB Annual Report 2017-18 

 

5 | P a g e  
 

 

Background  

The Neglect Task and Finish Group reports to the Coordination and Delivery Group and provides assurance reports on 
effectiveness of neglect activity via themed Boards. 
 
In 2017-18: 

 At 31 March 2018 130 (37.5%) children subject to protection plans were under the category of neglect. This 
remains one of the highest categories.  
 

Key Achievements 2017-18 
 Continued to oversee the Subgroup Work Plan 2017-2019  
 Hosted a Practitioner Forum on 27th September 2017 regarding Neglect to promote the Multi Agency Risk 

Assessment Model (MARAM) tools  

 Developed a 7 Minute Briefing in September 2017 to help practitioner recognise and respond to child neglect.  
 The MARAM tools including the Graded Care Profile (GCP) have been added to the secure upload site for 

practitioners to easily download and use to inform assessments. It will be promoted in the refreshed 
Thresholds of Need and Response 2018  

 Training continues to be updated to reflect learning from case reviews and research. 

 Planning for Social Care to incorporate the GCP on Care First to include within assessments 

 Reviewed the learning from MSCB SCR Child F1 regarding nutritional neglect and child obesity  

 Developed TOR for a multi-agency practice audit of neglect cases. To ensure identification and assessment of 
neglect is consistent and integral to the working of the Bridge.  

 Supported the development of a GM Neglect strategy to tackle child neglect regionally  

 Continued to support the DFE ‘Together, we can tackle child abuse' campaign to encourage the public to 
reporting safeguarding concerns.  
 

What difference has it made?  
 The Outreach Team routinely use the Home Conditions Tool on referrals from the Bridge to ascertain the 

correct threshold for intervention. 

 The MARAM tools can be attached to a child’s information stored with the LA 
 Case studies based on work undertaken and coordinated by Early Intervention have provided evidence of 

positive feedback from parents regarding outcomes  

 The work has informed the Children’s Obesity Strategic Plan 2017-23 and Public Health Strategic Manager - 
Start Well is now represented on the Neglect Sub-group. 

 We can now report on both the number of Graded Care Profiles uploaded via the secure upload and those 
completed on CareFirst.  
 

Key Challenges  
 Low nomination and attendance at the MARAM seminars and Neglect Training 
 To better understand and evidence the impact on practice 

 GCP is not consistently used to inform assessments  and reviewed at all levels of the threshold 

 No agreed definition of Neglect below the Child Protection threshold makes it is difficult to count incidences. A 
process is pending for all cases where escalation of a case is considered by Early Help.   

 Developing an effective suite of neglect performance data and aligning to the proposed GM dataset.  

 Number of trainers to deliver training in respect of the use of MARAM tools.  

 Delivery of the GM strategy action plan is on hold because there isn’t regional commitment to progress and GM 
Safeguarding Partnership will end April 2018.  

Priority Area 1: Neglect 

Page 103

https://www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb/multiagencyriskassessmentmodeltools.htm
https://www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb/multiagencyriskassessmentmodeltools.htm
https://www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb/7minutebriefings.htm
https://www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb/multiagencyriskassessmentmodeltools.htm
https://www.salford.gov.uk/secureupload
https://www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb/Thresholds.htm
https://www.manchestersafeguardingboards.co.uk/resource/serious-case-reviews/


           SSCB Annual Report 2017-18 

 

6 | P a g e  
 

 Impact of welfare reform sanctions on families in Salford e.g. risk of homelessness 
 

Priorities 2018-19 
Refresh the local Neglect Strategy and subgroup work plan to include the following:  

 Review the local response to child neglect. This should include the effectiveness of MARAM tools and legal 
advice.  

 Ensure all partners embed and consistently use the MARAM tools to good effect 

 Promote the newly developed early help pathway for managing neglect where use of tools and interventions is 
linked to the I-Thrive model. 

 Continue to identify and support agency neglect champions  

 Ensure the Early Help- Neglect Audit is completed, findings disseminated to partners and recommendations 
incorporated into a consolidated action plan which will be monitored by the Early Help Steering Group. 

 Benchmark Salford against the findings in Growing up neglected: a multi-agency response to older children 

 Review training to ensure Safe Sleep messages are sufficiently embedded 

 Continue to review the neglect dataset to ensure accurate and meaningful e.g. Report on the use of Graded 
Care profiles and the MARAM tools by multi-agency teams 

 Develop a local campaign to raise awareness of the signs, symptoms and impact and prevent child neglect. 

 Continue to encourage multi-agency attendance Neglect and MARAM training 

 Ensure the recommendations from SCR F1 inform the subgroup work plan and refresh of the local obesity 
strategy.  

 Attend Research in Practice training re Poverty, inequality, neglect: building strategic thinking September 2018 

 Consider Educational Neglect and seek assurance from the Education on Track pilot project 

 Consider neglect of older children and a focus on trauma-based approaches to tackle it 
 

Additional Information: 
 www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb/neglectsubgroup.htm 

 www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb/gradedcareprofile.htm 

 
Steve Canning 
District Service Manager, Locality Teams, Salford Children's Services 
Interim Neglect Task and Finish Group Chair  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 104

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/growing-up-neglected-a-multi-agency-response-to-older-children
https://www.manchestersafeguardingboards.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/08/2018-05-15-MSCB-Child-F1-SCR-published.pdf
http://www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb/neglectsubgroup.htm
http://www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb/gradedcareprofile.htm


           SSCB Annual Report 2017-18 

 

7 | P a g e  
 

 

Background 
Child sexual exploitation (CSE) and abuse and remains a key priority area for the SSCB. We know there are strong links 
between CSE and children who go missing from home, care or education. Missing is a standing item at the CSE and 
Abuse (CSE/A) Subgroup. Please see Priority Area 3 for more information.  
 
January 2018 the Board agreed e-safety fits into this remit and a separate sub-group is no longer needed.  
 

Key Achievements 2017-18 
 Reviewed the CSE and CSA Strategy 2017-2020  
 Reviewed the CSE local pathway 

 Developed an operational handbook  
 Implemented the GMP Op Drachma (Paedophile Vigilante response) 

 Commissioned an update to the Salford District CSE problem profile to support the work of the multi-agency Op 
Phoenix team. 

 From 1st September 2017 Salford now has a stand-alone CSE response under the GM Op Phoenix banner. They are 
located at Swinton Police Station. The team which consists of 1 detective sergeant and 5 detective constables’ work 
in partnership with a social care manager, social worker and a youth worker. 

 Terms of reference for the Op Phoenix team were agreed by the CSE/A Sub-group. 
 Op Phoenix team have a daily review meeting and communication with the Bridge. 
 Salford Phoenix team have continued to engage in peer reviews with Manchester Phoenix team. 
 Continue to support regional CSE weeks of action (sport- June 2017 and social media safety- July 2018), and 

promote national campaigns materials e.g. DfE - Together, we can tackle child abuse  
 Utilised case studies from investigations to develop understanding and learning.  
 Paedophile hunter investigations are managed by the Phoenix Team. Examination of the offender’s electronic 

equipment is reviewed to identify further offending, potential other victims and to support safeguarding. 
 Op Phoenix Team are looking for opportunities to utilise civil powers. 
 Op Phoenix Team have close links with the Op Gulf OCG Team and feature in the monthly OCG governance 

structure at Swinton Police Station. 
 A CSE intelligence tracker was introduced to ensure that all CSE intelligence is appropriately progressed. 
 Contributed to the Greater Manchester CSE Assurance Exercise November 2017 

 

What difference has it made?  
 All children open to Salford Phoenix receive; a multi-agency risk assessment subject to intelligence-based review. A 

bespoke plan detailing support and prevention throughout the period Phoenix intervention exists, a dedicated 
Phoenix officer and social worker. A Phoenix officer to oversee any unrelated criminal or MFH investigations that 
may occur in addition to existing cases to ensure the fullest picture of that child is known. In the event they are 
reported MFH a bespoke trigger plan / background briefing summary to enable the most effective primary 
response. An individual framework for each child concerning return safe and well visits to maximise opportunities 
to understand the circumstances and obtain relevant intelligence to improve future safeguarding. Multi-agency 
assessments prior to leaving Phoenix, to review work and ensure no opportunities remain. 

 Having a Salford based Phoenix team has seen greater visibility within Salford. The team engage with local Police 
and Bridge meetings daily. 

 The work is part of daily and monthly governance structures to ensure that work is progressed appropriately. 
 For children highlighted as vulnerable to CSE, trigger plans are now in place if they were to go MFH. 
 The MFH team visits ensure that the appropriate assessments are in place and appropriate information / 

intelligence is shared. 
 The use of case studies in the CSE/A sub group has been useful to generate learning for partners and to consider 

other areas of work, such as intelligence around computer repair shops. 

Priority Area 2: Sexual Abuse and Exploitation   

Page 105

http://www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb/cse.htm
http://www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb/cse.htm
http://www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb/cse.htm


           SSCB Annual Report 2017-18 

 

8 | P a g e  
 

 

Key Challenges 
 An increase in demand regarding Vigilante groups puts pressure on resources.  
 The move from OP Avert and Protect to a Salford based Phoenix team will require support from the sub-group to 

ensure a bespoke Salford response to CSE investigation and safeguarding. 
 Accuracy of data and intelligence gaps continue as an issue. Moving forward intelligence development and 

increasing intelligence flow will be a key driver to the work of the sub group. 
 Social media plays a key role in a large proportion of offences, and increases can be seen in ‘sexting’ and ‘peer on 

peer.  
 The cost and speed of the examination electronic equipment of victim and perpetrator will continue to be an issue 

for the Op Phoenix team. 
 

Priorities 2018-19 
 Op Phoenix Team to inform the development of a Complex Safeguarding Hub 

 Consider developing a learning disability pathway 

 To continue to work and develop the CSE/A dataset to ensure accurate and meaningful  

 To continue to work closely with the Local Authority MFH team.  
 

Additional Information: 
 www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb/cse 

 www.itsnotokay.co.uk/ 

Chris Packer 
Detective Chief Inspector, Salford Division, Greater Manchester Police 
Sexual Abuse and Exploitation Sub-group Chair 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 106

http://www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb/cse
http://www.itsnotokay.co.uk/


           SSCB Annual Report 2017-18 

 

9 | P a g e  
 

 
 

 

 
 

Background  
The Missing from Home (MFH) Team provide independent, face to face support for children and young people up to the 
age of 18yrs who have been reported missing either from home, care or education.  
 
Children Missing from Education (CME) is overseen by the EWS coordinator to ensure all referred cases are actively 
being tracked, monitored and recoded appropriately. CME is a standing item at monthly operational MFH meetings.  
 
We know there are strong links between CSE and children who go missing. MFH is a standing item at the Sexual Abuse 
and Exploitation Sub-group. Please see also see Priority Area 2 for more information.  
 
In 2017-18: 

 1160 episodes of children in Salford were reported MFH to GMP, a 21% reduction compared to 2016-17.  

 95% of return interviews were completed with 81.39% being completed within 72 hours of the Police notification.  

 333 CME were reported which is slightly higher than the 320 recorded in 2016-17 
 

Achievements 2017-18  
Missing from Home and Care 

 MFH Service provided themed assurance to SSCB Coordination and Delivery Group July 2017 

 Quarterly reports are scrutinised at the Sexual Abuse and Exploitation Sub-group  

 All return interviews continue to be quality assured by the MFH Practice Manager. 

 Sharing of intelligence between the MFH team and Police continues to enable successful disruption/ prevention 
work. 

 Provide a coordinated and robust response towards the placing authority when their Looked After Child (LAC) 
has been reported missing, including the sharing of intelligence and statutory planning.  

• Regular meetings with partner agencies to devise disruption plans and to share intelligence 
• Established links with the National Probation Service. This has proven to be a valuable source of information when 

finding out about significant adults involved with the missing person  
• The weekly multi-agency MFH group continues to provide a good basis for information sharing and to promptly 

identify services for young people and their families. This also continues to be a good platform to challenge and 
influence care plans of young people at risk in order to address and minimize their missing episodes. 

• Continued to develop and update missing person profiles to assist with disruptions in the local area 
• MFH seminar continues to be delivered in Salford. 
• Developed a MFH safety plan template with guidance. This continues to be tested out with children’s homes and 

parents. Initial feedback is positive.  
• MFH Practice manager can now access police data and systems to enable more information gathering of young 

people, their families and associates. 
• Developed a local pathways for MFH/Care and referral pathway for Footsteps 
• Improved links with private providers regarding children placed out of area and go missing 
• Built on links with other local authorities who place looked after children in Salford to agree responsibilities and 

ensure information is shared when other agencies are commissioned to complete return interviews 
• Distributed MFH leaflets to practitioners and the community 
• Localised the MFH Risk Assessment Plan template  
• Developed a MFH step by step guide for practitioners 
• Audited the effectiveness of the MFH Service and multi-agency responses. This links to the recommendations for 

Child MT.  
• Represented Salford on the GM MFH Strategic Group which monitors the implementation of the GM MFH action 

plan 
 

Priority Area 3: Missing from Home, Care and Education  
 

Page 107

https://www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb/7minutebriefings.htm


           SSCB Annual Report 2017-18 

 

10 | P a g e  
 

 
 

Children Missing from Education (CME) 

 Regular CME team meetings to review the processes and implement learning  

 Agencies can now complete an online referral form to notify the Local Authority of CME or if a child is not 
receiving suitable education provision.  

 School Attendance Orders are now in force in Salford working in partnership with Elective Home Education. 

 Developed IT systems to include alerts to ensure cases are reviewed regularly 

 Drafted CME and EHE 7 minute briefings 
 

What difference has it made?  
Missing from Home and Care 

 Feedback from the MFH service, children and social workers provides acknowledgment of the impact of 
disruptions to family homes and areas causing concern. This disrupts inappropriate links between missing 
person and their harbourers or instigates further assessments.  

 The seminars, road shows and national media messages have increased general awareness about reporting 
young people MFH. Professionals and adults within the community have become increasingly accustomed and 
willing to share information and intelligence which is gathered so disruption to homes harbouring missing 
person can take place quickly before a MFH routine is established.  

 The ability to visit homes during the evening while primary carers and missing person are present has increased 
their awareness of their responsibility to keep their children safe.  

 ‘Of the 30 cases audited for the interim report , MFH did not become a significant recurring issue for 21 children 
(70%)…detailed return interviews from the MFH Service do act as a deterrent to young people from going missing 
again…it is reasonable to assume that a reduction in the numbers of young people being reported MFH equates 

to an increase in the safety of these young people’1  

 The Footsteps project and Unity Radio have assisted in reducing the MFH episodes. Final evaluations are pending.  
 
Children Missing from Education (CME) 

 Having a team to carry out this function has reduced the risk of gaps in the service.  

 No longer have to wait for a home visit request from a partner agency 

 Not had to issue any formal attendance order. The final warning letter has been successful and supported 3 
children back into education.  

 

Key Challenges  
Missing from Home and Care 

 GMP has not abandoned the use of the absent category which will increase MFH episodes across the GM. 

 Reduced evening service because GMP have withdrawn the Police Officer and MFH car  

 Police availability to undertake joint disruptions during the evening and attending in full uniform.  
 Difficult to evidence impact on outcomes for children 

 Contingency planning by the placing authority and a lack of specialist work to address the vulnerability.  

 When children are placed in Salford from outside local authorities there is often a lack of information sharing 
e.g. notifications received and independent agencies/charities completing return interviews  

 No police MFH notifications received automatically for young people being placed outside of Salford.  

 Inconsistencies about the Tier 1 and 2 meetings taking place and the minutes being available on the system.  

 LAC young people classified as ‘missing’ when their whereabouts are known.  

 Some schools reporting MFS when they have neglected to contact parents in the first instance and not 
consistently identifying MFS as playing truant. 

 
Children Missing from Education (CME) 

 Increase in CME notifications – this is a continuing trend.  

 Children might have been taken off the school roll ‘unlawfully’  

                                                           
1 Missing from Home Final Report, April 2018 

Page 108

https://www.salford.gov.uk/schools-and-learning/info-for-parents-students-and-teachers/school-attendance-behaviour-and-welfare/children-missing-education/
https://www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb/7minutebriefings.htm


           SSCB Annual Report 2017-18 

 

11 | P a g e  
 

 Parents may choose home education to avoid prosecution  

 Implementation and monitoring of School Attendance Order’s 

 Engaging with diverse communities  

Priorities 2018-19 
Missing from Home and Care 

 Evaluate the Footsteps pilot and Unity Radio project 

 Establish service user feedback mechanisms to enable the experiences of young people to inform the service 

 Investigate if lack of police support has impacted on the disruption ability. 

 Implement the recommendations from the MFH Audit April 2018 

 Continue embedding the use of Tier 1 and 2 MFH meetings and challenge services when these meetings hit the 
criteria but are not convened  

 Consider recruiting a student to increase capacity. 

 Develop a MFH schools policy and flow chart  
 

Children Missing from Education (CME) 

 Attend the regional CME meetings to share and develop best practice  

 Develop and deliver a CME/EHE seminar for partner agencies  

 Support the development of a GM CME policy and develop a local referral pathway 

 Publish and promote the 7 minute briefings 

 Work with agencies to effectively support ethnic minorities, asylum seekers, refugees and Gypsy Roma 
Travellers 

 

Additional Information 
 www.gmsafeguardingchildren.co.uk/missing 

 www.salford.gov.uk/schools-and-learning/info-for-parents-students-and-teachers/ 
 

Phil Varghese 
Service Manager Next Steps (Leaving Care Service) 
Missing from Home Operational Group Chair    
 
Gail Leach  
Business Manager, Education Welfare Service (EWS) 
 
Nicola Walsh 
EWS Coordinator 
 
  
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 109

http://www.gmsafeguardingchildren.co.uk/missing
http://www.salford.gov.uk/schools-and-learning/info-for-parents-students-and-teachers/


           SSCB Annual Report 2017-18 

 

12 | P a g e  
 

 
 

 
 

Background  
The Complex Safeguarding Task and Finish Group coordinates local assurance regarding prevent, modern slavery, 
serious and organised crime, female genital mutilation (FGM) and emerging safeguarding issues.  
 

 Organised Crime Coordination Unit (OCCU) sits within Programme Challenger and leads on tackling all forms of 
organised crime in GM. Serious and organised crime is coordinated in Salford by Project Gulf which is a 
thematic subgroup under CSP. Links with Programme Challenger and the GM lead for Complex Safeguarding 
continue to improve and inform local responses. 

 The FGM Task and Finish Group is accountable to the TDAB and reports to the SSCB via the Complex 
Safeguarding Task and Finish Group. The FGM Task and Finish Group is represented at the GM FGM Forum. 
FGM task and finish group links into the GM Safeguarding Partnership work via the complex safeguarding task 
and finish group.  

 Counter Terrorism in Salford is managed by the Prevent and Channel Oversight Panel which sits under the 
Community Safety Partnership (CSP). Panel continues to meet every six weeks to review referrals and agree 
interventions for individuals vulnerable to extremism. The Programme Board for the CSP provides scrutiny. 

In 2017-18: 

 171 modern slavery crimes were recorded in GM in 2017. There has been a year-on-year steady increase since 
2012. Salford was the primary location for 13% (22).  

 79 referrals into the Bridge Partnership where FGM was a feature.   
 

Key Achievements 2017-18 
 Reviewed the complex safeguarding task and finish group TOR and SSAB and CSP are now represented. 

 Regular updates from Programme Challenger 

 Beds in Sheds seminars and developed a 7 minute briefing  

 Hosted a complex safeguarding conference ‘Exploitation in Salford’ for practitioners 22nd March 2018. This 
included emerging safeguarding such as County Lines.  

 Supported Trapped Week of Action – October 2017 #FindAWayOut a campaign to stop criminal gangs from 
grooming children and vulnerable adults to commit crime.Developing a local complex safeguarding hub 

 
Modern Slavery 

 Promoted the Barnardo's Independent Child Trafficking Advocacy (ITA) Service to boost referral levels 

 Reviewed the complex safeguarding dataset. Operation Challenger provides GM modern slavery data which is 
helping to build an intelligence picture. Identification and reporting is improving.  
 

Organised Crime  

 Updated the Serious and Organised Crime Salford Local Profile December 2017 

 Refreshed the Project Gulf Delivery Plan  

 Worked in partnership with Crimestoppers to develop a local fearless campaign #standupforsalford 

 12 secondary schools engaged in a drama production competition. The overall winner was Harrop Fold School, 
whose performance focused on domestic violence in gang relationships. This was made into a film by UTC 
Media City College and shared on social media. 

 Supported County Lines Awareness Week - 23 to 29 October 2017- trapped campaign  

 7 Salford secondary schools watched a drama production called Terriers in October 2017 

 Delivered 3 Post Traumatic Stress Disorder awareness training sessions to over 80 front line staff. 

 STEER a youth engagement program, which is run by Salford Foundation, has worked with 15 young men in its 
first year and another 13 are currently being helped.  

 

Priority Area 4: Complex Safeguarding 
 

Page 110

https://www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb/7minutebriefings.htm
https://www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb/complexsafeguarding.htm
https://twitter.com/hashtag/findawayout


           SSCB Annual Report 2017-18 

 

13 | P a g e  
 

FGM 

 Continued to coordinate local work incorporating the GM strategy and the national emerging statutory 
guidance, work streams and safeguarding issues related to FGM.  

 A Salford Adult FGM pathway and a FGM health pathway have agreed via the SSCB and the Tackling Domestic 
Abuse Board (TDAB).   

 Local Health Trusts and Primary Care continue to report FGM via the HSCIC national reporting system to the 
Dept of Health. Salford continued to be performing well in comparison to other areas with their numbers of 
identified and reported cases.  

 Information on identified FGM cases is captured within the quarterly SSCB integrated performance report.  
 FGM deep dive audit of cases referred into the Bridge Partnership looked at the outcomes of cases for children 

and families. It evidences the needs of vulnerable cohorts in the city and findings have informed the Task and 
Finish Group work plan. 

 Continued to review the local single agency and SSCB multi-agency training available  

 GM Sexual Assault Referral Centre provision continues to be commissioned and delivered by AFRUCA and 
NESTAC to support children referred for FGM.  

 Continued to locally promote the Guardian Project to improve awareness  
 Refreshed the FGM 7 Minute Briefing in support of the International Day of Zero Tolerance 6th February 2018  

 FGM featured in the local Complex Safeguarding Conference March 2018. 
 Developing a local FGM multi-agency screening tool 

 
Prevent  

 Contributed to the GMCA Commission to review the work that is currently being to tackle and confront hateful 
extremism  

 Supported national and regional Hate Crime Awareness Weeks #westandtogether 

 Contributed to the GM Community Recover Group established post the Arena attack to coordinate activity and 
share community cohesion good practice. 

 Developed a multi-agency pool of Prevent WRAP trainers to deliver training.  

 Managing successful events for GM Hate Crime Awareness week, where over 1200 people participated.  

 Extended Prevent duty to Children’s commissioned services.  

 Refreshed the local Prevent strategy action plan  

 Community Cohesion Working Group managed tensions in the community 

 Disseminated a schools survey to self-assess their awareness of prevent and identify areas of improvement  

 Provided a counter terrorism profile briefing to SSCB members January 2018 

 Reviewed the local multi-agency violent extremism policy  
 

What difference has it made? 
 Complex Safeguarding Conference Feedback “The speakers were excellent particularly Stop the Traffic, County 

Lines and Welfare Reforms presentations. Overall a great day with lots of positive learning” Salford CCG  

 The increase in modern slavery enquiries is undoubtedly due to the focused efforts of Programme Challenger 
and our partners to improve our collective understanding of criminal exploitation through training, awareness, 
campaigns, social media and events such as this. 
 

Prevent  

 Awareness raising across all sectors ensures appropriate referrals. 

 Activities commissioned to improve community cohesion have had positive results. For example the 
neighbourhood project with Lark Hill School and the Foundation 4 Peace. Feedback from teachers included: 
 “This project will work amazingly well for some of our year 5/6 boys” and “Can this project run throughout the 
community”.  

 Due to the frequency and multi-agency attendance of the Channel Panel, cases are assessed quickly and 
appropriate support is offered.  

 
 
 

Page 111



           SSCB Annual Report 2017-18 

 

14 | P a g e  
 

Organised Crime  

 One young man had been arrested for stealing a car and anti-social behaviour and whose school attendance had 
dropped to 28%. Since working with the project he has gained a place on a pre-apprenticeship course achieving 
90% attendance and winning praise from his tutors. He now plans to pursue a trade apprentice and says the 
project has hugely improved his life and prospects.2 
 

FGM  

 Safeguarding referrals made to the Bridge where FGM was indicated to be a feature continue to increase due to 
the increased knowledge and recognition of partners, professionals and communities around FGM.  

 

Key Challenges  
 Complex safeguarding is an emerging landscape and difficult to identify  

 Contributing to and integrating regional developments whilst driving local activity  

 Intelligence picture is underdeveloped – we need more input from communities and frontline professionals 

 Understanding the impact of welfare reform on families in Salford  

 Children often don’t see themselves as victims and the child might be a victim, an offender, or both 

 Establishing clear Governance and ensuring the lead partnership Board drives local activity with support from 
SSCB and SSAB  

Organised Crime  

 The increasing use of knives by young people  

 Organised crime groups increasing use of young people to facilitate county drug lines. 
 

FGM 

 Quality assurance of local data recording of activity.  

 Level of regional and local service provision available to meet the needs of individuals and communities.  

 Engagement with public and communities  

Prevent  

 To develop and deliver community cohesion activities despite budgetary constrictions 

 To align Prevent and Channel processes with project Dovetail  

 Increase in referrals to Prevent and Channel Oversight Panel and hate crime incidents 

 Data for radicalisation and extremism is limited and no mechanism to monitor activity on a regional basis 

 Right wing extremism is prevalent in some parts of GM.  

Priorities 2018-19 
 Ensure representation on the GM Complex Safeguarding Steering Group  

 Publish the complex safeguarding event resource pack 

 Ensure each strand under complex safeguarding has a local strategy and work plan 

 Align local activity to the Police and Crime Plan March 2018 and GM Complex Safeguarding Strategy in 
development   

 Integrate the subgroups of the Children’s and Adult Safeguarding Board and Community Safety Partnership  

 Ensure the business case for the complex safeguarding hub is shared with SSCB and SSAB. 

 Further develop robust local data reporting mechanisms and contribute to the outcomes and impact from the 
workshop June 2018 

 Consider a further complex safeguarding event 2019 

 Continue to support national and GM campaigns to raise awareness of complex safeguarding issues 
− The Home Office anti-knife crime campaign   
− Trapped Weeks of Action - July 2018 #FindAWayOut 

− NCA Operation Aidant week of action September 2018, the focus is sexual exploitation. 
 

 

                                                           
2 www.programmechallenger.co.uk/news/latest_news/the_steer_project/  

Page 112

http://www.programmechallenger.co.uk/news/latest_news/the_steer_project/


           SSCB Annual Report 2017-18 

 

15 | P a g e  
 

Modern Slavery 

 Support the SSAB to coordinate local attendance at the North West ADASS train the trainer course on Modern 
Slavery and plan training sessions for 2018 

 Develop and publish a modern slavery statement  

Organised Crime  

 Provide assurance to the SSCB and SSAB regarding the Project Gulf Delivery Plan  

 Support Programme Challenger to develop a GM Challenger Serious and Organised Crime Strategy 2018-20 

 Consider submitting a funding bid to the Home Office under the anti-knife crime program  

 
Prevent   

 To update Prevent action plan with all partners across Salford.  

 To carry out a training audit to ensure that all front line staff have an awareness of PVE. 

 To consider and adopt the recommendations from the Cohesion Commission 

 Support the implementation of a Greater Manchester Dovetail Hub and pilot evaluation.  

FGM 

 Continue to refresh the Task Group work plan  

 Continue to deliver the FGM training seminars as part of the SSCB 
multi-agency complex safeguarding training model  

 Continue to report to the TDAB and the Complex Safeguarding 
Task and Finish Group  

 Continue to quality assurance local data and contribute to the 
GM and national data set collection.  

 Implement the local multi-agency screening tool and consider the 
National FGM Assessment Tool for Social Workers  

 Chair to attend FGM Designated Nurse Regional Meeting  

 Continue to audit FGM referrals into the Bridge Partnership to 
better understand impact and outcomes 

 Ensure local needs assessment and service review informs commissioning  
 Support the Home Office FGM campaign in October 2018 to protect vulnerable women and girls. 

 Work in partnership with Manchester CSP to contribute to the regional FGM event December 2018 
 

Additional Information 
 www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb/complexsafeguarding.htm      

 www.gmp.police.uk/wouldyou    

 www.programmechallenger.co.uk  

 www.salford.gov.uk/crime-reduction-and-emergencies/emergencies   
 

Deborah Blackburn 
Assistant Director Public Health Nursing, Salford Council 
Complex Safeguarding Task and Finish Group Chair 
 

  

Andrea Patel 
Designated Nurse Safeguarding Children & LAC, Salford CCG 
FGM Task and Finish Group Chair   

Jeanette Staley  
Head of Community Safety 
Prevent and Channel Oversight Panel Chair 
& Project Gulf Subgroup Chair 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 113

http://www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb/complexsafeguarding.htm
http://www.gmp.police.uk/wouldyou
http://www.programmechallenger.co.uk/
http://www.salford.gov.uk/crime-reduction-and-emergencies/emergencies


SSCB Annual Report 2017-18 

 

16 | P a g e  
 

 

Background  
The Children and Young People Trust Board (CYPTB) previously led on the implementation of the Early Help Strategy 
and the SSCB undertook a scrutiny and challenge role.  
 
In future Early Help will be led and governed by the 0-25 Integrated Advisory Board from 2018-19. The 0-25 Board 
will report directly to the SSCB. 
 
In 2017-183:  

 EIP Family Support received 531 referrals; 93% of which were allocated for 
support. 7% declined/ no longer required support or were inappropriate. 
Waiting lists were in place across the localities.  

 Central locality continued to have the highest number of referrals at 36%, 
followed by West at 27%. Half the referrals were for families living in the top 
10% most deprived areas, with 22% living in the top 3%. 

 Threshold levels at point of referral were 73% Level 2, 26% Level 3 (CIN) and 
1% at Level 4 (CP). A slight rise in CIN level cases compared to 2016-17. 46% 
of all referrals were from Children’s Social Care (CSC) as either requests for 
joint work or step down cases. 

 Most common presenting needs related to parenting capacity, domestic abuse, behaviour problems, 
housing support and parental wellbeing. 

 521 cases were closed. Of these, 72% of families successfully completed the intervention, 6% were escalated 
to CSC and 12% did not effectively engage with the service. 

 471 closed cases had pre and post thresholds recorded. Movement on the thresholds provides high level 
evidence of outcomes for families. In 2017-18, 33% maintained threshold, 55% moved down and 12% moved 
up (only 6% moved from L2 to L3/L4 at closure).  

 A total of 247 Family Assessments were authored.  This consisted of 592 individuals – 414 children and 178 
adults. Half of all assessments were authored by schools.  

 

Key Achievements 2017-18 
 Launched the Family Assessment April 2017. Relevant Tackling Poverty Strategy priorities have been embedded 

to enable families to access specialist advice. 

 Refreshed our Thresholds of Need and Response 2018. This now includes a Lead Professional Handbook. 

 Continued to disseminate ‘Shaping Our City’ 0-25 programme newsletters to partners  

 Continued to seek assurance regarding the effectiveness of Early Help and the Bridge Partnership via themed 
Boards. Including an audit to quality assure the Bridge screening decisions in September 2017.  

 Hosted a Bridge Partnership multi-agency practitioner Forum – February 2018   

 Commissioned three early help audits (Older Children, Neglect and Domestic Abuse) to evaluate effectiveness.  

 Refreshed the Early Help Strategy. This will be owned by the 0-25 Integrated Advisory Board.  

 Reviewed Early Help dataset to improve how we collect and use evaluation data to better measure the impact  

 Evaluated the West Locality Pilot which has informed the early help offer roll out workforce development plan 
and locality implementation plan  

 Established an Early Help Neighbourhood Steering Group to provide assurance to the 0-25 Board and SSCB.  

 Continued to evaluate the Family Assessment across the City, with a particular focus on sources of assessments.  

                                                           
3 Early Intervention and Prevention Service, Family Support Report Card 2017-18 

 

Key Assurance Priority Area 1: Early Help  

192, 
36%

78, 
15%

119, 
22%

142, 
27%

Central
Locality

North
Locality

South
Locality

West
Locality

0

50

100

150

200

250

Page 114

https://www.salford.gov.uk/your-council/city-mayor/tackling-poverty-in-salford/
https://www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb/Thresholds.htm
https://www.partnersinsalford.org/salford-children-and-young-peoples-trust/0-25-transformation/


SSCB Annual Report 2017-18 

 

17 | P a g e  
 

 CAF Team continue to support the Jewish Federation with the Family Assessment & TAC process. Staff report 

they feel more confident in completing the assessment. 

 

What difference has it made? 
 Our understanding of the impact of early help services is improving across the city.  642 families have been 

supported through Salford’s multi-agency early help offer to sustain improved outcomes across a wide range of 
areas, including: reduction in crime and ASB, improved school attendance, improved parenting and outcomes for 
children, progress towards or into work, reduction in domestic abuse, improved budget management and 
improved health and wellbeing across the whole family.4   

 More than 30% of sustained outcomes in the most recent Helping Families Payment by Results claim were 
delivered in West locality. This is more than would be expected given population size and demand.  In addition, 
the outcomes achieved by families in West locality was broader than the average in other localities. 

  ‘91% of contacts were considered to be appropriately graded and all but one of the cases were passed onto a 
service appropriately. The case that was closed within the Bridge was an appropriate NFA’5 

 Co-ordination of all referrals by the Early Help Locality Manager is enabling a more efficient process to manage 
any duplication that would have taken place previously. Using the wider capacity of the integrated team is 
enabling the service to provide a rapid response to families that would have previously been on a waiting list. 6 
 

Key Challenges 
 Increasing number of complex referrals and the impact on caseloads and waiting lists for early help services.  

 Increasing population and the changing demographics in Salford.  

 No IT system to develop an electronic Family Assessment which is accessible through an online portal 

 Strategic governance for Early Help is in a transition to the 0-25 Board following a refresh of the CYPTB priorities. 
This has made it difficult to monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of early help.  

 Measuring impact on sustained outcomes for families requires long-term analysis 

Priorities 2018-19 
 Ensure the Early Help Audits are completed, findings disseminated to partners and recommendations 

incorporated into a consolidated action plan which will be monitored by the Early Help Steering Group. 

 Continue to refine the Early Help dataset to enable effective performance management reporting and 
monitoring arrangements and robust monitoring of outcomes with clear governance.   

 Continue to evaluate the Bridge and the Early Help offer to drive performance e.g. Bridge Peer Review 

 Refresh the Early Help Strategy action plan to further strengthen the Early Help Offer 

 Review the threshold of need framework following the implementation of Working Together 2018 and the Early 
Help Strategy  

 Request an update on the 0-25 Board programme plan and assurance on the effectiveness of Early Help  

 Establish and promote the integrated locality early help family hubs across the City.  

 Further city-wide evaluation to understand the Early Help model in the context of other localities 

 Launch the Early Help Assessment November 2018 and provide targeted intervention in sectors which have 
produced a low number of assessments 

 Roll out signs of safety across the thresholds of need  
 

Additional Information:  
 www.partnersinsalford.org/earlyhelp  

 www.salford.gov.uk/children-and-families/safeguarding-children/troubled-families/   
 
Debbie Blackburn 
Assistant Director Public Health Nursing, Salford City Council 
0-25 Early Help Neighborhood Steering Group Chair 

                                                           
4 West Locality Pilot: Summary Evaluation, March 2017 
5 BRAG Audit, September 2017  
6 0-25 Early Help Integrated Locality Redesign, October 2017 

Page 115

http://www.partnersinsalford.org/earlyhelp
http://www.salford.gov.uk/children-and-families/safeguarding-children/troubled-families/


SSCB Annual Report 2017-18 

 

18 | P a g e  
 

 
Background 
Work to address domestic abuse in Salford is led and governed by the Community Safety Partnership (CSP) and 
driven forward by the Tackling Domestic Abuse Board (TDAB).  There is also a joint Children's Domestic Abuse (CDA) 
task and finish group which reports to directly to the TDAB and to the SSCB Coordination and Delivery Group.  

The SSCB actively monitors, promotes, coordinates and evaluates the work of the statutory partners that help and 
protect children at risk of domestic abuse, including working effectively with other multi-agency groups that have 
responsibility for responding to domestic abuse. There remains a high prevalence of domestic abuse within Salford. 

Key Achievements 2017-18 
 Within the reporting period the CDA task and finish group focused on the following specific areas of work: 

− Evaluating of the young person domestic abuse meeting 
− Developing an outcomes framework, in partnership with the TDAB 
− Supporting CSP to implement the DA Joint Targeted Area Inspection (JTAI) recommendations and ensuring 

the impact of the JTAI work is understood  
− Reviewing our domestic abuse offer 
− Strengthening our domestic abuse notifications to schools (Operation Encompass)  

 Continued to have thematic SSCB meetings to monitor and evaluate the work on 
domestic abuse.  

 Continued to support the GM domestic abuse #SittingRightWithYou campaign 
empowering Salford residents to report domestic abuse.  

 

What difference has it made? 
 Impact of the work will be reviewed within the SSCB meetings for future annual reports.  

 

Key Challenges 
 High demand area  

 Sustaining funding to address identified needs within Salford  

 Tracking implementation of local and out of area Domestic Homicide Reviews (DHRs)  

 Low attendance at SSCB domestic abuse courses from social care has made it is difficult to demonstrate the 
impact and effectiveness. This has been addressed at the Strategic Training Pool Group and then escalated to 
the Coordination & Delivery Group.  

 Contributing to and integrating developments arising from GM DV Partnership Board.  

 

Priorities 2018-19 
 Support the TDAB to update the delivery plan  

 Explore with partners the option for dedicated staff e.g. Domestic Abuse Co-ordinator 
 

Additional Information: 

 www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb/da.htm  
 
Emma Ford 
Head of Safeguarding, Children Services  
Children’s Domestic Abuse (CDA) Sub-group Chair   
 

Key Assurance Area 2: Children Affected by Domestic Abuse    

Page 116

http://www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb/da.htm
https://twitter.com/hashtag/sittingrightwithyou?ref_src=twsrc^google|twcamp^serp|twgr^hashtag


SSCB Annual Report 2017-18 

 

19 | P a g e  
 

 

Background 
The Emotional Health and Wellbeing (EHWB) Partnership has continued to act as the ‘expert reference group’ for 
the 0-25 EHWB Programme and CAMHS Transformation Plan, supported by working groups covering Emotional 
Health in Schools, communication and Engagement, and LGBTQ+. A new time limited working group has been 
established this year to develop plans for a Parent Support Programme to provide improved information and 
support for parents whose children experience emotional and mental health difficulties. A joint Salford and 
Manchester Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) Group has also met in 2017-18 to oversee the 
Transitions CQUIN, review arrangements for and to improve transition pathways for young people moving from 
Children’s to Adult Mental Health Services.   
 
The CAMHS Transformation Plan continues to provide the over-
arching strategy for Salford’s EHWB/CAMHS work and priorities and 
actions are included in an integrated Delivery Plan. A joint 
EHWB/CAMHS Project Group is responsible for strategic planning 
and overseeing progress of the Delivery Plan and CAMHS 
Transformation Funding.  Reporting arrangements are through the 
CCG Children and Young People’s Commissioning Group and 
Commissioning Committee as well as the 0-25 Programme Oversight 
Group (POG), joint 0-25 Integration Board which reports to the 
Health and Wellbeing Board, Children’s Trust and SSCB 
 
In 2017-18: 

 At 31 March 2018, 179 (52%) children in Salford were subject to protection plans under the category of 
emotional abuse.  

 310 children and young people under 18 in Salford attended A&E due to self-harm between April 2017- March 
2018, of which 152 (49%) were admitted.7 

 Around one third of children and young people referred to mental health services report engaging in self-
injury/self-harm  and suicidal thoughts 

 At February 2018, the number of students with SEMH recorded a SEN need were: 

− Primary schools - 1,217 (5.5%) 

− Secondary schools – 847 (7.6%) 

 

Key Achievements 2017-18 
 The CAMHS Transformation Plan has been reviewed and refreshed  

 CAMHS single point of contact worker commenced in post in October 2017 as a pilot for one year.  

 Launched a Community Eating Disorder Service 

 Integrated community response service pilot went live in October 2017.  

 Received Young Jewish people’s peer research report which will inform proposals for improving wellbeing.  

 In response to the Proud Trust LGBT report 2016 an LGBT working group has been set up. An action plan has 
been developed to improve the experiences of LGBT young people in Salford. Established LGBT youth groups in 
three localities, a programme of LGBT training and developing a practitioner resource pack to improve 
understanding and engagement in Salford with the LGBT community.  

 Received EHWB Early Help pilot report (phase 1) and agreed to roll out the learning across Salford aligned to the 
implementation of new Early Help Family Hubs.  

 A skills audit has informed a workforce development plan, the implementation of a new risk assessment tool and 
a Parent Peer Support Group.   

                                                           
7 Source data: SUS A&E/Inpatient tables 

Key Assurance Area 3: Emotional Health and Wellbeing 

Page 117

https://www.partnersinsalford.org/salford-children-and-young-peoples-trust/emotional-health/ehwb-partnership/
https://www.partnersinsalford.org/salford-children-and-young-peoples-trust/emotional-health/
https://www.partnersinsalford.org/salford-children-and-young-peoples-trust/emotional-health/lgbt-research/


SSCB Annual Report 2017-18 

 

20 | P a g e  
 

 Continued the local i-THRIVE network events. The last one in March 2018 focused on counselling support and 
LGBT awareness. GM i-THRIVE hub will commence from April 2018.  

 Agreed an All-age Liaison (RAID) specification as part of the implementation of the GM Crisis Care Pathway. 
GMMH will be delivering this service in Salford from May 2018. 

 Developed a joint SSCB/EHWB action plan to address the learning from the self-harm practice audit  

 Planning to combine both the ASD and ADHD pathways into a wider neurodevelopmental pathway.  

 Successful bid for additional transformation monies to support the local Population Health Plan and have 
undertaken extensive public engagement to scope the approach to delivering a “radical upscale in prevention” in 
Salford.  

 Integrated Health and Wellbeing Service for CYP - The aim is to develop a virtual integrated model of services at 
universal level to redesign the offer to ensure children, families and schools have the right support for EHWB  

 Counselling in schools via approved providers enabling schools to purchase the service to meet their needs  

 Evaluated Emotionally Friendly Schools (EFS) initiative with initial findings positive. There is a demand for the 
accreditation.  

 6 staff have undertaken the Youth Mental Health First Aid (MHFA) ‘train the trainer’ to build capacity locally to 
rollout this national programme. 

 Continued to promote and update the online directory. The directory has been referred to as good practice in 
other areas and the model has been adopted by Bristol CCG.  

 Agreed a series of indicators and measures to understand prevalence and monitor activity and outcomes. The 
2017-18 dashboard will be reviewed by the partnership in readiness for 2018-19 

 Continued to contribute to the GM Mental Health Strategy and Work Programme 

 Launched Salford’s Suicide Prevention Strategy 
 

What difference has it made?  
 Re-commissioned ‘Spiralling Mind’ drama workshops  

 CAMHS single point of contact is supporting professionals to make appropriate referrals and de-escalate and 
escalate as required. In the first six months, the pilot supported over 100 referrals and increased the proportion 
of acceptances into CAMHS. It will be evaluated to determine the long-term offer across both these areas. 

 Integrated community response service referrals from the Clifton PRU and Missing from Home team are on 
target and the pilot has been extended until March 2019 to complete an independent evaluation. 

 Papyrus Suicide Awareness training feedback for participants has been positive, when asked if they now felt 
more able to talk openly about suicide in my role / community 48% strongly agreed and 52% agreed. The longer 
term evaluation of the impact of the training, some examples of feedback include: 

 I feel much more confident about opening up these difficult conversations and using sensitive and 
appropriate language. 

 I have been confident in encouraging them to think about safety planning. I have been able to encourage 
them to seek professional advice. 

 Students feel more at ease discussing their mental state with me seeing I am at ease hearing about it. 

 

Key Challenges 
 Performance against national indicators 

 Significant demand on children’s mental health services, and waiting times pressures  

 Working at GM and local level to challenge how well the system is supporting young people 

 Integration of commissioning and delivery arrangements with an increased focus on prevention and early help 

 Improved transition arrangements for young people to adult mental health services  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 Page 118

http://www.partnersinsalford.org/documents/EHWB_Directory_-_June_2018.pdf
https://media.bnssgccg.nhs.uk/attachments/emotional_health_and_wellbeing_directory_FErwm4A.pdf


SSCB Annual Report 2017-18 

 

21 | P a g e  
 

Priorities 2018-19 
 SSCB to seek assurance from the EHWB Partnership regarding the 

implementation of the Ambition Priorities for 2018/198 
 

Additional Information: 
 www.partnersinsalford.org/youngemotionalhealth  

 www.salfordccg.nhs.uk/camhs 

Debbie Blackburn 
Assistant Director Public Health Nursing, Salford Council 
Executive Lead on 0-25 Integration Test Case Emotional Health & Wellbeing into CAMHS 
Emotional Health and Wellbeing Partnership Chair 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                           
8 CAMHS Transformation Plan - March 2018  

Page 119

http://www.partnersinsalford.org/youngemotionalhealth
http://www.salfordccg.nhs.uk/camhs
https://www.partnersinsalford.org/salford-children-and-young-peoples-trust/emotional-health/


SSCB Annual Report 2017-18 

 

22 | P a g e  
 

 
Case Review and Audit Sub-group 
The Case Review and Audit, Performance and Quality Assurance and Strategic Training Sub-groups are responsible 
for the implementation of the local quality assurance and learning and improvement framework and North West 
Learning and Improvement Framework .  
 

Key Achievements 2017-18 
 Members are committed and referrals have been steady from all partners.   

 8 referrals to the Sub-group in this reporting period. The outcomes included:  
− 1 serious case review 
− 1 Multi-agency Concise Review 
− 1 Multi-agency Actions  
− 2 Reflective Focus Group (1x with Wigan LSCB)  
− 3 No Further Action  

 Total of 4 (1 family) Ofsted notifications received in 2017-18.  

 Continued to distribute regular NSPCC repository updates to inform local practice 
improvements  

 The group have increased the focus and ability to obtain practitioners feedback and knowledge of cases at the 
point of referral, as it was identified that sometimes practitioners engagement was delayed, impacting on the 
effectiveness of identify and disseminating learning and strengths in practice. 

 Developed an action plan to address the learning from the self-harm audit with the EHWB  

 Considered other communication methods to disseminate learning e.g. developed a Child MT 7MB and hosted 
lunch bowl session for the LA workforce.  

 Planning for a joint Safeguarding Learning Event winter 2018  
 

Key Challenges 
 Balancing demand and budget pressures  

 Ensuring the learning is meaningful for front-line staff in order to improve outcomes.  

 No performance and quality assurance officer to undertake thematic audits. Reliant on the good will of key 
statutory agencies.  

 Parallel GMP investigations can impact on review timescales  

 Await the publication of Working Together 2018 for direction and future development  
 

Priorities 2018-19 
 Consistent and appropriate engagement with families and service users 

 Ensuring that the learning and strengths that are identified from case reviews is effectively embedded into 
frontline practice and strategic priorities.  

 Ensuring the above them impact positively on outcomes- reviewing how we know if we are making a difference.  

 Support the implementation of the new safeguarding practice review arrangements and Early Adopter 
Programme  

 

Additional Information: 
 www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb/sscbcasereviews.htm  

 
Emma Ford 
Head of Safeguarding, Children Services,  
Case Review and Audit Sub-group Chair 

Other Sub-group Activity 

Page 120

http://www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb/qalif.htm
http://greatermanchesterscb.proceduresonline.com/chapters/p_nw_learn_imp_framework.html
http://greatermanchesterscb.proceduresonline.com/chapters/p_nw_learn_imp_framework.html
https://www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb/documents/Child_MT_7MB_briefing_12_3_2018_V2.pdf
http://www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb/sscbcasereviews.htm
https://www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb/7minutebriefings.htm


SSCB Annual Report 2017-18 

 

23 | P a g e  
 

Learning & Improvement, Performance & Quality Assurance Subgroup   
 
The SSCB has a duty to monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of what is done by the local 
authority and Board partners individually and collectively to safeguard and promote the 
welfare of children and advise them on ways to improve, through a variety of 
mechanisms including peer review, self-evaluation, performance indicators and joint 
audit. 
 

The Sub-group is joint with the CYPTB with reporting arrangements to each Board.   
 

Key Achievements 2017-18 
 Facilitated a development session to review performance indicators, Sub-group TOR and work streams to 

facilitate a culture shift to focus more on learning and impact. 

 Appointed a joint fixed term performance and quality assurance officer with SSAB July 2017 

 Completed the S11 audits with the pilot GMSP S.11 self-assessment toolkit. Subgroup members verified all the 
agency self- assessments using a quality assurance tool.  

 Organised a further verification panel on the 8th August 2017 to quality assure agency action plans and 
supporting evidence. Outcome letters have been disseminated to chief officers and an outcome report was 
tabled at the Board in March 2018.  

 Monitored the implementation and reviewed the learning from the DA JTAI SSCB  action plan 

 School Governor Section 11 report was presented to the subgroup June 2017. 78 (80%) schools completed 
either the GM toolkit or the Schools Safeguarding Standards. This is to be repeated annually.  

 Quarterly safeguarding performance reports are critically reviewed by the Sub-group and the Board with specific 
focus and challenge on the identified board themes.  

 Continued to refine the multi-agency dataset which aligns to the Board’s themed priority areas. The domestic 
abuse dataset work has been undertaken in partnership with the TDAB. Complex safeguarding and the CSE/A 
dataset are also under review along with EHWB, Early Help and Neglect. These datasets are supplemented with 
a core dataset from Children Services.  

 Continued to use an assurance proforma for priority areas to review data, highlight achievements and learning 
and facilitate challenge. This has informed the SSCB operating model and has been successful.  

 Planning to submit an Early Adopter bid for the DfE programme to develop and test innovative approaches to 
implementing the new safeguarding reforms. This is an opportunity to review the effectiveness of our Quality 
Assurance and Learning and Improvement framework to better understand the impact and improve outcomes. 

 CCG and LA identified additional data analyst support to assist with a review of the performance report and 
datasets  

 Considered the impact of GDPR on SSCB and new partnership arrangements  
 

What difference has it made? 
 Obtained assurance that agencies were compliant with their organisational safeguarding responsibilities. 

 Schools provided further assurance regarding 5 key emerging areas of concern from s.11 

 The dataset narrative tells the story behind the data and highlights changes within practice.  

 The Salford ‘partnership is committed to evaluating the quality of multi-agency work’9 and the performance 
monitoring arrangements are continuing to develop to enable better understanding of the quality of frontline 
practice.  
 

Key Challenges 
 Limited subgroup capacity to sustain this level of activity 

 Await the publication of Working Together 2018 for direction and future development  

 Engaging independent schools with s.11 audits  

 Section 11 duty is absent in the draft requirements for the ‘safeguarding partners’ to set out in their published 
local arrangements.  

 Evidencing impact on outcomes for children and their families  

                                                           
9 Joint targeted area inspection (JTAI) of the multi-agency response to abuse and neglect in Salford (September 2016)   

Page 121

http://www.gmsafeguardingchildren.co.uk/project/project1162/
https://www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb/education.htm
https://reports.ofsted.gov.uk/provider/44/355


SSCB Annual Report 2017-18 

 

24 | P a g e  
 

 Engaging with relevant the GM work streams and the implementation of the GM Safeguarding Standards Board.  

 Intermittent gaps in data and analysis which inhibits the Boards ability to effectively scrutinise frontline practice  

 Developing robust definitions for performance indicators  

 Aligning priority area subgroup meetings to the Board ‘themed’ forward plan  

 Incorporating GM datasets and the evolving work from other local Partnership Boards  

 Agency attendance has impacted on the capacity to undertake work within specific timeframes.  

 Ability to scrutinise the effectiveness of early help within the proposed new safeguarding arrangements.  See 
Key Assurance Area 1: Early Help 
 

Priorities 2018-19 
 Support the implementation of the new safeguarding arrangements and Early Adopter Programme  

 Follow up S11 Audit responses from Independent Schools  

 Plan the multi-agency quality audit programme for the partnership  

 Review and refresh the Quality Assurance and Learning and Improvement framework 

 Agree the local model and tool for the next S.11 under the new safeguarding arrangements 

 Review the Sub-group TOR and membership  

 Consider re-recruiting a SSCB/SSAB Performance and Quality Assurance officer  

 Continue to support the themed priority areas of the partnership with priority leads to formally agree routine 
data collection and review gaps.  

 Continue to explore opportunities to work with other local Partnership Boards and build on regional activity.  
 

Additional Information: 
 www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb/qalif.htm 

 www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb/sscbperformancemanagement.htm  
 
Andrea Patel 
Designated Nurse Safeguarding Children & LAC, Salford CCG 
Learning & Improvement, Performance & Quality Assurance Subgroup Sub-Group Chair 
 

Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP)  
The CDOP is a statutory Sub-group of the SSCB. Salford CDOP operates as a tri-partite arrangement with Bolton and 
Wigan authorities to review all child deaths where the child is normally resident in these areas. Findings are used to 
prevent future child deaths. The CDOP reviews are retrospective and are not undertaken until other processes are 
completed and all information is available. 
 

 Since 2007 BSW CDOP has recorded 736 child deaths 

 In 2017-18 BSW CDOP received 73 notifications, of these 25 notifications (34%) were children normally resident 
in Salford. This is an increase from 19 in 2016-17 

 The panel closed 83 cases in 2017-18 of which 27 (33%) were children normally resident in Salford.  
− 14 (52%) children were under 28 days old with a further 4 under 1 year old in Salford 
− 18 children (67%) were under 1 year old in Salford. This is in keeping with national figures. Common 

features in such cases are prematurity or extreme prematurity or the child being born with life limiting 
conditions. 

− 8 (30%) in Salford were identified as having modifiable factors. In the main these were around maternal 
smoking or high (30+) BMI. 

 In 2017-18 there were 5 identified cases of Sudden Unexplained Death in Infancy (SUDI) but only 1 had any 
modifiable factors which were around sleeping conditions. 

 
 
 
 
 

 Page 122

http://www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb/qalif.htm
http://www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb/sscbperformancemanagement.htm


SSCB Annual Report 2017-18 

 

25 | P a g e  
 

LA 
Notified Cases 

Total  
2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 

Salford 27 22 19 25 93 

BSW total 63 72 72 73 280 
 

Key Achievements 2017-18 
 Attended the regional conference in November 2017.  

 The Board is updated annually in detail about the BSW CDOP and GM CDOP activity.  

 The CDOP data collection process and analysis has developed both locally and across Greater Manchester. BSW 
CDOP contributed to the GM CDOP Annual Report 2017-18 

 Contributed to the GM Sector Led Improvement Plan (SLI). Salford now has an action plan to address the areas 
such as smoking during pregnancy, consanguinity, safe sleeping and low birth weight. 

 BSW CDOP and Public Health Lead continue to conduct reviews, monitor the number of child death notifications 
and consider the GM CDOP recommendations.  
 

Key Challenges 

 To draw conclusions from a relatively small number of cases each year 

 In complex cases, or deaths where an inquest needs to be held, the length of time taken from notification of the 
death to closure of the case can be extended  

 SSCB Case Review and Audit Sub-group to monitor the implementation of the SLI plan.  

 Changes to the Child Death Review process nationally. New guidance will be published in autumn. 

 The implications with the national policy lead moving to the Department of Health. 

 National Database not expected to be fully operational for 2 years whilst the contract holders develop and test 
the database.  

 

Priorities 2018-19 
 BSW CDOP to continue to provide assurance on the GM SLI action plan which aligns to the CDOP 

recommendations 2017-18. Particularly the work to tackle the issue of deaths under the age of 1 who are the 
most vulnerable in GM.  

 BSW CDOP to support the implementation of the new safeguarding arrangements and Early Adopter Programme  
 

Additional Information: 
 www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb/childdeathoverviewpanel.htm  
 

Mick Lay 
BSW CDOP Independent Chair 

Deborah Blackburn  
Assistant Director Public Health Nursing, Salford City Council 
Salford CDOP Working Group Chair 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 123

http://www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb/childdeathoverviewpanel.htm


SSCB Annual Report 2017-18 

 

26 | P a g e  
 

Strategic Training Sub-group 
 

Key Achievements 2017-2018 
 The SSCB continues to provide a comprehensive multi-

agency workforce development programme linked to 
Board priorities, core knowledge requirements, and 
emerging issues and lessons.  

 Over 1800 delegates accessed an SSCB course, seminar or 
learning event with over 80 face-to-face learning 
opportunities including a choice of 18 courses, 18 
seminars, and a learning event.  

− 3% increase in attendance compared to last year.  
− 7% increase in seminar attendance 
− Education and Children’s Services continue to have 

the highest attendance  
− Increase in attendance from Adult Services, 

Probation and Private sector 
− Training is being accessed by agencies that have never accessed the programme before 

 Hosted a Training Pool Development Day 27th June 2017 and maintained a healthy training pool to deliver the 
multi-agency training programme.  

 A proposal paper for a joint strategic training sub-group with SSAB was presented to the SSCB June 2017. 
Members agreed in principle but it should not be to the detriment of SSCB Training.  

 Refreshed the process for training pool recruitment, induction, retention and departure.  

 Developed additional training i.e. gangs and organised crime, beds in sheds, sexual abuse, suicide awareness. 

 Implemented a standard fee for verification of training if providers charging participants. 

 Implemented  and regularly disseminate 7 minute briefings and latest news e-bulletin’s  

 Maintained good working relationships with the EHWB and supported them to coordinate delivering and 
evaluating training to measure the long term impact on practice, their agency and outcomes for children.   

 Continued to  
− update all courses in the light of national policy revisions, SCRs, local audits and case reviews 
− monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of training  
− promote national e-learning courses which align to SSCB priority areas 
− Identify and support single agency training champions and specialist mini-training pools to write, revise 

and deliver courses  
− Encourage training pool members and champions to attend training and embed relevant learning into the 

SSCB and single agency training.  
 

What difference has it made?  
 Multi-agency training is important in supporting understanding of local need and responding to emerging needs 
 ‘A range of multi-agency SSCB training and workshops have taken place to develop further the skills and 

knowledge of frontline professionals, including the voluntary sector, to engage with communities to provide 
support and reduce risk. ……enabled professionals to be confident and sufficiently skilled in working in this area of 
practice…health professionals stated that they value this training, particularly for the opportunities to network 
and develop their understanding of other professionals’ roles and responsibilities’10   

  “I have been impressed by the quality of the SSCB training courses that I've attended to date. Particularly the 
CSE, Introduction to Domestic Abuse and Parental Substance Misuse courses. I've found the range of resources 
they've used - including film / internet materials - and the expertise of the trainers - who have provided case 
examples and shown a very high level of knowledge - to be excellent. Group learning activities have also been 
interesting and pitched at a good level.” National Probation Services Officer, June 2017 

 “I found this course informative and enjoyable. I feel more confident in recognising child abuse and responding to 
it. Fab range of activities. I will recommend this course highly! Thank you.” Foundation – June 2017 

                                                           
10 Joint targeted area inspection of the multi-agency response to abuse and neglect in Salford (September 2016)   

41
1

209

19

245

1 3

61 61

4
56

3 2
26 29 13 7

56
24

0
50

100
150
200
250
300

A
d

u
lt

 S
o

ci
al

 C
ar

e

C
h

ild
 M

en
ta

l…

C
h

ild
re

n
's

 S
er

vi
ce

s

Ea
rl

y 
Ye

ar
s

Ed
u

ca
ti

o
n

En
vi

ro
n

m
en

t 
&

…

Fi
re

 S
er

vi
ce

H
ea

lt
h

H
o

u
si

n
g

In
d

ep
en

d
e

n
t

M
en

ta
l H

e
al

th

P
o

lic
e

P
ri

so
n

 S
er

vi
ce

P
ri

va
te

P
ro

b
at

io
n

R
es

id
en

ti
al

Sa
lf

o
rd

…

V
o

lu
n

ta
ry

Yo
u

th
 S

er
vi

ce

SSCB Courses April 17 - March 18 (by agency)
Total Trained 861

Page 124

https://reports.ofsted.gov.uk/provider/44/355


SSCB Annual Report 2017-18 

 

27 | P a g e  
 

 “Thank you for starting my safeguarding journey so well.  I feel fully equipped with strategies and I have 
confidence to deal with CP issues in school.” Foundation, April 2017 

Key Challenges 

 Reduced agency attendance, with some agencies not accessing the programme at all. 4 courses cancelled due to 
low nominations despite being priority areas e.g. Neglect, GCP and GFM.   

 Not all training pool members are active and not all statutory agencies are well represented.  

 Difficult to monitor what national e-learning courses agencies are accessing  

 Verification of single agency training 

 Await the publication of Working Together 2018 for direction.  

 Budget pressures and resources e.g. venues and maintaining the training pool. 

 Mapping of training provision across local and GM Boards/Partnerships  

 Co-hosting events and training with other local and GM Board/Partnerships 

 Capacity to manage core business and support from other local partnership Boards.  

 Evaluating the long term impact of training on practice and outcomes effectively  
 

Priorities for 2018-19 
 Review subgroup TOR and membership with SSAB 

 Refresh the SSCB Learning and Development Strategy 

 Lead a safeguarding training needs analysis of the children’s workforce 

 Support the implementation of the new safeguarding arrangements and Early Adopter Programme 

 Identify the most effective methods of learning by professionals and consider embedding other forms of training 
delivery within the SSCB training programme i.e. Spotlight briefings, lunch bowl sessions, accredited courses, 
webinars etc.   

 Continue to strengthen working relationships with other local Partnership Boards  

 Continue to work with single agency training champions to support partners to deliver single agency safeguarding 
training 

 

Additional Information: 
 www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb/sscbtraining.htm  

 www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb/sscbcourses.htm  

 www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb/sscbseminars.htm 

 www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb/externalelearningcourses.htm  
 
Clare Kelly  
Assistant Director of Nursing – Safeguarding, Salford Royal Foundation Trust 
Strategic Training Sub-group Chair  
 
Sharn Begum 
SSCB Training Coordinator 
Strategic Training Sub-group Deputy Chair  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Page 125

http://www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb/sscbtraining.htm
http://www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb/sscbcourses.htm
http://www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb/sscbseminars.htm
http://www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb/externalelearningcourses.htm


SSCB Annual Report 2017-18 

 

28 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
          

Section 4: Planning for the Future 

 

Page 126



SSCB Annual Report 2017-18 

 

29 | P a g e  
 

Key Assurance and Themed Priorities for 2018-2019 
 

There are three key assurance areas and four themed priorities for this year’s Business Pan.  An overarching theme 
will be to support the implementation of the new safeguarding arrangements and Early Adopter Programme. The 
components of each of these priorities remains, of course, subject to continual review and revision as new or 
recurring issues and trends are identified. Additional areas for the Board’s attention may also be added at any time. 

 

Themed Priorities  

Priority Area 1:  
Neglect   

Refresh the local Neglect Strategy and subgroup work plan to include the following:  

 Review the local response to child neglect. This should include the effectiveness of MARAM 
tools and legal advice.  

 Ensure all partners embed and consistently use the MARAM tools to good effect 

 Promote the newly developed early help pathway for managing neglect where use of tools 
and interventions is linked to the I-Thrive model. 

 Continue to identify and support agency neglect champions  

 Ensure the Early Help- Neglect Audit is completed, findings disseminated to partners and 
recommendations incorporated into a consolidated action plan which will be monitored by 
the Early Help Steering Group. 

 Benchmark Salford against the findings in Growing up neglected: a multi-agency response 
to older children 

 Review training to ensure Safe Sleep messages are sufficiently embedded 

 Continue to review the neglect dataset to ensure accurate and meaningful e.g. Report on 
the use of Graded Care profiles and the MARAM tools by multi-agency teams 

 Develop a local campaign to raise awareness of the signs, symptoms and impact and 
prevent child neglect. 

 Continue to encourage multi-agency attendance Neglect and MARAM training 

 Ensure the recommendations from SCR F1 inform the subgroup work plan and refresh of 
the local obesity strategy.  

 Attend RIP training re Poverty, inequality, neglect: building strategic thinking September 
2018 

 Consider Educational Neglect and seek assurance from the Education on Track pilot project 

 Consider neglect of older children and a focus on trauma-based approaches to tackle it 

Priority Area 2:  
Child Sexual 
Abuse and 
Exploitation  

 Op Phoenix Team to inform the development of a Complex Safeguarding Hub 

 Consider developing a learning disability pathway 

 To continue to work and develop the CSE/A dataset to ensure accurate and meaningful  

 To continue to work closely with the Local Authority MFH team.  

Priority Area 3: 
Missing from 
Home, Care and 
Education  

Missing from Home and Care 

 Evaluate the Footsteps pilot and Unity Radio project 

 Establish service user feedback mechanisms to enable the experiences of young people to 
inform the service 

 Investigate if lack of police support has impacted on the disruption ability. 

 Implement the recommendations from the MFH Audit April 2018 

 Continue embedding the use of Tier 1 and 2 MFH meetings and challenge services when 
these meetings hit the criteria but are not convened  

 Consider recruiting a student to increase capacity. 

 Develop a MFH schools policy and flow chart  
 

CME 

 Attend the regional CME meetings to share and develop best practice  

 Develop and deliver a CME/EHE seminar for partner agencies  

 Support the development of a GM CME policy and develop a local referral pathway 

 Publish and promote the 7 minute briefings 

Page 127

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/growing-up-neglected-a-multi-agency-response-to-older-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/growing-up-neglected-a-multi-agency-response-to-older-children
https://www.manchestersafeguardingboards.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/08/2018-05-15-MSCB-Child-F1-SCR-published.pdf


SSCB Annual Report 2017-18 

 

30 | P a g e  
 

 
 
 
 
 

 Work with agencies to effectively support ethnic minorities, asylum seekers, refugees and 
Gypsy Roma Travellers 

Priority Area 4:  
Complex 
Safeguarding 

 Ensure representation on the GM Complex Safeguarding Steering Group  

 Publish the complex safeguarding event resource pack 

 Ensure each strand under complex safeguarding has a local strategy and work plan 

 Align local activity to the Police and Crime Plan March 2018 and GM Complex Safeguarding 
Strategy in development   

 Integrate the subgroups of the Children’s and Adult Safeguarding Board and Community 
Safety Partnership  

 Ensure the business case for the complex safeguarding hub is shared with SSCB and SSAB. 

 Further develop robust local data reporting mechanisms and contribute to the outcomes 
and impact from the workshop June 2018 

 Consider a further complex safeguarding event 2019 

 Continue to support national and GM campaigns to raise awareness of complex 
safeguarding issues 
 

Modern Slavery 

 Support the SSAB to coordinate local attendance at the North West ADASS train the trainer 
course on Modern Slavery and plan training sessions for 2018 

 Develop and publish a modern slavery statement  
 

Organised Crime  

 Provide assurance to the SSCB and SSAB regarding the Project Gulf Delivery Plan  

 Support Programme Challenger to develop a GM Challenger Serious and Organised Crime 
Strategy 2018-20 

 Consider submitting a funding bid to the Home Office under the anti-knife crime program  
 

Prevent   

 To update the Prevent action plan with all partners across Salford.  

 To carry out a training audit to ensure that all front line staff have an awareness of PVE. 

 To consider and adopt the recommendations from the Cohesion Commission 

 Support the implementation of a Greater Manchester Dovetail Hub and pilot 
evaluation.  
 

FGM 

 Continue to refresh the Task Group work plan  

 Continue to deliver the FGM training seminars as part of the SSCB multi-agency complex 
safeguarding training model  

 Continue to report to the TDAB and the Complex Safeguarding Task and Finish Group  

 Continue to quality assurance local data and contribute to the GM and national data set 
collection.  

 Implement the local multi-agency screening tool and consider the National FGM 
Assessment Tool for Social Workers  

 Chair to attend FGM Designated Nurse Regional Meeting  

 Continue to audit FGM referrals into the Bridge Partnership  

 Ensure local needs assessment and service review informs commissioning  
 Support the Home Office FGM campaign in October 2018  

 Work in partnership with Manchester CSP to contribute to the regional FGM event  

Page 128



SSCB Annual Report 2017-18 

 

31 | P a g e  
 

Key Assurance Areas  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                           
11 CAMHS Transformation Plan - March 2018  

Assurance Area 
1: Early Help 

 Ensure the Early Help Audits are completed, findings disseminated to partners and 
recommendations incorporated into a consolidated action plan which will be monitored by 
the Early Help Steering Group. 

 Continue to refine the Early Help dataset to enable effective performance management 
reporting and monitoring arrangements and robust monitoring of outcomes with clear 
governance.   

 Continue to evaluate the Bridge and the Early Help offer to drive performance e.g. Bridge 
Peer Review 

 Refresh the Early Help Strategy action plan to further strengthen the Early Help Offer 

 Review the threshold of need framework following the implementation of Working 
Together 2018 and the Early Help Strategy  

 Request an update on the 0-25 Board programme plan and assurance on the effectiveness 
of Early Help  

 Establish and promote the integrated locality early help family hubs across the City.  

 Further city-wide evaluation to understand the Early Help model in the context of other 
localities 

 Launch the Early Help Assessment November 2018 and provide targeted intervention in 
sectors which have produced a low number of assessments 

 Roll out signs of safety across the thresholds of need  

Assurance Area 
2: Children 
Affected by 
Domestic Abuse  

 Support the TDAB to update the delivery plan  

 Explore with partners the option for dedicated staff e.g. Domestic Abuse Co-ordinator 
 

Assurance Area 
3: Emotional 
Health and 
Wellbeing 

 SSCB to seek assurance from the EHWB Partnership regarding the implementation of the 
Ambition Priorities for 2018/1911 

 

Page 129

https://www.partnersinsalford.org/salford-children-and-young-peoples-trust/emotional-health/


SSCB Annual Report 2017-18 

 

32 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Section 7: Glossary and Appendices  

.   

 

Page 130



SSCB Annual Report 2017-18 

 

33 | P a g e  
 

Glossary 
AGMA Association of Greater Manchester Authorities 

AILC Association of Independent LSCB Chairs  

BWS Bolton Wigan Salford 

CAF  Common Assessment Framework  

CAFAS Children and Family Assessment  

CAFCASS  Children and Family Court Advisory and Support Service  

CAMHS  Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service  

CCG  Clinical Commissioning Group  

CDA Childrens Domestic Abuse 

CDOP  Child Death Overview Panel  

CEOP Child Exploitation and Online Protection 

CIN Children in Need  

CME Children Missing Education 

CP-IS Child Protection- Information System 

CPP Child Protection Plan 

CQC Care Quality Commission  

CRC  Community Rehabilitation Company  

CSA Child Sexual Abuse 

CSC Children’s Social Care 

CSE  Child Sexual Exploitation  

CSP Community Safety Partnership 

CWD Children with Disabilities 

CYPTB Children and Young Peoples Trust Board 

DA  Domestic Abuse  

DASH Domestic Abuse, Stalking and Honour Based Violence 

DHR Domestic Homicide Review  

EHE Elective Home Education 

EHWB Emotional Health and Wellbeing Board 

EIP Early Intervention and Prevention 

FGM  Female Genital Mutilation  

FYYPB Family Justice Young People's Board 

GCP Graded Care Profile 

GM Greater Manchester 

GMCA Greater Manchester Combined Authorities 

GMMH Greater Manchester Mental Health NHS Foundation Trust  

GMP Greater Manchester Police  

GMSP Greater Manchester Safeguarding Partnership 

HWB  Health and Wellbeing Board  

JSNA  Joint Strategic Needs Assessment  

JTAI Joint Targeted Area Inspection 

LA  Local Authority  

LAC  Looked After Child(ren)  

LADO  Local Authority Designated Officer  

LSCB  Local Safeguarding Children Board  

MAPPA Multi-Agency Public Protection Arrangements 

MARAC Multi-agency Risk Assessment Conference 

MARAM Multi-agency Risk Assessment Model 

MFH Missing from Home 

NICE National Institute for Clinical Excellence 
NOMS National Offender Management Service  

NPS National Probation Service 

OCG Organised Crime Group 

PCSO Police Community Support Officer 
PRU Pupil Referral Unit 

SCR Serious Case Review 

SEN Special Educational Needs 

SRFT Salford Royal Foundation Trust  Page 131



SSCB Annual Report 2017-18 

 

34 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SSAB Salford Safeguarding  Adult Board 

SUDC Sudden Unexpected Death in Infancy 

TDAB Tacking Domestic Abuse Board 

TOR Terms of Reference 

VCSE Voluntary Community Social Enterprise 

WOA Week of Action 

WRAP Workshop to Raise Awareness of Prevent 

YPDAM Young Peoples Domestic Abuse Meeting 

YPP Young Person’s Plan  
YPVA Young Person Violence Advisor  

Page 132



SSCB Annual Report 2017-18 

 

35 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

Chair  

Westwood, Simon  Independent Chair  Salford Safeguarding Children Board 

Vice Chair  

Thorpe, Francine  Director of Quality & Innovation NHS Salford Clinical Commissioning Group 

Statutory  Members 
Armfield, Karen  Head Teacher Boothstown Methodist Primary School 
Blackburn, Deborah  Assistant Director:  Public Health Nursing Salford City Council 
Buckley, Cathryn Head of Adult and Child Safeguarding, 

Greater Manchester Mental Health 
GM Mental Health Foundation Trust 

Dixit, Kalpesh  Designated Doctor NHS Salford Clinical Commissioning Group 
Ford, Emma Head of Safeguarding and Quality Assurance  Salford City Council 
Hassall, Anthony Chief Accountable Officer NHS Salford Clinical Commissioning Group 
Herne, David  Director Public Health Salford City Council 
Hubber, Sharon  Assistant Director Specialist Services Salford City Council 
Kelly, Clare  Assistant Director of Nursing Services for 

Safeguarding 
Salford Royal Foundation Trust 

Millington, Howard Superintendent GMP, Salford Division 
Nathan-Lingard, 
Sarah 

Service Manager CAFCASS 

Patel, Andrea  Designated Nurse Safeguarding Children & 
LAC 

NHS Salford Clinical Commissioning Group 
& representing NHS England 

Pugh, Nicola Community Director Cheshire & Greater Manchester 
Community Rehabilitation Company 

Ramsden, Charlotte  Director for Children’s and Adult Services Salford City Council 
Seale, Manjit  Assistant Chief Executive National Probation Service  
Non-statutory Members 

Lay, Mick  Independent Chair Bolton, Salford & Wigan CDOP 

Murray, Louise  VOCAL Representative Salford CVS 

Sub Group Chairs 

Packer, Christopher Detective Chief Inspector Greater Manchester Police 

Rogers, Polly Salford Health Works Advisor Salford City Council 

Rumley, Tim Senior Youth Service Manager Salford City Council 

Advisors to the Board 

Ashton, Lorraine  Solicitor, Legal Section Salford & Manchester Councils 

Burfitt, Elaine  
 

Named Doctor for Safeguarding Salford Royal Foundation Trust 

SSCB Officers 

Barrett, Lindsay Training Officer Salford Safeguarding Children Board 

Begum, Shahanara  Training Coordinator  Salford Safeguarding Children Board 

Bentley, Vivienne  Senior Business Support Officer Salford Safeguarding Children Board 

Hulme, Debbie  Administration Assistant Salford Safeguarding Children Board 

Slack, Tiffany  Board Business Manager Salford Safeguarding Children Board 

Participating Observers 

Cllr Stone, Lisa  Lead Member for Children’s Services Salford City Council 

Cllr Walsh, John Executive Support for Education & Learning Salford City Council 

Lay Member 

Rabbi Grant, Simon  Director of Community Services Binoh of Manchester 

 

 

Appendix 1: Board Membership 2017-18 

Page 133

http://www.gmvss.net/binoh


SSCB Annual Report 2017-18 

 

36 | P a g e  
 

 

 

   

Agency %  attended 

Adult Services, Salford City Council 67% 

CAFCASS* n/a 

Children Services, Salford City Council 100% 

Community Rehabilitation Company 83% 

CVS 100% 

Education  83% 

GMP, Salford Division  67% 

GM Mental Health NHS Foundation Trust 67% 

Lay Member 50% 

National Probation Service 83% 

NHS England 100%  

Public Health, Salford City Council   17% 

Salford CCG 100% 

SRFT 100% 

Appendix 2: Statutory Board Members Attendance 2017-18 

*Senior Head of Service - Greater Manchester wrote to Salford LSCB’s in December 2015 to confirm CAFCASS 
local contributions and arrangements.  

Page 134



SSCB Annual Report 2017-18 

 

37 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

 

Salford Safeguarding Children Board 
Independent Chair 

Coordination and Delivery Group 
Interim Chair: Designated Nurse: Designated Nurse Safeguarding Children & LAC (CCG) 

 

SSCB Sub Groups 

Education  
Chair: Head Teacher (SCC)  

Case Review and Audit  
Chair: Head of Safeguarding (SCC)  

Learning and Improvement - Performance and QA 
Chair: Designated Nurse Safeguarding Children & Looked After Children (CCG) 

(Joint with CYPTB, led by SSCB) 
 

Strategic Training  
Chair: Assistant Director of Safeguarding Nursing (SRFT)  

Sexual Abuse and Exploitation  
Chair: Detective Chief Inspector (GMP)  

 

Joint or Shared Sub Groups 

 Voice of the Child  
Chair: Senior Youth Work Manager  

(led by CYPTB) 

CDOP  
Chair: Independent  
(led by Bolton LSCB)   

 

Reference Groups/ Critical Friends 

 Practitioner Forum  
Chairs:  Learning Support Service Manager & CAF Coordinator (SCC)  

 

SSCB Task and Finish Groups 2017/18 

Children’s Domestic Violence  
Chair: Head of Safeguarding (SCC) 

(led by CSP) 

Neglect  
Chair: Independent Review Service Manager (SCC) 

 

Complex Safeguarding 
Chair: Assistant Director Public Health Nursing (SCC)  

Female Genital Mutilation 
Chair: Designated Nurse Safeguarding Children & LAC 

(CCG) 

Communication, Engagement and Awareness 
Chair: Assistant Director Public Health Nursing 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 3: Board Structure 2016-2018 

Page 135



SSCB Annual Report 2017-18 

 

38 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Income 2017-2018  Expenditure 2017-2018 

Salford City Council   £116,925 Staffing      £189,248 

Health    £ 91,197 Training              £454 

GMP     £13,500 Office Expenses        £15,135 

National Probation Service        £2,264 Professional Fees        £41,332 

CRC £2,426   

Schools     £ 28,524 Other staff related costs           £2,859 

CAFCASS         £ 550   

Other (Non attendance)       £1,520   

Total   £256,906 Total        £249,028 

Balance B/fwd into 2017/18       £31,100         Balance C/fwd into 2018/19    £38,978           

Staffing Costs  

Training Coordinator  1.0 FTE   

Training Officer 0.5 

Senior Support Officer 1.0 FTE  

Business Manager 1.0 FTE 

Administrative Assistant 1.0 FTE 

Total £189,248 

Professional Fees  

Serious Case Review       £4,200 

CDOP    £14,782 

Independent Chair     £17,500 

Other Professional Fees        £4,850 

Total    £41,332 

Appendix 4: Budget 2017-2018 

Page 136



SSCB Annual Report 2017-18 

 

39 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

City Director

Lead Member

Participant 
Observer

Salford City 
Partnership

SSCB

Coordination & 
Delivery Group

SSCB Sub Groups 

(See Structure 
Chart 2016-18)

Salford Adult 
Safeguarding 

Board

Health & 
Wellbeing Board

Children and 
Young People's 

Trust Board

Community 
Safety 

Partnership

Tackling 
Domestic Abuse 

Board

Children's 
Domestic Abuse 

Sub Group

Appendix 5: Organisational Structure- Governance and Accountability Arrangements 

Page 137



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Minutes of meeting held on 13 November 2018 (Chair)
	6 Action Log and Matters Arising (Chair)
	7 Locality Plan Q3 2018/19 - Progress Update (Anthony Hassall)
	07ii Locality Plan Milestones 2018-19

	8 December 2018 Healthy City Development Session - Summary and Next Steps (Gunjit Bandesha)
	9 Salford Tobacco Update - Beyond Smoking Cessation (Gunjit Bandesha/Robert Greene/Rebecca Fletcher)
	10 Salford Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Review 2017/18 (Chair)
	13a Salford Health and Wellbeing Board Forward Plan 2018/19 and 2019/20
	13b Salford's Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2018/19 Update
	13c Salford Children's Safeguarding Boards Annual Report 2017/18
	13cii SSCB Annual Report 2017-18


